Peripubertal Weight Status and Growth: Associations with Preterm Birth and Exposures to Environmental Endocrine-Disrupting Compounds

by

Tiffany Cherng-Shiuan Yang

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Nutritional Sciences) in the University of Michigan 2014

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Karen E. Peterson, Chair Associate Professor John D. Meeker Associate Professor Brisa N. Sánchez Associate Professor Eduardo Villamor



© Tiffany C. Yang 2014

Acknowledgements

I am extremely grateful to my advisor and mentor, Dr. Karen Peterson, for all the guidance she has given me over the course of my graduate school years. She has a way of providing thoughtful suggestions and nudges to stimulate critical thinking and independent discovery. I'm thankful for her advocacy and support for my desire to obtain my M.P.H. and R.D. and for making time to meet with me when I needed it the most. Her engagement in all the activities and committees in and out of the university did not prevent her from being just as actively involved with all her students. She is truly a role model. Dr. Peterson has been a constant source of inspiration and motivation and her never-ending enthusiasm is something I will miss when I leave the University of Michigan.

I would also like to thank my committee members. Dr. Meeker provided my first foray into epidemiology during my first year research rotation. He has provided excellent guidance through sharing his extensive knowledge and by example. His productiveness and rational-thinking are traits I hope to attain one day. Dr. Sánchez has been crucial in developing and executing the statistical methods in my dissertation and I am deeply grateful for her time and enthusiasm. Her humor and patience with distilling complex statistical concepts into comprehensible and executable strategies has been invaluable. Dr. Villamor has been an incredibly engaging teacher and knowledge bank of how to think about the research question. I always walk away from my meetings with him deeply puzzled but knowing that, after thinking through his suggestions, I would gain some deep insight. My discussions with him always seem to touch on the philosophical and I am much obliged for his time and interest. My committee members have provided me with so much knowledge, advice, and edits, all of which has made me a better researcher and I am extremely grateful to them for their support.

Throughout my years at the University of Michigan, I have benefited from the comfort and camaraderie of many people. My fellow graduate students have been a great source of encouragement and enthusiasm. In particular, Zhenzhen Zhang has been instrumental to my statistical analyses and I cannot thank him enough for all the time he spent helping me. The SPH staff has also been wonderful, answering any and all questions I come up with as I worked my way through the logistics of obtaining a Ph.D. Sara Schlotterbeck, Lisa Marchlewicz, and Seema Jolly have been critical in my understanding of ELEMENT and I am grateful for everything that they have done.

This work would not have been possible without the commitment and dedication of the ELEMENT study team, as well as the study participants. I am lucky to have been a part of this group and thankful for the opportunity it has given me. Additionally, this work would not have been possible without funding from the Rackham Merit Fellowship and support from the UMSPH Formative Children's Environmental Health and Disease Prevention Research Center (P20 ES018171/RD834800) and Lifecourse Exposures and Diet: Epigenetics, Maturation and Metabolic Syndrome (1P01ES022844-01/RD-83543601).

Finally, I am incredibly grateful to my friends and family for providing me with the mental, social, and emotional support these past few years. Their steady encouragement and casual dismissal of my fretfulness was exactly what I needed. There is no one that deserves more thanks and appreciation than Bill Rosemurgy, my partner of over 10 years. He has been with me through it all, from high school to college to graduate school. He never doubted me and has been my staunchest supporter through it all. I suspect he knows my research better than I do.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	ii
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	X
List of Acronyms	xii
Abstract	xiv
CHAPTER 1 Introduction	1
Theme	1
Obesity	2
Within the Nutrition Transition	3
Developmental Origins of Health and Disease	5
Sensitive and Critical Periods for Development	7
Preterm Birth	8
Risk Factors	
Consequences of Preterm Birth	
Environmental Endocrine-Disrupting Compounds	
Exposures and Metabolism	
Epidemiological Studies	
Animal and Cell Studies	
Sex Differences in Findings	24
Study Population	
Thesis Overview	
CHAPTER 2 Association of preterm birth with we	eight status
and waist circumference in Mexico City youth	
Abstract	
Background	

Methods	
Subjects and Settings	
Anthropometric Measures	
Questionnaires	
Outcome Measures	
Predictor and Covariate Measures	
Statistical Analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
CHAPTER 3 Bisphenol A and Phthala	ites Urinary
Concentrations <i>in utero</i> and in Adole	scence: Associations with
Weight Status and Adiposity Differ by	y Sex45
Abstract	
Background	
Materials and Methods	
Subjects and Settings	
Anthropometric Measures	50
Questionnaires	
Urinary BPA and Phthalate Metabolites	
Statistical Analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
Appendix	
CHAPTER 4 Differences in BMI and I	Height Trajectories of
Males and Females Associated with in	n utero Urinary
Concentrations of Bisphenol A and P	hthalate Metabolites83
Abstract	83
Background	
Methods	
Study Population	
Anthropometric Measures	

REFERENCES	133
CHAPTER 5 Conclusions	127
Discussion	99
Results	95
Statistical Analysis	
Urinary BPA and Phthalate Metabolites	90

List of Tables

Chapter 1

Table 1.1. Human epidemiological studies of exposures to BPA with weight status	
outcomes	.29
Table 1.2. Human epidemiological studies of exposures to phthalates with weight	
status outcomes	.30

Chapter 2

Table 2.1. Distribution of characteristics by sex
Table 2.2. Bivariate linear and logistic regressions estimating associations with
adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and obesity43
Table 2.3. Multivariable linear and logistic regressions estimating adjusted models of
adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and obesity

Chapter 3

Chapter 4

Table 4.1. Best fit fractional polynomial function for each model degree for BMI
trajectory104
Table 4.2. Best fit fractional polynomial function for each model degree for height
trajectory105
Table 4.3. Characteristics of mothers and children in sample population106
Table 4.4 Distribution of total (free+glucuronidated) BPA and phthalate
metabolites in third trimester maternal urine (ng/mL uncorrected for dilution) 107
Table 4.5. Likelihood ratio test for BMI trajectory with best fit models for females
and males
Table 4.6. Likelihood ratio test for height trajectory with best fit models for females
and males 109

List of Figures

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1. Generalized additive model results for the association of log-transformed maternal third trimester and adolescent urinary concentrations with adolescent
outcomes measures71
Figure 3.2. Sex-stratified associations of maternal third trimester urinary
concentrations of quartile BPA and phthalate metabolites with adolescent BMI, waist
circumference, and triceps skinfold measurements at ages 8-14
Figure 3.3. Sex-stratified associations of adolescent urinary concentrations of
quartile BPA and phthalate metabolites with adolescent BMI z-score, waist
circumference, and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfold measurements at ages 8-
14
Figure 3.4. Association of BPA and phthalates metabolites concentrations in
maternal third trimester urines with adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and sum
of triceps and subscapular skinfolds at ages 8-1475
Figure 3.5. Association of BPA and phthalates metabolites concentrations in
adolescent urines with adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and sum of triceps and
subscapular skinfolds at ages 8-1476
Figure 3.6. Multivariable linear regression of associations of adolescent BMI, waist
circumference, and triceps skinfold with quartiles of maternal third trimester urine
metabolites compared to the reference first quartile77
Figure 3.7. Multivariable linear regression of associations of adolescent BMI, waist
circumference, and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfold with quartiles of
adolescent urine metabolites compared to the reference first quartile79
Figure 3.8. Sex-stratified associations of maternal third trimester urinary
concentrations of quartile BPA and phthalate metabolites with adolescent BMI, waist
circumference, and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfold measurements at ages 8-
14
Figure 3.9. Sex-stratified associations of adolescent urinary concentrations of
quartile BPA and phthalate metabolites with adolescent BMI, waist circumference,
and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfold measurements at ages 8-1482

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of
MECPP for a female with mean covariate values110
Figure 4.2. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of
MiBP for a male with mean covariate values
Figure 4.3. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of
MBzP for a male with mean covariate values112
Figure 4.4. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of
MCPP for a male with mean covariate values
Figure 4.5. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of
MEHP for a male with mean covariate values114
Figure 4.6. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of
MEHHP for a male with mean covariate values
Figure 4.7. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of
MEOHP for a male with mean covariate values116
Figure 4.8. Ages and estimates of significant estimated BMI differences between
tertiles of phthalate metabolites for males and females
Figure 4.9. Ages of significant (p≤0.05) estimated differences between tertiles of
phthalate metabolites that were significant from the likelihood ratio test for BMI
trajectory118
Figure 4.10. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles
of MECPP for an average female119
Figure 4.11. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles
of MCPP for an average male 120
Figure 4.12. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles
of MEP for an average male121
Figure 4.13. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles
of MEOHP for an average male 122
Figure 4.14. Ages and estimates of significant estimated height differences between
tertiles of phthalate metabolites for males and females
Figure 4.15. Ages of significant ($p \le 0.05$) estimated differences between tertiles of
phthalate metabolites that were significant from the likelihood ratio test for height
trajectory
trajectory
trajectory
trajectory

List of Acronyms

- AIC Akaike information criterion
- BIC Bayesian information criterion
- BMI Body mass index
- BPA Bisphenol A
- CUG Catch-up growth
- DEHP Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate
- EDC Endocrine-disrupting compound
- ER Estrogen receptor
- IOM Institute of Medicine
- MBP Mono-*n*-butyl phthalate
- MBzP Monobenzyl phthalate
- MCPP Mono(3-carboxypropyl) phthalate
- MECPP Mono(2-ethyl-5-carboxypentyl) phthalate
- MEHP Mono(2-ethyl-5-oxohexyl) phthalate
- MEHHP Mono(2-ethyl-5-hydroxyhexyl) phthalate
- MEOHP Mono(20ethyl-5-oxohexyl) phthalate
- MEP Monoethyl phthalate
- MiBP Mono-isobutyl phthalate
- NHANES National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
- PPROM Preterm Premature Rupture of the Membranes

SD – Standard deviation

TSH – Thyroid stimulating hormone

WHO – World Health Organization

Abstract

Childhood and adolescent obesity is a global public health issue, with increasing prevalence in developing and industrialized nations. Known to track into adulthood, it is a contributor to numerous adverse health indices including Type 2 cardiovascular disease. Increasing evidence Diabetes and suggests that environmental factors may be involved with weight dysregulation, including altering hormone balance and number, size, and distribution of adipocytes. Exposures or stimuli that occur at sensitive periods of development may alter the growth trajectory of an individual. Preterm birth and exposures to the environmental endocrine-disrupting compounds (EDC) Bisphenol A (BPA) and phthalates are suspected of disrupting numerous physiological processes. Preterm birth is hypothesized to be an adverse stimulus that puts the individual on accelerated growth trajectory. Whereas, exposures to EDCs have been associated with obesity and increased waist circumference.

The objectives of this dissertation were to determine whether preterm birth and exposures to BPA and phthalate metabolites in the third trimester of pregnancy and during adolescence were associated with adolescent weight status, fat distribution, and altered BMI and height trajectories. Using children from the Early Life Exposure in Mexico to ENvironmental Toxicants (ELEMENT) cohorts, we found that preterm birth was not associated with adolescent obesity, BMI, and waist circumference. BPA and phthalate metabolites were non-monotonically associated with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold and differed in direction of association by sex as well as timing of exposure. Significant associations of these outcomes were mainly negative and observed in second and third quartile exposures with MECPP, MEHHP, MEOHP, MiBP, MEHP in pregnancy. In adolescence, second and third tertiles of BPA, MCPP, and MiBP were significantly negatively associated with adolescent outcomes. The third tertile of the phthalate metabolite MECPP was associated with the highest trajectory of BMI and height in females, whereas the first and second tertiles of MiBP, MBzP, MCPP, MEP, MEHHP, and MEOHP were associated with the highest BMI and height trajectories in males.

These results suggest that preterm birth is not associated with adolescent anthropometry, but that exposures to EDCs during a developmentally sensitive period may have consequences in growth and fat distribution in peripuberty.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Theme

Overweight and obesity continue to be a significant public health issue in adults as well as children (Malik et al. 2012). Increasing evidence suggests that genetics, diet, and physical activity behaviors may not be the only reasons for excess weight. A variety of potential influences may contribute to the increasing prevalence of obesity, including preterm birth and its associated rapid catch-up growth, as well as exposures to environmental compounds that may alter endogenous hormone balance or stimulate metabolic pathways that lead to increased adiposity and growth (Euser et al. 2008; Newbold et al. 2009; Uthaya et al. 2005).

Utilizing a series of sequentially-enrolled birth cohorts with repeated measures, the objectives of this dissertation were to examine the associations between preterm birth and exposures to the endocrine-disrupting compounds Bisphenol A (BPA) and phthalate metabolites on adolescent weight status andphysical growth. Archived biological specimens from pregnancy allowed for delineation of temporal events. We explored how exposures may impact weight status and growth trajectories from the perinatal to adolescent period, addressing current gaps longitudinal analyses, particularly the role of exposures occurring during a critical period of development such as pregnancy.

Obesity

Worldwide, the prevalence of adult obesity has more than tripled from 1980 to over 900 million in 2008, resulting in over 34% of all adults classified as overweight or obese (Keats and Wiggins 2014). In addition, over 43 million children under the age of 5 are overweight or obese, with 92 million at risk for becoming overweight (de Onis et al. 2010). Among adults 20 years or older in the United States, 71.3% of males and 65.8% of females were classified as overweight (BMI≥25) while 33.5% of males and 36.1% of females were obese (BMI≥30) (Ogden et al. 2014). Among female adolescents aged 12-19, 34.2% were overweight (≥85th BMI-for-age percentile) and 20.4% were obese (≥95th BMI-forage percentile), while 35.3% and 17.2% of males were overweight and obese, respectively (Skinner and Skelton 2014). Specifically, among Hispanics aged 12-19, 34.4% of females and 35.3% of males were overweight, and 19.7% of females and 21.4% of males were obese. In 2006 in Mexico, 26.2% of school-aged children 5-11 years old were overweight and obese, while 30.8% of female and 29.3% of male adolescents 12-18 years were classified as overweight or obese (Rivera et al. 2009).

Children with high BMI have an increased risk for insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and cardiovascular health risks; of children who are in the $\geq 95^{\text{th}}$ BMI-for-age percentile, over 50% have ≥ 1 cardiovascular risk (Flegal et al. 2010; Freedman and Sherry 2009; Guo et al. 1994; Lee et al. 2010; Ogden et al. 2012; de Onis et al. 2013; Sun et al. 2012). In addition to the myriad health

2

consequences that follow from being overweight or obese, there are a number of economic consequences. Being an overweight or obese adult in the United States increases total annual medical costs by 10% or 36%, respectively, compared to normal-weight individuals. As a whole, the annual United States medical cost of elevated BMI in childhood is estimated to be approximately \$14.3 billion (Trasande and Chatteriee 2009). Indirect costs of obesity include productivity loss, transportation costs, and decrease in human capital accumulation (Hammond and Levine 2010). Productivity loss from obesity-related illness or disability results from a combination of absenteeism, presenteeism, increases in the number of disabled adults, and premature mortality (Frone 2007; Ricci and Chee 2005; Burkhauser and Cawley 2005; Fontaine et al. 2010). Increases in transportation costs result from the need to use more fuel and may, in effect, result in an increase in greenhouse gas emissions (Dannenberg et al. 2004; Jacobson and McLay 2006). Obesity also has been associated with a decrease in quantity as well as quality of educational attainment (Gortmaker et al. 1993; Sabia 2007). It has been suggested that total annual costs associated with obesity in the United States are in the excess of \$215 billion; the impact of obesity is not strictly limited to the health of individuals (Hammond and Levine 2010).

Within the Nutrition Transition

Obesity prevalence differs within and between developed and developing countries. While obesity prevalence has seemingly plateaued or grown at a slower rate in industrialized countries, developing countries are still experiencing an increase in prevalence (Gupta et al. 2013; Moss et al. 2012; de Onis et al. 2010; Skinner and Skelton 2014). Our study population is situated in Mexico, which is at an advanced stage of the nutrition transition, a phenomenon that occurs simultaneously with, or following, the epidemiological and demographic transition. Respectively, the epidemiological and demographic transitions are shifts in prevalence of communicable to non-communicable diseases and shifts from prevalence of high to low mortality and fertility (Popkin 2006; Shetty 2013).

The nutrition transition has been associated with a shift in behaviors such as increases in screen time, decreases in physical activity, and changes in dietary patterns—particularly fat, animal source foods, refined carbohydrates, and caloric sweetener consumption (Popkin 2011; Rivera et al. 2004). Trends in Mexico show increased fat, carbohydrate, as well as animal protein consumption which vary by region and socioeconomic class, with lower-income and rural areas consuming more than those in higher socioeconomic class or urban areas (Barquera et al. 2009). In addition to dietary changes, physical activity changes occur partly due to the shift in types of occupations and conveniences available due to urbanization. The high-energy expenditure activities such as farming and forestry gave way to service industries which are not as labor-intensive resulting in greater amounts of sedentary activity (Popkin and Gordon-Larsen 2004; Popkin 1999).

With these shifts in dietary and physical activity patterns, changes in types of disease also occur, with an increasing prevalence of obesity, cardiovascular disease, and other non-communicable diseases (Popkin 2006; Stevens et al. 2008). However, inequalities in income still exist and the pace of adaptation to changing lifestyle habits often result in a double burden of disease, with over- and under-nutrition existing within the same country or even households (Monteiro et al. 2002; Popkin et al. 2012). This dual-burden of disease may occur as different regions within a country experience variation in stage of the nutritional, epidemiological, and demographic transitions (Popkin et al. 2012; Stevens et al. 2012). As a country develops, individuals affected by the transitions differ by regions and demographics; initial increase in overweight and obesity among those of higher socioeconomic brackets and urban areas shift to those of lower socioeconomic classes and rural areas (Kasper et al. 2014; McLaren 2007; Monteiro et al. 2002).

Due to the shifts in nutrition and lifestyle behaviors in countries undergoing the nutrition transition, the environment a fetus is conceived in may be drastically different from one that they experience as they grow and develop.

Developmental Origins of Health and Disease

The Developmental Origins of Health and Disease framework hypothesizes that early life influences may have long-term effects on later health and disease (Hales et al. 1991; Hanson and Gluckman 2008). Early life influences such as birth weight, mode of infant feeding, and exposures to environmental chemicals have been associated with later health consequences such as diabetes and obesity (Inadera 2013; Ravelli et al. 2000; Ross and Desai 2013; Thompson 2012). It is hypothesized that permanent structural or functional changes occur in the fetus or infant in response to exposures from environmental factors that would require the organism to adapt either immediately for short-term survival, or alter its physiological function for predictive long-term survival (Gluckman and Hanson 2004; Gluckman et al. 2005; Lucas 1991). This plasticity is a mechanism by which organisms adjust to variable environmental circumstances in order to optimize its fitness, such as through inducing insulin resistance and storing fat if a poor nutritional environment is experienced or predicted, or accelerating sexual maturation postnatally if the environment is favorable (Cooper et al. 1996; Fall et al. 1995; Ibáñez et al. 2003).

The adaptations to match fetal environment with the predicted environment are maladaptive when the predicted environment is mismatched to that experienced. This "match-mismatch" theory is used to help explain the steep increase in prevalence of overweight and obesity in countries undergoing rapid nutrition transition (Hanson and Gluckman 2008; Popkin et al. 2012). In these settings, if maternal nutritional status indicates an environment of undernutrition, the fetus may be set on a trajectory that would maximize their fitness in such an environment. However, if the environment is nutritionally-rich postnally, their physiology is mismatched and may contribute to the development of obesity (Hanson and Gluckman 2008). Matched scenarios are not necessarily protective for the fetus because fetal over-nutrition that may occur in children of obese mothers or to gestational diabetes is also a risk factor for the development of obesity (Paliy et al. 2014; Whitaker and Dietz 1998).

Applying this theory of adaptation to understanding obesity trends has suggested that the observed trends may be less likely related to genetic changes, as reflected from "natural experiments" such as the Dutch famine, and is more likely due to the interaction between genotype and environmental exposures which result in developmental adaptations that optimize the phenotype. These may occur through epigenetic changes, which are heritable changes in gene expression without an actual change in the sequence of the DNA (Gluckman and Hanson 2008; Godfrey et al. 2011; Leimar et al. 2006; Painter et al. 2005). For example, children born to mothers exposed to restricted caloric intake during the first two trimesters of pregnancy during the Dutch Famine of 1944/1945, compared to their same-sex sibling, had a decrease in the methylation of insulinlike-growth factor 2 (IGF2) gene, an important regulator of human growth (Heijmans et al. 2008). This group of children also showed an increased prevalence of obesity at age 19 (Ravelli et al. 1976).

Sensitive and Critical Periods for Development

The Developmental Origins of Health and Disease framework focuses on prenatal and early life, but this period is only one of several critical and sensitive periods for development. A body of evidence suggests that there are sensitive periods of time for the development of adult chronic diseases, where risks are increased during, but decreased outside, these periods (Dietz 1994, 1997; Gillman 2008; Lawlor and Chaturvedi 2006).

Early life sensitive periods for obesity development are generally considered to include the pre- and perinatal period, the adiposity rebound, and adolescence (Dietz 1994, 1997). During these sensitive periods where there is rapid growth and development, perturbations of the trajectory of growth may positively or negatively affect risk outcomes. Fetal growth in the first and second trimesters is important for cellular differentiation and proliferation; with restriction of nutrients, the relegation of resources for growth of certain processes over others are hypothesized to adversely affect tissue function or formation, potentially leading to increased risk of obesity (Cole 2009; Gluckman et al. 2007).

7

The adiposity rebound, generally occurring between the ages of three and seven years, is a time of adipose hyperplasia and hypertrophy (Campbell et al. 2011; Dietz 1997; Knittle et al. 1979; Rolland-Cachera et al. 1984). An early adiposity rebound may lead to accelerated pubertal maturation, increased body mass, and increased adiposity in adolescence and adulthood (Cameron and Demerath 2002; Rolland-Cachera et al. 1984; Taylor et al. 2005; Williams and Dickson 2002; Williams and Goulding 2009).

Finally, adolescence is another period of rapid development, with alterations in insulin sensitivity and deviations in fat patterning by sex (Alberga et al. 2012; Dietz 1997; Mueller 1982; Smith et al. 1988). Adolescent overweight has been associated with adult overweight and obesity, increased risk of coronary heart disease, heart disease, and cancer, dependent and independent of adult BMI (Efrat et al. 2013; Must et al. 1992).

Preterm Birth

Preterm birth, defined as <37 weeks gestational age, is the second most common cause of death in children under 5 years of age; its associated complications account for the majority of neonatal deaths and over half of longterm morbidity (Clark and Fleischman 2011; Goldenberg et al. 2008; Liu et al. 2012; McCormick 1985). In 2010, 11.1% of all live births worldwide were preterm, with more than 60% of preterm births occurring in sub-Saharan Africa and south Asia (Blencowe et al. 2012; World Health Organization 2012). However, countries with high human development and economic indices are also affected; within the top 10 countries with the highest numbers of preterm births, the United States of America ranks 6th worldwide, accounting for 3.5% of the global burden, and 12% of all live births within the United States (Blencowe et al. 2012).

Trends from 1990-2010 show that almost all countries have stable or increasing rates of preterm birth, but increases, especially in industrialized countries, may result from medical technologies such as surfactants or antenatal steroids enhancing the survival of individuals born at earlier and earlier gestational ages, rather than actual rate increases (Blencowe et al. 2012; Saigal and Doyle 2008; World Health Organization 2012). Certain countries may also be better prepared to manage and target risk factors, screen for and terminate congenital developmental anomalies, or do not report immediate neonatal deaths as live births, leading to differences in mortality (Mohangoo et al. 2011; World Health Organization 2012). Other factors that may influence preterm prevalence may be the method used to determine gestational age. Prevalence may differ depending on whether ultrasound or date of last menstrual period is used, as ultrasound measurements decrease the error that may result from use of recall of last menstrual date (Behrman and Butler 2007; Blondel et al. 2002; Kramer et al. 1988; Wingate et al. 2007).

The definition of "preterm" birth has been constantly evolving. In the first edition of *Williams Obstetrics*, Williams wrote "We possess no reliable means of estimating the exact date (of confinement) but are obliged to content ourselves with...the belief that labor occurs two hundred eighty days from the beginning of the last menstrual period." (Williams 1903). There appears to be continuum between gestational age and neonatal morbidity and mortality that reaches a nadir at approximately 39 weeks' gestation (Clark and Fleischman 2011; Smith 2001).

While birth weight is intricately linked with gestational age, the two measures are not interchangeable since birth weight is a combination of not only time, but intrauterine growth (Behrman and Butler 2007; Kramer 1987). Therefore, prematurity is a consequence of inadequate gestational duration and has the added complexity of being additionally defined as appropriate-, small-, or large-for-gestational age (Kramer 1987). Low birth weight could result from a truncation of the 3rd trimester, where the most rapid fetal growth in weight occurs, leading to a small-for-gestational infant, or could occur due to intrauterine growth restriction, which could occur at any gestational age (Buckler 1997; Kramer 1987). Analyses linking these early life events need to distinguish between the two, as those born preterm may have different risks than those born with the same birth weight at term, but are small-for-gestational age.

Preterm birth can also be categorized as either spontaneous or indicated, where caesarean sections or labor inductions are carried out due to maternal or fetal indications (Behrman and Butler 2007; Goldenberg et al. 2008). Indicated preterm births are generally associated with acute or chronic fetal compromise such as intrauterine growth restriction, maternal hemorrhage, or hypertensive disorders (Behrman and Butler 2007; Goldenberg et al. 2008). Spontaneous preterm births can occur with intact membranes or due to premature rupture of the membranes (PPROM), which can arise from intrauterine infection and short cervical length, among others (Behrman and Butler 2007; Goldenberg et al. 2008; Mercer et al. 2000). In addition to dichotomization as indicated or spontaneous preterm births, subdivisions based on length of gestational period are also used, separating extremely preterm (<28 weeks; ~5% of all preterm births), severely preterm (28-31 weeks; ~15% of all preterm births), moderate preterm (32-33 weeks; ~20% of all preterm births), and near term (34-36 weeks; ~60-70% of all preterm births) (Goldenberg et al. 2008).

Increases in singleton preterm births are thought to be due to a rise in medically indicated reasons from maternal complications like preeclampsia, or fetal compromise, such as intrauterine growth restriction (Ananth et al. 2005). The rise of in-vitro fertilization and other medically-assisted fertility programs are also associated with increased risks of preterm birth (Goldenberg et al. 2008; Jackson et al. 2004).

Risk Factors

While it is difficult to determine the exact mechanism, such as increased inflammation, placental hemorrhage, or stress, that initiates preterm labor, risk factors for preterm birth span a wide range of social and demographic characteristics (Behrman and Butler 2007; Goldenberg et al. 2008; Romero et al. 2006).

Maternal characteristics that have been associated with preterm birth include educational status, low socioeconomic status, low and high maternal ages, being a single mother, tobacco use, previous preterm birth, short interpregnancy interval, multiple gestations, medical disorders such as thyroid disease, diabetes, hypertension, and asthma, nutritional status such as low and high maternal BMI, and work-related stresses such as hard labor and long hours which may result in decreases in blood flow from the fetoplacental unit to the active muscles (Andres and Day 2000; Behrman and Butler 2007; Cnattingius et al. 1998; Conde-Agudelo et al. 2006; Goldenberg et al. 2008; Launer et al. 1990; Mercer et al. 1999; Romero et al. 2006; Saurel-Cubizolles 2004; Smith et al. 2007, 2003; Thompson et al. 2006).

Low maternal pre-pregnancy BMI has been associated with an increased risk of spontaneous preterm birth. Low BMI may indicate nutritional malnourishment in total caloric or protein intake or micronutrient deficiencies, such as iron, folate, zinc, could increase risk of maternal infections or a decrease in blood volume or flow, resulting in reductions in uterine blood flow (Neggers and Goldenberg 2003; Ramakrishnan et al. 1999; Scholl 2005).

However, increasing maternal BMI is associated with an increase in indicated preterm birth (Hendler et al. 2005). Obese women are more likely to develop complications such as high blood pressure, diabetes, and preeclampsia and maternal obesity is associated with an increased pro-inflammatory biomarkers and endothelial dysregulation, which could further drive pregnancy complications (Cnattingius et al. 1998, 2013; Greer et al. 1994; Neggers and Goldenberg 2003; Ramsay et al. 2002).

The elevated risks of preterm birth in mothers with low socioeconomic status may be due to an increase in psychological or social stress (Copper et al. 1996; Farley 2012; Lobel et al. 1992). These stressors are hypothesized to affect preterm birth through increases in inflammatory markers or changes in vascular functions, such as hypertensive or cardiovascular disorders (Wadhwa et al. 2001).

12

Sub-optimal uteroplacental flow may also occur from women smoking during pregnancy; nicotine and carbon monoxide are known to be vasoconstrictors which could result in decreased blood flow and placental damage (Andres and Day 2000; Cnattingius 2004). The use of tobacco products is associated with an increase in inflammatory response and could contribute to spontaneous preterm birth and, in addition, maternal smoking during pregnancy is associated with later childhood overweight and obesity (Bermudez et al. 2002; Goldenberg et al. 2008; von Kries 2002).

Preterm birth is more common in males than in females. Approximately 55% of all preterm births occurring in males, who are also more highly associated with fetal and neonatal mortality and morbidity and long-term consequences, than their female counterparts (Hintz et al. 2006; Kent et al. 2012; Stevenson et al. 2000; Zeitlin et al. 2002).

Given that preterm birth typically results in birth weights that are lower than those normally observed at term birth, many studies use birth weight as an explanatory variable, rather than gestational age. Most studies have focused on indicators of intrauterine growth while limited studies exist for those born preterm, which is a risk factor for adverse later life events in adolescence (Euser et al. 2005; Hofman et al. 2004).

Consequences of Preterm Birth

Preterm babies face a host of complications both immediately postdelivery and long-term, including respiratory, cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, metabolic, neurocognitive impairments, and increased need for medical care (Behrman and Butler 2007; Bonner-Weir 2000; Boyle et al. 2012; Finken et al. 2006; Goldenberg et al. 2008; Hofman et al. 2004; McCormick et al. 2011; Mericq 2006; Pilgaard et al. 2010; Rowe et al. 2011; Saigal and Doyle 2008).

Though all organs are immature with preterm birth, the brain and lungs are particularly sensitive to long-term consequences, as they in critical periods for development in late pregnancy (Brown et al. 2013; Jobe and Bancalari 2001; Kugelman and Colin 2013; Rees and Inder 2005; Saigal and Doyle 2008; Teune et al. 2011). Neurological deficiencies include developmental and behavioral disabilities such as suboptimal control of motor function, decreased academic performance, hyperactivity, anxiety, as well as others (Aylward 2005; Chyi et al. 2008; Friedrich et al. 2007; Gray et al. 2004; Huddy et al. 2001; Pike et al. 2012; Rees and Inder 2005; Teune et al. 2011). Individuals born preterm are likely to develop respiratory distress syndrome due to restricted development and inability to make surfactant, preventing the lungs from remaining open to allow breathing; proper medical treatment with mechanical ventilation and oxygen therapy may still result in injury due to oxidant and ventilation-mediated stressors, leading to decreased lung function (Jobe and Bancalari 2001; Kugelman and Colin 2013; Teune et al. 2011).

Preterm birth has been associated with alterations in metabolism and growth, such as impaired glucose and insulin sensitivity, unfavorable body composition such as increased visceral fat deposition, and increased BMI in childhood and adulthood, (Doyle 2004; Euser et al. 2005; Finken et al. 2006; Hofman et al. 2004; Johnson et al. 2012; Pilgaard et al. 2010). While preterm babies are typically lighter compared to term babies, at 40 weeks past the last recalled menstrual period there were no differences in the amount of adipose tissue present, and altered fat deposition, with increases in visceral, and decreases in subcutaneous, fat were observed (Euser et al. 2008; Uthaya et al. 2005). Even at 1 year of age, infants who were born preterm had greater fat mass normalized to weight than those born at term (Cooke et al. 1999). And, children who were born preterm had reduced insulin sensitivity, which may contribute to a future risk of Type 2 Diabetes, and other diseases related to insulin resistance, in adulthood (Hofman et al. 2004).

Growth trajectories differ by category of preterm and birth weight; those born very low birth weight (<1500 g; for reference, low-birth weight infants are defined as those with a birth weight $\leq 2,500$ g) undergo growth failure during infancy and early childhood, notably in height, but sustained accelerated BMI *z*scores from childhood through adulthood, resulting in a higher attained adult BMI *z*-score (Doyle 2004; Farooqi et al. 2006; Ford et al. 2000; Powls et al. 1996; Rowe et al. 2011; Saigal et al. 2006). This could place these individuals at increased risk for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases (Barker 1998; Pilgaard et al. 2010; Syddall et al. 2005).

In preterm infants, accelerated postnatal growth is a known phenomenon. This catch-up growth (CUG) occurs up to two years of age in infancy and CUG has been linked to an increased deposition of adipose tissue, increased waist circumference, greater risk of overweight and obesity and insulin resistance in adolescence (Belfort et al. 2013; Dulloo et al. 2006; Euser et al. 2005; Giannì et al. 2012; Kerkhof et al. 2012; Mericq 2006; Singhal 2010; Singhal et al. 2003; Tzoulaki et al. 2010). In infants born preterm, rapid CUG has been linked to higher insulin levels at 19 years of age as well as increased BMI, fat mass, percentage body fat, and waist circumference (Euser et al. 2005; Finken et al. 2006). This compensatory acceleration of growth after shortened gestational length may serve as a method of adaptation for survival and the factors that may be involved in this growth may adversely program later adverse health effects. Being born preterm may be merely the stimulus needed to set the infant on a trajectory leading to future health risks.

We postulated that preterm birth was associated with adolescent obesity. Preterm birth was hypothesized to expose the fetus to an adverse environment which it is not developmentally prepared to encounter, resulting in such as through insulin resistance or increased fat deposition (Gluckman et al. 2007; Mericq 2006). One critical period for insulin sensitivity is hypothesized to occur during the early third trimester of pregnancy; disruption of this β -cell progression can lead to future complications (Bonner-Weir 2000; Hales and Barker 1992; Hofman et al. 2004; Tinnion et al. 2013).While structural and functional changes may be difficult to assess, it is thought that these adaptations take the form of CUG with preterm birth simply being the stimulus. CUG is a phase characterized by insulin resistance and growth that is primarily achieved thorough increases in body fat rather than lean tissue (Dulloo et al. 2006; Giannì et al. 2012). This demonstration of early insulin resistance and relative increase in body fat may be a mechanism by which increased risk in adulthood is conferred.

Environmental Endocrine-Disrupting Compounds

Environmental exposures have been increasingly scrutinized in recent years as possible factors involved in the rapid increase in overweight and obesity that cannot be explained only by genetics or behavior (Baillie-Hamilton 2002). Bisphenol A (BPA) and phthalates are multi-functional materials used in everyday products; the prolific use of these products has resulted in widespread exposure to these compounds and their metabolites in humans of both genders and all age groups (Adibi et al. 2003; Calafat et al. 2008; Callan et al. 2012; Frederiksen et al. 2011; Pirard et al. 2012; Silva et al. 2004; Taskeen et al. 2012; Vandenberg et al. 2010).

BPA is one of the most highly manufactured chemicals in the world and is used in the production of polycarbonate plastics and epoxy resins; it is commonly found in food and beverage containers, medical equipment, toys, the linings of canned foods, thermal receipt paper, and dental sealants (Mendum et al. 2011; Shelby 2008; Vandenberg et al. 2007a).

Phthalates are also found in many consumer and industrialized products and are used in plastics for flexibility and also as a stabilizing and solubilizing material (David et al. 2012; Hauser and Calafat 2005; Meeker 2012). High molecular weight phthalates are used in manufacturing flexible vinyl plastics and are commonly found in food and beverage containers, medical equipment, and vinyl flooring. Low molecular weight phthalates are often found in solvents, paint thinners, medications and personal care products such as lotions, creams, and nail polish (David et al. 2012; Hernández-Díaz et al. 2009; Lewis et al. 2013).

Exposures and Metabolism

Exposure is widespread, with >92% of the U.S. population six years and older exhibiting detectable BPA and phthalate metabolites in their urine; metabolites have also been identified during pregnancy, with evidence of these metabolites in the amniotic sac and cord blood (Calafat et al. 2008; Callan et al. 2012; Cantonwine et al. 2010; Chou et al. 2011; Huang et al. 2014; Meeker 2012; Silva et al. 2004; Vandenberg et al. 2010). Phthalates are not bound to the materials that they are used in, resulting in leaching and leading to human exposure via dermal absorption, inhalation, and ingestion (Meeker et al. 2009b). BPA exposure is also conducted through these pathways; BPA in the epoxy resin of food cans or polycarbonate plastic food and beverage containers can leach into the food material under high heat or pressure conditions, and through repeated use (Brede et al. 2003; Kang et al. 2003; Vandenberg et al. 2007a). BPA exposure also occurs through dermal absorption, such as from handling thermal receipt papers or through personal care products, as well as through inhalation through cigarette filters or dust particles (Biedermann et al. 2010; Dodson et al. 2012; Fu and Kawamura 2010; Rudel et al. 2003; Vandenberg et al. 2013).

Metabolism of BPA is dependent on mode of exposure and has a rapid half-life of approximately 6 hours (Völkel et al. 2002). When exposed orally, BPA enters the gastrointestinal tract and is absorbed and transported to the liver where "first-pass metabolism" occurs (Vandenberg et al. 2007a, 2013). This process rapidly conjugates BPA into BPA glucuronide or BPA sulfate, lowering the concentration of active unconjugated BPA from the blood. Alternate routes of exposure do not undergo "first-pass metabolism", leaving BPA to circulate in the bloodstream in the unconjugated form.

Phthalates metabolism is also dependent on mode of exposure and has a half-life of fewer than 24 hours (Koch et al. 2005). The parent phthalate diester compound is hydrolyzed by esterases and lipases during phase I

18

biotransformation to form a hydrolytic monoester (reviewed in Hauser and Calafat 2005). High molecular weight parent diesters are additionally oxidized to form a more hydrophilic metabolite. These oxidized metabolites and monoesters could be excreted, or additionally undergo phase II biotransformation to produce glucuronide conjugates, which increases solubility in water and facilitates increased urinary excretion.

Both BPA and phthalate metabolites are measureable in urine and blood; urine is more commonly used due to several advantages: ability to obtain larger sample volumes, ease and non-invasive nature of collection, and reduced contamination during sample collection by the parent compounds (Koch and Calafat 2009). Total BPA (free+conjugated species) is generally measured due to the difficulty in identifying and quantifying conjugated forms, and phthalate monoester metabolites are generally used as biomarkers because they are largely considered the biologically active molecule (Hauser and Calafat 2005; Koch and Calafat 2009).

Epidemiological Studies

These environmental exposures have been increasingly examined in recent years because classic predictors of behaviors with regards to energy intake and expenditure, as well as genetics, do not fully explain the incredible rise in obesity (Baillie-Hamilton 2002). Endocrine-disrupting compounds such as BPA and phthalates mimic or interfere with the normal functioning of the endocrine system that regulates bodily functions such as growth, thyroid function, sexual development, insulin production and utilization, weight homeostasis, in addition to others (Elobeid and Allison 2008; Grün and Blumberg 2009; Hatch et al. 2010; Heindel 2003; Heindel and vom Saal 2009; Newbold 2010; Newbold et al. 2009).

Human epidemiological studies of BPA and phthalate exposurse on child and adolescent obesity and weight status have been mostly cross-sectional. Of the two long-term prospective studies, both center on associations of BPA concentrations *in utero* on child BMI, waist circumference, and overweight/obese status (Harley et al. 2013; Valvi et al. 2013).

For BPA, studies have found differences in significance and direction of association for males compared to females. Table 1.1 shows existing studies that span similar ages to our study population. While some studies found increasing concentrations of BPA to be associated with increases in outcome measures (BMI, obesity, waist circumference, etc.), others found evidence of nonmonotonic associations.

Table 1.2, shows there are only cross-sectional studies of phthalate exposure with human BMI and metabolic endpoints, though a 1-year prospective study was conducted in children aged 6-8 years old but found no significant relationships (Teitelbaum et al. 2012). Increasing concentrations of phthalate metabolites were found to be associated with various body composition and metabolic endpoints including BMI, waist circumference, and insulin resistance, and were also marked by gender differences. One consistent finding was the association of increasing MEP concentrations with BMI and waist circumference in females (Hatch et al. 2010, 2008; Teitelbaum et al. 2012).

20
Animal and Cell Studies

in vitro studies have shown that BPA binds to both estrogen receptors (ER) α and β and can act as an estrogen mimicker, in addition to other mechanisms (Gould et al. 1998; Kuiper et al. 1998; Vandenberg et al. 2013). Though it was considered a weak estrogen due to its relatively low affinity for nuclear ERs compared with endogenous estradiol, it has been found to stimulate responses at concentrations well below those expected as necessary for binding to the nuclear ERs (Welshons et al. 2006). In addition, studies have shown that BPA has effects at levels less than the reference dose of 50µg/kg/day, showing that environmentally relevant exposures have human effects (Vandenberg et al. 2007a). Studies have also indicated that BPA may be anti-androgenic by interacting with the androgen receptor and preventing endogenous androgen activity (Wetherill et al. 2007).

The non-monotonic observed dose-response curves in human epidemiological studies have also been found in animal and cell studies and (Myers et al. 2009; Vandenberg et al. 2012; Watson et al. 2010). Hypothesized mechanisms include opposing signaling effects of different types of receptors (such as ER α and ER β), decreased effects at higher doses due to cytotoxicity or receptor down-regulation or desensitization, up-regulation of gene expression at low doses, and opposing action responses in different sub-populations of cells. In addition, BPA has been found to be more potent in stimulating embryonic ERs than initially suspected, given its in vitro activity; this has implications for exposures that occur during pregnancy (Lemmen et al. 2004).

As BPA has been observed to cross the placental barrier, one question raised would be whether the fetus is able to metabolize the compound to the same degree as an adult. It is known that the human fetal liver does not express UDP-glucuronosyltransferase until after birth, leading to higher levels of circulating unconjugated BPA and, in primates, it has been shown that pregnancy alters BPA pharmacokinetics (Vom Saal et al. 2014). Fetal exposure and elimination of BPA in early pregnancy is thought to occur through passive diffusion through the placenta while, in late pregnancy, the fetus may dispose of BPA through the fetal kidney and via conjugation (Vom Saal et al. 2014). Pregnancy does not appear to affect first-pass metabolism of BPA in the liver after absorption from the gastrointestinal tract through oral exposures and that, at concentrations that humans are routinely exposed to, BPA exposure during pregnancy induced abnormal development in the mammary gland, brain, and ovaries. These findings are relevant for humans not only because primates are more similar compared to other models, but also because this study showed that non-oral routes of exposure may play a larger role than previously anticipated and fetal exposures to, and elimination of, BPA differ depending on the progression of pregnancy.

Studies from human adipocytes have shown that BPA inhibits adiponectin release (Hugo et al. 2008; Volberg et al. 2013). Adiponectin, secreted from adipocytes, is negatively correlated with fasting insulin, triglycerides, and glucose; higher concentrations are associated with lower risks of hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes by increasing muscle and liver catabolism of fatty acids and glucose (Kadowaki and Yamauchi 2005; Kawada 2013). While, lower levels are associated with type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome (Cruz et al. 2004; Shaibi et al. 2007). BPA has also been found to induce differentiation of preadipocytes to adipocytes, as well as increase lipid accumulation in these cells in both human explant cells from individuals of healthy BMI, as well as mouse fibroblast cells (Boucher et al. 2014; Masuno et al. 2002).

Using mouse models, perinatal and adult exposures to BPA have been observed to increase adipose tissue and body and alter glucose tolerance and insulin resistance; some studies observed differences in association by sex (Alonso-Magdalena et al. 2005b; Miyawaki et al. 2007; Ropero et al. 2008). *in vitro* studies have found altered glucose transport and increased differentiation of adipocytes (Masuno et al. 2002; Sakurai et al. 2004).

While BPA and phthalates have both been found to mimic or alter endogenous hormones, only phthalates are known to be PPAR activators in addition to being anti-andrognic and possible thyroid antagonists (Grün and Blumberg 2009; Meeker et al. 2007). PPARs are a family of lipid-sensors that are involved in energy homeostasis and can redirect metabolism when activated; PPAR- γ in particular has been shown to be a "master regulator" for the formation of adipocytes through differentiation and survival; forced expression of PPAR- γ in non-adipogenic cells can convert them into adipocytes (Evans et al. 2004; Feige et al. 2007; Tontonoz et al. 1994). Exposures during sensitive periods of development could result in permanent impacts on adipocyte development (Grün and Blumberg 2009; Hurst and Waxman 2003). Surprisingly, PPAR- γ is also involved in insulin sensitivity; thiazolidinediones, a class of medications used for controlling Type 2 diabetes through increasing insulin sensitivity, are PPAR- γ - activating drugs (Berger et al. 2005; Lehrke and Lazar 2005). It is hypothesized that, as PPAR- γ activation largely affects adipose tissue by redirecting lipids away from liver and muscle, which are the tissues necessary for insulin-mediated glucose metabolism, PPAR- γ agonists prevent lipotoxicity-induced insulin resistance and prevent hyperglycemia (Bays et al. 2004; Mayerson et al. 2002). *Sex Differences in Findings*

Differences in associations between exposures to BPA and phthalate metabolites for males and females are often observed and nimal studies have also indicated that the dose-response curves for females and males are different (Miyawaki et al. 2007). While the exact mechanism is not known, it is postulated to be related to BPA's estrogenic qualities, the sexually-dimorphic distribution of endogenous estrogen receptors, and its hypothesized ability to interfere with endogenous estrogen signaling (Alonso-Magdalena et al. 2005a, 2005b; Schneider et al. 2014). Males and females also differ in their energy-balancing characteristics behaviorally as well as morphologically and physiologically with regards to adipocyte differentiation and distribution (Schneider et al. 2014). It is hypothesized that males may be more sensitive than females to exposures to endocrine-disrupting compounds because the natural, default, evolution is towards the female phenotype whereas formation of the male phenotype necessitates hormonal influence from both testosterone and estradiol; alterations in these hormones may more negatively affect males (De Coster and van Larebeke 2012; Schneider et al. 2014). In addition, BPA may more adversely affect thyroid function of males rather than females (Chevrier et al. 2013; Sriphrapradang et al. 2013). Previous studies have found that low, circulating

levels of testosterone are associated with increased visceral and/or abdominal obesity in males; the anti-androgenic effects of phthalates may contribute to increased waist circumference and obesity in males but studies in females are inconclusive (Gapstur et al. 2002; Tchernof and Després 2013). Estrogen effects for females differ by menopausal status, with reduced estrogen levels postmenopause being associated with increased visceral adiposity (Lovejoy et al. 2008; Tchernof and Després 2013)

Estrogens are involved in the control of adipose distribution and metabolism and are known to be sexually dimorphic in deposition of subcutaneous or visceral fat (Cooke and Naaz 2004; Schneider et al. 2014). They are able to impact adipose tissue indirectly through other pathways other than through decreasing lipogenesis or increasing fatty acid β -oxidation; estrogen receptors are found within the brain in the hypothalamus, where energy balance is primarily regulated, and could impact appetite and metabolism (Cooke and Naaz 2004). The two estrogen receptors, ER α and ER β , are nuclear receptors that are part of the steroid/thyroid hormone superfamily; binding of a ligand to the receptors triggers conformational changes that ultimately leads to changes in the rates of estrogen-regulated gene transcription (Nilsson et al. 2001). However, endocrine disrupting compounds can also act through classical nuclear receptors to initiate transcription, as well as through estrogen-related receptors, or through interactions with other targets that may activate pathways such as those involved in metabolism (De Coster and van Larebeke 2012; Wang et al. 2012b). Therefore, exposure to xenoestrogens, natural or man-made estrogens that mimic endogenous estrogen by binding to estrogen receptors, would be thought to decrease the adipose stores. However, it has been shown that adipocyte numbers can be increased or decreased depending on the concentration of xenoestrogens (Cooke and Naaz 2004; Dang et al. 2003).

Given the observations from cell, animal, and human epidemiological studies, we hypothesized that exposures to BPA and phthalates would be associated with increased weight status and adiposity. In keeping with the Developmental Origins and critical period frameworks, exposures during early life, such as pregnancy, were hypothesized to have stronger associations with outcomes than those that occur in less sensitive periods of time. Additionally, it was hypothesized that associations would differ for males and females.

Study Population

The study population for this dissertation utilizes participants from the 19year Early Life Exposure in Mexico to ENvironmental Toxicants (ELEMENT) research collaboration with Mexico's *Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública* that consists of three sequentially-enrolled birth cohorts.

The recruitments (starting in 1994, 1997, and 2001) occurred at family clinics serving low-to-moderate income populations in Mexico City: Mexican Social Security Institute, Manuel Gea González Hospital, and National Institute of Perinatology. Cohort 1 (N=616) was recruited between 1994-1995 and followed until 1997 as a randomized controlled trial on the effect of calcium supplementation during lactation on blood lead levels. Cohort 2 was comprised of two groups assessing bone lead, resorption, and fetal lead exposure; cohort 2A (N=327) was recruited during pre-pregnancy and followed between 1997-2000 and 2B (N=462) was recruited during pregnancy and followed between 19992000. Cohort 3 (N=670) was recruited during pregnancy for a randomized controlled trial of calcium supplementation during pregnancy and lactation and recruited from 2001-2003. Study methods have been described previously (Ettinger et al. 2009; Gonzalez-Cossio et al. 1997; Hernandez-Avila et al. 2003; Hu et al. 2006; Téllez-Rojo et al. 2002, 2004).

In 2006, participants from all three cohorts were invited for a prospective follow-up after the child was at least 6 years old; 1,100 mother-child pairs were followed to assess the influence of fetal lead exposure on neurobehavioral outcomes. In 2012, recruitment of mother-child pairs (N=250) from cohorts 2 and 3 were initiated. Recruitment priority was based on existence of archived biological specimens and perinatal lead exposure data.

Similar exclusion criteria were applied to all three cohorts such as living outside of Mexico City, gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, or pregnancy-related hypertensive disorder, as well as other criteria described elsewhere (Ettinger et al. 2009; Gonzalez-Cossio et al. 1997; Téllez-Rojo et al. 2004). Common recruitment methods allow for pooling of the birth cohorts for analysis.

Thesis Overview

Chapter 2 investigated the association between preterm birth (gestational age<37 weeks) and BMI, waist circumference, and odds of obesity in youths aged 6-17 years, controlling for age, sex, and mother's BMI, smoking, years of education, and marital status.

Chapter 3 utilized archived maternal urine samples from the third trimester of pregnancy, as well as adolescent urine samples, to assess longitudinal and cross-sectional associations of BPA and 9 phthalate metabolites

with BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold in youths aged 8-14 years. Continuous and quartiles of metabolites were examined, controlling for specific gravity, child's age, and mother's years of schooling and BMI at 1 month postpartum, to explore the non-monotonic relationships noted in previous studies.

Chapter 4 explored a hypothesized relationship between exposures to BPA and 9 phthalate metabolites in the third trimester of pregnancy with the growth of children. Using repeated measures, this aim examined the predicted BMI and height trajectories of tertiles of specific gravity-adjusted metabolites in participants from 0.25 to 14 years of age, controlling for mother's years of schooling and BMI at 1 month postpartum. Estimated differences between tertiles in predicted trajectories were analyzed to determine ages where significant differences between tertiles of occurred.

Chapter 5 summarizes the work of this dissertation and offers suggested recommendations and future directions.

Authors	Study Design	Ages	Data Source	Exposure	Analysis	Outcome	Result
Wolff et al 207	Cross- sectional	6-80	U.S.	BPA, phthalates	N/A	N/A; characterizing pilot study	Higher BPA levels in girls <85th%ile compared to those >85%ile. phthalates differed by race/ethnicity in distributions
Eng et al 2013	Cross- sectional	6-18; subset 12-18	NHANES	BPA, phthalates	Quartiles	Adiposity, cholesterol, insulin, glucose	Higher odds obesity with non-monotonic BPA quartiles (2nd and 4th higher than 3rd), higher odds abnormal WC to height ratio
Wang et al. 2012	Cross- sectional	8-15	China	BPA	Continuous and quartiles	BMI	Associated with increasing BMI; after stratification by age or sex, remained significant in females and in those age 8-11 after stratification. Also observed non-monotonic associations of BMI with quartiles 2.3.4 compared to 1.
Trasande et al. 2012	Cross- sectional	6-19	NHANES	BPA	Continuous and quartiles	Obesity, BMI z-score	Increasing quartiles associated with increases in BMI z-score and non- monotonic odds of obesity; stronger association in males
Wells et al. 2013	Cross- sectional	6-18; subset 12-18	NHANES	BPA	Quartiles	Waist-to- height ratio	Increased WHR associated with greater BPA ;when stratified by sex, found significant increase in boys but not girls
Bhandari et al. 2013	Cross- sectional	6-18; subset 12-18	NHANES	BPA	Quartiles	Obesity	Increasing quartiles associated with odds of obesity; predominantly present in boys (note: though test for trend significant, 2Q had stronger effect than 3Q compared to 1Q reference)
Harley et al. 2013	Longitudinal and cross- sectional	Pregna ncy-9 years	CHAMAC OS; USA	BPA	Tertiles	BMI, fat mass, WC, overweight, obese	Prenatal associated with decreased BMI at 9 in girls but not boys; results strongest in pre-pubertal girls. Cross-sectional BPA concentrations at 9 for both boys and girls positively associated with BMI, WC, fat mass, and overweight/obese
Li et al. 2013	Cross- sectional	9-12	China	BPA	High vs low; trend test using <50th, 50-75, 75-90, >90th%ile	High weight percentile, WHR, BMI, skinfold, WC	High, and increasing, levels associated with overweight and hip circumference for girls 9-12; not observed in boys
Lee et al. 2013	1 year longitudinal	7-8 at baselin e	Ewha Birth and Growth Cohort; Korea	BPA	Tertiles	Testosterone, estradiol, insulin, HOMA-IR, BMI	Girls in the high BPA exposure group had higher levels of testosterone, estradiol at 1 year compared to baseline. Cross-sectionally, relationship between BPA and BMI U-shaped, but not significant, increase in estradiol, testosterone, HOMA-IR with increasing tertiles
Valvi et al. 2013	Longitudinal and cross- sectional	Pregna ncy-4 years	INMA, Spain	BPA	Continuous	BMI, WC	At 4 years, BPA associated with increased waist circumference, weakly associated (non-significant) with BMI

Table 1.1. Human epidemiological studies of exposures to BPA with weight status outcomes.

Authors	Study Design	Ages	Data Source	Exposure	Analysis	Outcome	Result
Stahlhut et al 2007	Cross-sectional	> 18	NHANES males	MBP, MEP, MEHP, MBZP, MEHHP, MEOHP	Continuous, quintiles	Waist circumference, insulin resistance	MBZP, MEHHP, MEOHP, MEP associated with increased WC,. MBP, MBZP, MEP associated with insulin resistance
Hatch et al 2008	Cross-sectional	6-8	NHANES	MEP, MEHP, MBP, MBZP, MEHHP, MEOHP	Quartiles	BMI, WC	Consistent association in males age 20-59: BMI and WC increased across quartiles of MBZP, and positive association also found for MEOHP, MEHHP, MEP, MBP. In females, BMI & WC increased with MEP in girls while MEHP was inverse associated with BMI in adolescent girls
Hatch et al 2010	Cross-sectional	6-80	NHANES	MEP, MEHP, MBP, MBZP, MEHHP, MEOHP	Quartiles	BMI, WC	Associations marked by gender; MBZP strong positive relationship with BMI, WC with adult males 20-59 but no trend for females. MBP; positive suggestion trend for males for BMI and WC, but inverse trends for females. MEHP inversely related to BMI and WC in adolescent and adult females, but no trends for males. MEHHP, MEOHP similar. although MEP and BMI seen for adult males and for adolescent and adult females
Teitelbaum et al 2012	Prospective; 1 year	6-8	Hispanic and Black NYC children	MEP, MBP, MCPP, MBZP, MIBP, MEHP, MEOHP, MECPP, MEHHP, DEHP	Continuous, quartiles	BMI, WC	No significant relationships among boys or girls. dose-response seen with MEP and a sum of LMP and BMI and WC among overweight children. For increasing MEP quartiles among girls, associated with BMI and WC
Trasande et al 2013	Cross-sectional	6-19	NHANES	low MW, high MW, DEHP	Continuous	Blood pressure, lipid levels	DEHP associated with higher BP. no other association with other outcomes or other exposures
Trasande et al. 2013	Cross-sectional	12-19	NHANES	DEHP	Tertiles	Insulin resistance (HOMA-IR)	Each log increase (\sim 3 fold) in DEHP metabolites increases 0.19 in HOMA-IR; Third tertile had 21.6% prevalence of insulin resistance compared to 14.5% in 1st

Table 1.2. Human epidemiological studies of exposures to phthalates with weight status outcomes.

CHAPTER 2

Association of preterm birth with weight status and waist circumference in Mexico City youth

Abstract

Background: Preterm birth has been associated with adverse health profiles including impaired insulin sensitivity and increased truncal fat patterning in adolescence. In developing countries such as Mexico, changing environments coupled with preterm birth may deleteriously impact the development of health risks.

Objective: This study examines the association of preterm birth with adolescent obesity and markers of weight status and fat distribution among Mexico City adolescents.

Methods: Among 722 youths aged 6-17, we estimated differences in BMI and waist circumference by categories of premature birth (gestational age<37 weeks;N= 41;5.7%) using linear regression. In addition, we estimated odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for obesity during adolescence according to preterm birth using logistic regression models adjusted for adolescent age, sex, and mother's age, education, marital status, smoking during pregnancy, and obesity.

Results: Premature birth was not associated with obesity (OR=1.03; 95%CI:0.43, 2.39), but sex-stratified models show possible differences by sex, with a suggestive increase in odds of obesity for females (OR=1.33; 95%CI:0.33, 5.24) but decrease for

males (OR=0.89; 95%CI:0.30, 2.64). There were non-significant negative associations between preterm birth with adolescent BMI (β =0.03; 95%CI:-1.09, 1.15) and waist circumference (β =-0.43; 95%CI:-3.33, 2.48) in adjusted models. Odds of obesity (OR=4.54, 95%CI:2.78, 7.42), BMI (β =2.63; 95%CI:1.85, 3.40), and waist circumference (β =5.88; 95%CI:3.87, 7.88), were significantly increased if mothers were obese.

Conclusions: Preterm birth does not indicate an increase in later adolescent BMI, waist circumference, or obesity in Mexico City youth, but there are suggestive differences by sex. The direction of association for increased BMI and waist circumference suggests a need for further research in a larger sample size. Efforts to reduce obesity in this context should consider the child's sex, socioeconomic status, and weight status of the mother.

Background

Trends in child and adolescent obesity are of immense public health concern because early obesity tends to track into adulthood; children with a high body mass index (BMI) have similar health hazards as obese adults including insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and other cardiovascular disease risks (Freedman and Sherry 2009; Guo et al. 1994; Ogden et al. 2012; Sun et al. 2012). In countries such as Mexico undergoing a nutrition transition, shifts in environments and available resources may alter dietary and physical activity behaviors that lead to an increased risk of obesity (Popkin and Gordon-Larsen 2004; Popkin 2006). However, these social and behavioral changes may not fully explain the rapid rise in childhood and adolescent obesity seen in the past few decades.

Evidence suggests that the events and environments experienced in early life are associated with later adverse health outcomes; exposure to an adverse intrauterine environment is thought to stimulate the fetus to adapt for survival (Gluckman et al. 2007). If the fetus optimizes its predicted future survival based on the environment experienced *in utero* but the experienced environment is mismatched, the fetus may be maladapted, leading to future risk.

Most studies regarding birth weight or birth size with adult disease have focused on indicators of intrauterine growth while limited studies exist for those born preterm, which is itself a risk factor for adverse later life events in adolescence (Euser et al. 2005; Hofman et al. 2004). Prematurity is associated with catch-up growth (CUG) up to two years of age in infancy and CUG has been linked to an increased risk of obesity and insulin resistance in adolescence (Dulloo et al. 2006; Mericq 2006; Singhal et al. 2003). This compensatory acceleration of growth after truncated prenatal growth may serve as a method of adaptation for survival; being born preterm may be merely the stimulus needed to set the infant on a trajectory leading to future health risks. Therefore, preterm birth may be a novel stimulus that results in future health consequences and warrants further assessment.

The purpose of this paper is to determine the association of preterm birth and adolescent weight status, waist circumference, and obesity among Mexico City youth aged 6-17 years in a developing country where the shifting burden of obesity lends an additional complexity in assessing the development of obesity and health effects.

Methods

Subjects and Settings

The study population consists of participants from the 19-year Early Life Exposure in Mexico to ENvironmental Toxicants (ELEMENT) research collaboration with Mexico's *Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública* (INSP) that involves three prebirth cohorts. The recruitments (starting in 1994, 1997, and 2000) occurred at family clinics serving low-to-moderate income populations in Mexico City: Mexican Social Security Institute, Manuel Gea González Hospital, and National Institute of Perinatology. Cohort 1 was a randomized trial of the effect of calcium supplementation on blood lead levels during lactation, cohort 2 assessed effects of maternal lead burden, and cohort 3 mothers were enrolled in a randomized trial of calcium supplementation during pregnancy. Similar exclusion criteria were applied to all three cohorts such as living outside of Mexico City, gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, or pregnancy-related hypertensive disorder, as well as other criteria described elsewhere (Ettinger et al. 2009; Gonzalez-Cossio et al. 1997; Téllez-Rojo et al. 2004). Common recruitment methods allow for pooling of the birth cohorts for analysis. Follow-up of the three cohorts were maintained and the children now span pre-adolescence and adolescence.

Mothers were given detailed information regarding study procedures and signed a letter of informed consent at the time of initial and follow-up recruitment. The research protocols were approved by the Ethics and Research Committees of the National Institute of Public Health in Mexico, the University of Michigan School of Public Health, and other participating institutions.

Anthropometric Measures

At one-month postpartum, maternal height was obtained using professional scales (BAME Mod 420) read to the nearest 0.1 centimeter (cm) and maternal weight was recorded to the nearest 0.1 kilogram (kg). Current adolescent anthropometry at ages 6-17 years were taken by study personnel using established research protocols (Lohman et al. 1988). Weight (BAME Mod 420) was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg; height (BAME Mod 420) was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg; height (BAME Mod 420) was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm; waist circumference was measured with a non-stretchable tape (QuickMedical Model QM2000) to the nearest 0.1 cm. Duplicate measures were taken of weight and height while triplicate measures were taken of waist circumference; the observed values were then averaged. An additional measurement was taken if intra-personal variability exceeded the measurement tolerance of 0.5 cm.

Questionnaires

A questionnaire assessing social and demographic characteristics such as education, reproductive history, and marital status was administered by study personnel to the mother at the baseline visit.

Outcome Measures

Outcome measures were adolescent weight status, obesity, and waist circumference. Weight status is represented as body mass index (BMI), defined as weight divided by height squared $\left(\frac{kg}{m^2}\right)$, and obesity is defined using the World Health Organization (WHO) classifications with the child exceeding a standard deviation score of +2 (de Onis 2007). BMI and waist circumference were analyzed as continuous variables.

The WHO growth curves were used to classify obese status because these references are used as a standard reflecting how children grow under optimal feeding (Garza and de Onis 2004). In contrast, the CDC growth charts are a reference of how a particular population of children did grow during a specific time period in a specific location while the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) cutoffs are calculated from six diverse nations, using the adult BMI cut-offs for overweight (25 kg/m²) and obese (30 kg/m²) (Cole et al. 2000; de Onis and Yip 1996). We elected to use the WHO growth charts to categorize the weight status of the adolescent, which are in keeping with current and future studies.

A sensitivity analysis was also conducted for cohort effect, with the cohort variable included in the final models. Major findings did not change after adjustment (results not shown).

Predictor and Covariate Measures

Preterm birth (<37 weeks gestational age) was the primary exposure variable. Gestational age was estimated from the date of last recalled menstrual period by the mother. Covariates were chosen *a priori* based on biological and social relevance in

predicting the outcome measures or as potential confounders of the association between preterm birth and adolescent outcomes. They included baseline mother's age, years of education, marital status (married/not married), mother's smoking status during pregnancy (yes/no), obese status (BMI \geq 30) at 1 month postpartum, and child's current age and sex.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics and distributions were examined and extreme outliers were identified and removed using the generalized extreme studentized deviation method (Rosner 1983). Differences in characteristics of children who were followedup to adolescence versus those not followed-up were examined using the t-test for continuous and chi-square test for categorical measures (results not shown). For individuals followed-up and included in this study, the characteristics were stratified by sex and examined. Bivariate and multivariable analyses using linear and logistic regression models were conducted to assess the association between preterm birth and covariates with each outcome. Results were further stratified by sex to explore differences in associations.

Results

Table 2.1 shows the descriptive statistics for adolescents by sex. There were 41 preterm births, with slightly more occurring in males. Children were on average 11.3 years old and 51.8% male. Most (72.3%) had married mothers who were 25.6 years of age at baseline, mostly non-obese (86.6%), and averaged 10.5 years of total schooling. There were no differences in number of preterm births, child's age, BMI, and mother's marital status, smoking during pregnancy, age, obesity, and years of schooling between males and females. Males had significantly higher waist

circumference (69.1 cm) and were more obese (21.2%) compared to females (65.8 cm; 12.9%).

Bivariate linear and logistic regression models are shown in Table 2.2. For combined sex, marital status was significantly negatively associated with adolescent BMI (β =-0.83; 95%CI:-1.50, -0.15) and waist circumference (β =-1.91; 95%CI:-3.68, -0.13). This was also observed for males for BMI (β =-1.25; 95%CI: -2.23, -0.27) and waist circumference (β =-3.06; 95%CI:-5.67, -0.44). Mother's obesity was significantly positively associated with adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and obesity for males (respectively, β =2.47; 95%CI:1.22, 3.71, β =5.00; 95%CI:1.63, 8.35, β =5.00; 95%CI:2.67, 9.35), females (respectively, β =1.87; 95%CI:0.63, 3.10, β =4.37; 95%CI:1.22, 7.50, β =3.70; 95%CI:1.78, 7.64), and combined sex (respectively, β =2.18; 95%CI: 1.30, 3.05, β =4.68; 95%CI:2.37, 6.99, β =4.27; 95%CI:2.68, 6.80),.

Multivariable adjusted linear and logistic regression models are shown in Table 2.3. Preterm birth was not associated with odds of adolescent obesity (OR=1.03; 95%CI:0.43, 2.39) with the fully-adjusted model, but sex-stratified models show possible differences by sex, with a suggestive increase in odds of obesity for females (OR=1.33; 95%CI:0.33, 5.24) but decrease for males (OR=0.89; 95%CI:0.30, 2.64). In fully-adjusted models when stratified by sex, males were observed to have a decreased association with adolescent waist circumference (β =-0.79; 95%CI:-4.75, 3.16) and reduced odds of obesity (OR=0.89; 95%CI:0.30, 2.64) while females were observed to have an increased association with adolescent waist circumference (β =-0.37; 95%CI:-4.01, 4.75) and increased odds of obesity (OR=1.33; 95%CI:0.33, 5.24).

Mother's obesity was significantly associated with odds of adolescent obesity and increases in BMI and waist circumference for all combined and sex-stratified models. Mother's years of schooling was also significantly associated with increases with adolescent BMI (β =0.13; 95%CI:0.03, 0.21) and waist circumference (β =0.29; 95%CI:0.05, 0.52), which was observed in sex-stratified models with only males (BMI β =0.15; 95%CI:0.02, 0.27, waist circumference β =0.36; 95%CI:0.03, 0.67).

Discussion

Our results showed no association in Mexico City youth between preterm birth and adolescent obesity, BMI, or waist circumference. However, several other studies have observed associations between infants born preterm with obesity and related complications such as insulin imbalance and metabolic syndrome (Euser et al. 2005; Finken et al. 2006; Hofman et al. 2004). Low birth weight, like preterm birth, is an early life event that is a risk factor for later adverse health effects; in a study of young Mexican-Americans, it was found that birth weight was significantly and inversely related to truncal fat deposition and higher fasting insulin levels (Barker 1998; Hales and Barker 1992; Valdez et al. 1994). These studies were carried out in industrialized countries, so our lack of significance may also be due to the nature of the study setting.

Our significant findings that associate maternal obesity with later adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and obesity is not surprising, as maternal obesity is known to be a risk factor for later obesity in children (Symonds et al. 2013). Additionally, maternal obesity is associated with risk of preterm birth, heightening the detrimental effects that maternal body fatness may have on not only birth outcomes, but later health indices (Cnattingius et al. 2013). We posited that preterm birth exposes the fetus to an adverse environment which it is not developmentally prepared to encounter. In order to optimize survival in the short-term, the fetus undergoes adaptation in structure or function such as through insulin resistance or increased fat deposition (Gluckman et al. 2007; Mericq 2006). While this plasticity is advantageous for immediate survival, metabolic programming during critical periods of development may permanently alter the physiology of the infant (Finken et al. 2006; Hofman et al. 2004). For instance, one critical period for insulin sensitivity is hypothesized to occur during the early third trimester of pregnancy; disruption of this β -cell progression can lead to future insulin sensitivity (Bonner-Weir 2000; Hales and Barker 1992; Hofman et al. 2004).

While structural and functional changes in physiology may be difficult to assess, it is hypothesized that these adaptations take the form of CUG with preterm birth simply being the stimulus. Evidence suggests that CUG is a phase characterized by insulin resistance and that growth is primarily achieved thorough increases in body fat rather than lean tissue (Dulloo et al. 2006). This demonstration of early insulin resistance and relative increase in body fat may be the mechanism by which increased risk in adulthood is conferred.

Limitations of our study include possible misclassification of gestational age due to the reliance on using mother's recall of last menstrual period, broad range of ages for defining adolescence, and small sample size of preterm births. Selection bias was a possible concern, but the cohorts were observational in nature and analysis of differences between adolescents who were followed-up and analyzed with those who were not were not statistically significant. The strengths of our study include the ability to control for multiple confounding factors and the use of multiple endpoints that relate to weight status and adiposity.

Disentangling the complexities surrounding the etiology of obesity would benefit public health interventions aimed at reducing the numbers of obese individuals. While the causes of preterm birth remain mostly unexplained (Behrman and Butler 2007; Kramer 1987), intervention measures can be directed towards those that may be more modifiable such as maternal obesity. Given our hypothesis that rapid CUG is the physiologic adaptation, interventions could be aimed at preventing overfeeding of preterm infants in a misguided attempt to hasten their growth. In addition, knowledge that individuals who were born preterm have been found to be at increased risk for later obese weight status could enhance targeted intervention strategies for these groups. Future work in this area could be enhanced with a larger sample size and the use of repeated measures to determine the extent of CUG preterm infants experience and their relation with later weight status and adiposity.

Table 2.1. Distribution of characteristics by sex.

		Male		Female	
	Ν	Mean(SD)/%	Ν	Mean(SD)/%	<i>p</i> -value*
Child premature					0.37
Yes	24	6.4	17	4.9	
No	350	93.6	331	95.1	
Child's age (yrs)	374	11.4 (2.9)	348	11.3 (2.9)	0.41
Child's BMI	374	20.4 (4.3)	348	20.2 (4.1)	0.43
Child's waist circumference	074	60.1(11.4)	0.49	670(100)	<0.01
(cm)	3/4	09.1 (11.4)	340	0/.0(10.3)	<0.01
Child obese					<0.01
Yes	79	21.2	45	12.9	
No	295	78.8	303	87.1	
Mother married					0.35
Yes	276	73.8	246	70.7	
No	98	26.2	102	29.3	
Mother smoked during pregn	ancy				0.16
Yes	11	1.5	17	2.4	
No	362	50.5	327	45.6	
Mother's age (yrs)	374	25.6 (5.1)	348	25.8 (5.5)	0.60
Mother's BMI ^a					0.96
≥30	50	13.4	47	13.5	
<30	324	86.6	301	86.5	
Mother's education (yrs)	373	10.7(3.0)	347	10.5(2.8)	0.50

*p-value t-test for continuous, chi-sq for categorical a1 month postpartum

Table 2.2. Bivariate linear and logistic regressions estimating associations with	
adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and obesity.	

			BMI		Waist	circumference	Obese		
	Sex	Ν	β	95% CI	β	95% CI	OR	95%	
Preterm birth	All	722	-0.44	(-1.75, 0.86)	-1.58	(-5.02, 1.85)	1.18	(0.53,	
	Male	374	-0.60	(-2.36, 1.16)	-2.91	(-7.62, 1.80)	0.98	(0.35	
	Female	348	-0.27	(-2.25, 1.71)	-0.10	(-5.13, 4.92)	0.39	(0.40,	
Mother married	All	722	-0.83	(-1.50, -0.15)	-1.91	(-3.68, -0.13)	0.73	(0.48	
	Male	374	-1.25	(-2.23, -0.27)	-3.06	(-5.67, -0.44)	0.61	(0.35,	
	Female	348	-0.43	(-1.36, 0.51)	-0.93	(-3.30, 1.44)	0.91	(0.46,	
Mother smoked	All	717	-0.01	(-1.58, 1.56)	-0.07	(-4.19, 4.06)	0.95	(0.35,	
	Male	373	-1.19	(-3.75, 1.36)	-0.96	(-7.79, 5.88)	0.46	(0.13,	
	Female	344	0.71	(-1.27, 2.68)	0.04	(-5.00, 5.07)	2.42	(0.31,	
Mother's age	All	722	-0.01	(-0.06, 0.04)	0.01	(-0.14, 0.15)	1.01	(0.97,	
	Male	374	0.02	(-0.06, 0.10)	0.09	(-0.13, 0.32)	1.02	(0.96,	
	Female	348	-0.04	(-0.11, 0.03)	-0.06	(-0.25, 0.13)	1.01	(0.95	
Mother's BMI≥30	All	722	2.18	(1.30, 3.05)	4.68	(2.37, 6.99)	4.27	(2.68,	
	Male	374	2.47	(1.22, 3.71)	5.00	(1.63, 8.35)	5.00	(2.67,	
	Female	348	1.87	(0.63, 3.10)	4.37	(1.22, 7.50)	3.70	(1.78,	
Mother's education	All	720	0.004	(-0.10, 0.10)	-0.02	(-0.29, 0.25)	1.07	(0.99	
	Male	373	0.06	(-0.08, 0.19)	0.08	(-0.30, 0.46)	1.08	(0.99	
	Female	347	-0.06	(21, 0.08)	-0.17	(-0.55, 0.21)	1.03	(0.92	

Table 2.3. Multivariable linear	and logistic regressions	estimating adjusted	models of adolescent	t BMI, waist
circumference, and obesity.				

			BMI					Waist circ	ce	Obese				
			Adjusted model 1 ^a Adjusted model 2 ^{b*}				Adju	Adjusted model 1 ^a Adjusted model 2 ^{b*}				Adjusted model 1 ^a Adjusted model 2 ^{b*}		
	Sex	Ν	β	95% CI	β	95% CI	β	95% CI	β	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
Preterm birth	All	722	0.001	(-1.15, 1.15)	0.03	(-1.09, 1.15)	-0.46	(-3.42, 2.49)	-0.43	(-3.33, 2.48)	1.07	(0.47, 2.39)	1.03	(0.43, 2.39)
	Male	374	0.02	(-1.54, 1.58)	0.06	(-1.46, 1.58)	-1.06	(-5.07, 2.95)	-0.79	(-4.75, 3.16)	0.93	(0.33,2.58)	0.89	(0.30, 2.64)
	Female	348	-0.02	(-1.74, 1.70)	0.002	(-1.69, 1.69)	0.52	(-3.88, 4.92)	0.37	(-4.01, 4.75)	1.42	(0.38, 5.19)	1.33	(0.33, 5.24)
Mother married	All	722	-0.49	(-1.08, 0.10)	-0.50	(-1.09, 0.08)	-1.04	(-2.56, 0.49)	-1.13	(-2.65, 0.39)	0.67	(0.44, 1.02)	0.66	(0.42, 1.04)
	Male	374	-0.63	(-1.50, 0.24)	-0.51	(-1.36, 0.35)	-1.17	(-3.42, 1.07)	-0.95	(-3.18, 1.27)	0.57	(0.32, 0.97)	0.60	(0.33, 1.07)
	Female	348	-0.36	(-1.17, 0.45)	-0.43	(-1.26, 0.39)	-0.76	(-2.84, 1.32)	-1.12	(-3.25, 1.02)	0.90	(0.45, 1.77)	0.85	(0.40, 1.78)
Mother smoked	All	717	0.71	(-0.67, 2.09)	0.51	(-0.83, 1.85)	1.74	(-1.81, 5.29)	1.17	(-2.32, 4.66)	0.79	(0.28, 2.14)	0.65	(0.23, 1.83)
	Male	373	-0.47	(-2.73, 1.79)	-0.63	(-2.84, 1.57)	1.23	(-4.58, 7.05)	0.62	(-5.11, 6.35)	0.42	(0.11, 1.49)	0.35	(0.09, 1.28)
	Female	344	1.50	(-0.22, 3.21)	1.26	(-0.44, 2.95)	1.98	(-2.44, 6.40)	1.40	(-2.98, 5.79)	2.08	(0.26, 16.23)	1.91	(0.23, 15.69)
Mother's age	All	722	0.02	(-0.03, 0.06)	-0.01	(-0.05, 0.04)	0.09	(-0.04, 0.21)	0.04	(-0.08, 0.17)	1.01	(0.97, 1.05)	1.00	(0.96, 1.04)
	Male	374	0.03	(-0.04, 0.10)	0.01	(-0.06, 0.08)	0.12	(-0.06, 0.31)	0.08	(-0.10, 0.27)	1.02	(0.96, 1.06)	1.01	(0.95, 1.06)
	Female	348	0.01	(-0.06, 0.07)	-0.02	(-0.08, 0.05)	0.05	(-0.12, 0.21)	0.00	(-0.17, 0.17)	1.01	(0.95, 1.06)	1.00	(0.93, 1.05)
Mother's BMI≥30	All	722	2.62	(1.85, 3.37)	2.63	(1.85, 3.40)	5.90	(3.93, 7.85)	5.88	(3.87, 7.88)	4.24	(2.64, 6.82)	4.54	(2.78, 7.42)
	Male	374	2.77	(1.67, 3.85)	2.73	(1.62, 3.84)	5.88	(3.05, 8.70)	5.76	(2.87, 8.64)	4.93	(2.62, 9.23)	5.00	(2.60, 9.60)
	Female	348	2.46	(1.40, 3.52)	2.49	(1.39, 3.58)	5.84	(3.11, 8.56)	5.91	(3.07, 8.73)	3.42	(1.63, 7.14)	3.74	(1.74, 7.99)
Mother's education	All	720	0.11	(0.01, 0.20)	0.13	(0.03, 0.21)	0.27	(0.03, 0.50)	0.29	(0.05, 0.52)	1.05	(0.98, 1.12)	1.07	(0.99, 1.14)
	Male	373	0.15	(0.02, 0.27)	0.15	(0.02, 0.27)	0.37	(0.04, 0.69)	0.36	(0.03, 0.67)	1.08	(0.98, 1.16)	1.08	(0.99, 1.18)
	Female	347	0.06	(-0.07, 0.19)	0.09	(-0.04, 0.22)	0.14	(-0.20, 0.48)	0.21	(-0.14, 0.55)	1.01	(0.90, 1.12)	1.03	(0.91, 1.16)

^aAdjusted for chid's age, child's sex ^bAdditionally adjusted for preterm birth, mother's age, smoking status during pregnancy, marital status, obesity, education *N=715 for combined sex, N=372 for males, N=343 for females

CHAPTER 3

Bisphenol A and Phthalates Urinary Concentrations *in utero* and in Adolescence: Associations with Weight Status and Adiposity Differ by Sex

Abstract

Background: Childhood and adolescent obesity is known to track into adulthood, exacerbating future obesity burden. Environmental exposures to endocrinedisrupting compounds may contribute to dysregulation of weight gain and distribution, especially if exposures occur during critical periods of development.

Objectives: Assess the relationship between *in utero* and concurrent adolescent Bisphenol A (BPA) and phthalate metabolite exposures on adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfolds.

Methods: This study utilizes participants from the Early Life Exposure in Mexico to ENvironmental Toxicants (ELEMENT). BPA and phthalate metabolite urinary concentrations were assessed using linear regression with continuous measures of adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfolds. Quartiles of exposures were also examined following observations of non-monotonicity from GAM modeling.

Results: In *utero* exposures to continuous BPA and MBzP in females were significantly negatively associated with adolescent BMI z-score. Second and third quartiles of MEOHP, MEHHP, and MIBP in males, and MEHP, MECPP, MEHHP,

and MEOHP in females were significantly associated with adolescent outcomes. Concurrent second and third quartiles of exposures were significantly negatively associated with adolescent measures of BPA in males and for MCPP and MiBP in females. Significantly negative associations between concurrent continuous male concentrations of MEHP, and female concentrations of MBP, were observed with adolescent outcomes. Non-significant positive associations between female urinary concentrations of adolescent MEP and BPA and outcomes were observed.

Discussion: Significant non-monotonic associations of BPA and phthalates exposures in *in utero* and in adolescence with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold were observed, with differences by sex. Our results suggest that fat distribution for males, but not females, is influenced by pregnancy exposures.

Background

Bisphenol A (BPA) and phthalates are multi-functional materials used in everyday products, resulting in widespread exposure to these compounds and their metabolites in humans of both genders and all age groups (Adibi et al. 2003; Calafat et al. 2008; Callan et al. 2012; Frederiksen et al. 2011; Pirard et al. 2012; Silva et al. 2004; Taskeen et al. 2012). Notably, metabolites have been detected during pregnancy, with evidence of these metabolites in the amniotic sac and cord blood (Calafat et al. 2008; Callan et al. 2012; Cantonwine et al. 2010; Chou et al. 2011; Meeker 2012; Silva et al. 2004; Vandenberg et al. 2007a).

The Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD) framework considers early life exposures crucial to later health indices. Fat cell mass and number increase substantially in late pregnancy and exposures during this critical period, during which the organism undergoes rapid growth, could disrupt and alter physiological structure and function (Dietz 1994; Gluckman et al. 2008; Heindel and vom Saal 2009; Poissonnet et al. 1984). This increases risk of development of chronic diseases, including altered weight status, which could start in childhood. Accumulating evidence suggest these chemicals play a role in influencing physiology from the perinatal period, with animal studies showing environmentally-relevant effects on weight gain, adiposity, and alterations in satiety hormones (Angle et al. 2013; Wei et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2011).

Therefore, exposures have implications for development of childhood and adolescent overweight, which has been shown to track into adulthood. Overweight and obese children have many of the same health hazards as overweight and obese adults including insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and cardiovascular health risks (Flegal et al. 2010; Freedman and Sherry 2009; Guo et al. 1994; Lee et al. 2010; Ogden et al. 2012; de Onis et al. 2013; Sun et al. 2012). Studies have implicated these compounds to obesity, increased waist circumference and fat mass, alterations in adipogenesis, lipogenesis, and metabolic imbalance such as impaired glucose and insulin response (Alonso-Magdalena et al. 2005a; Carwile and Michels 2011; Hao et al. 2012; Harley et al. 2013; Hatch et al. 2008; Hauser and Calafat 2005; Hugo et al. 2008; Lang et al. 2008; Lind et al. 2012a, 2012b; Masuno et al. 2002; Newbold 2010; Ropero et al. 2008; Ryan et al. 2010; Sakurai et al. 2004; Shankar and Teppala 2011; Stahlhut et al. 2007; Teitelbaum et al. 2012; Trasande et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2012a, 2012b, 2012c; Wei et al. 2011). In addition, many cell and animal studies show effects at concentrations below calculated safe doses, making environmentally relevant levels a cause for concern (Alonso-Magdalena et al. 2005a; Hao et al. 2012; Marmugi et al. 2012; Vandenberg et al. 2007b).

Few human studies examine the associations between exposures to BPA and phthalates with weight status; of these, most are cross-sectional or are unable to assess the implications of early life exposure. Adult cross-sectional data suggest a positive association between exposures to BPA and phthalates with increasing BMI, waist circumference, fat mass, and diabetes (Carwile and Michels 2011; Hatch et al. 2010, 2008; Shankar and Teppala 2011; Stahlhut et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2012d). Of human studies examining prenatal exposures, only BPA has been assessed, and only up to 9 years of age: prenatal urinary BPA concentration were found to be associated with lower odds of overweight in males and females, as well as decreased BMI *z*score and percent body fat among females at 9 years of age. Another study observed that prenatal BPA exposure resulted in marginal increases in BMI and waist circumference in children at 4 years of age (Harley et al. 2013; Valvi et al. 2013). Among females 6-8 years old, a one-year prospective study showed increasing MEP quartiles were associated with BMI and waist circumference (Teitelbaum et al. 2012). Other cross-sectional studies in youth show positive associations between BPA and phthalates with odds of obesity, insulin resistance, central adiposity, and diabetes (Bhandari et al. 2013; Eng et al. 2013; Li et al. 2013; Trasande et al. 2012, 2013b, 2013c; Wang et al. 2012a; Wells et al. 2013). Studies report some differences in association by sex though results have not been conclusive.

Given the evidence that development of adiposity occurs early in life and can be influenced by exposures to endocrine-disrupting compounds, this study seeks to assess the impact in children older than previously reported. We examined the association of BPA and phthalate metabolite concentrations in maternal third trimester and adolescent urine samples with BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold in a cohort of Mexican adolescents aged 8-14.

Materials and Methods

Subjects and Settings

The study population involved participants from the 19-year Early Life Exposure in Mexico to ENvironmental Toxicants (ELEMENT) research collaboration with Mexico's *Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública* (INSP) that consists of three birth cohorts. Similar exclusion criteria were applied to all cohorts, as described elsewhere(Ettinger et al. 2009; Gonzalez-Cossio et al. 1997; Téllez-Rojo et al. 2004). Common recruitment methods allow for pooling of the cohorts for analysis and follow-up was continuously maintained.

Mothers were given detailed information regarding study procedures and signed a letter of informed consent at the time of initial recruitment and follow-up. The research protocols were approved by the Ethics and Research Committees of the National Institute of Public Health in Mexico, Harvard University and the University of Michigan Schools of Public Health.

Anthropometric Measures

At one-month postpartum, maternal height was obtained using professional scales (BAME Mod 420; Catálogo Médico) read to the nearest 0.1 centimeter (cm) and maternal weight was recorded to the nearest 0.1 kilogram (kg). Children's anthropometry were taken by study personnel using established research protocol(Lohman et al. 1988). Weight (BAME Mod 420; Catálogo Médico) was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg; height (BAME Mod 420; Catálogo Médico) was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm; waist circumference was measured with a nonstretchable tape (QM2000; QuickMedical) to the nearest 0.1 cm. Triceps and skinfold thickness were measured using a Lange skinfold caliper subscapular (Lange; Beta Technology) to the nearest 0.1 mm. Duplicate measures were taken of weight and height and triplicate measures were taken of waist circumference and triceps skinfold thickness; the observed values were averaged. An additional measurement was taken if intra-personal variability exceeded the measurement tolerance of 0.5 cm. BMI was calculated as kg/m². Age-specific Body Mass Index (BMI) z-score was calculated using the 2007 World Health Organization (WHO) data.

Questionnaires

A questionnaire assessing social and demographic characteristics was administered by study personnel to the mother at the baseline and follow-up visit when the children were 8-14 years old.

Urinary BPA and Phthalate Metabolites

A spot (second morning void) urine sample was collected from each woman during her third-trimester visit to the project's research center and frozen at - 80 °C; these were matched to urines from adolescents at follow-up. Samples were analyzed for total (free + glucuronidated) BPA and nine phthalate metabolites by NSF International (Ann Arbor, MI, USA) using validated modification of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) methods described elsewhere (Calafat et al. 2008; Lewis et al. 2013; Silva et al. 2007). The nine phthalate metabolites: monoethyl phthalate (MEP), metabolite of diethyl phthalate (DEP); mono-*n*-butyl phthalate (MBP), metabolite of di-n-butyl phthalate (DBP); mono-isobutyl phthalate (MiBP), metabolite of di-isobutyl-phthalate (DiBP); mono(3-carboxypropyl) phthalate (MCPP), metabolite of DBP and di-*n*-octyl phthalate (DOP); monobenzyl phthalate (MBzP), metabolite of butylbenzyl phthalate (BBzP); and mono(2ethylhexyl) phthalate (MEHP), mono(2-ethyl-5-hydroxyhexyl) phthalate (MEHHP), mono(2-ethyl-5-oxohexyl) phthalate (MEOHP), and mono(2-ethyl-5-carboxypentyl) phthalate (MECPP), metabolites of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP). Specific gravity (SG) of the urine samples was measured using a handheld digital refractometer (ATAGO Company Ltd., Tokyo, Japan).

BPA and phthalate metabolite concentrations below the limit of quantitation (LOQ) were assigned a value of LOQ/sqrt(2). Urinary concentrations were statistically adjusted for specific gravity to adjust for variability in urine output (Mahalingaiah et al. 2008; Pearson et al. 2009).

Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was completed using SAS version 9.3 for Windows (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). We used multivariable linear regression to assess the association of BPA and individual phthalates metabolites with continuous outcome measures (BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold), stratified by sex. Sensitivity analyses were also assessed for the outcomes of BMI and a sum score of triceps and subscapular skinfold, as it has been suggested that a sum score would be a better measure of adiposity in childhood and adolescence (Boeke et al. 2013). Results did not significantly differ; therefore, outcomes for BMI z-score and triceps skinfold are shown. Tables and Figures pertaining to BMI and triceps and subscapular skinfold results are found in the Appendix. Generalized additive models (GAMS) were utilized to visualize the relationship between BPA and phthalates metabolites with outcome measures; visual inspection and significant Analysis of Deviance *p*-values confirmed departure from linearity for certain metabolites (Figure 3.1). Therefore, results are shown with continuous and quartile exposure variables, with first quartile as reference.

Distributions of BPA and phthalate metabolite concentrations, uncorrected for SG, were analyzed at third trimester of pregnancy and at 8-14 years of age for males and females; comparisons were determined using Wilcoxon rank-sum tests. Spearman's partial-rank correlation coefficients and *p*-values for SG-corrected BPA and phthalates metabolites were calculated for males and females between the two time periods. Potential confounding factors identified *a priori* and retained in the final adjusted model included maternal BMI at 1 month postpartum and years of education. Descriptive statistics and distributions were performed and extreme outliers were identified using the generalized extreme studentized deviation method (Rosner 1983).

Results

Table 3.1 shows the sample characteristics. Mean age of males and females was 10.3 years. Females had significantly higher measure of triceps skinfolds (17.3mm compared to 14.4mm; p<0.0001). Mothers had a mean BMI of 27 at 1 month postpartum and averaged 11 years of total schooling.

Tables 3.2 and 3.3 show the distribution of BPA and phthalates metabolite concentrations uncorrected for urinary dilution for samples collected from mothers during the third trimester of pregnancy, and in adolescence, respectively. The majority of all pregnancy samples had detectable concentrations of BPA (26-36%<LOQ) and phthalate metabolites (0-11%<LOQ). Only BPA showed marginal differences between males and females (GM=0.9ng/mL females; 0.7ng/ml males; p=0.05). Compared to maternal third trimester urine samples, there were fewer adolescent samples below the LOQ for BPA (14-15%<LOQ) and phthalates metabolites (0-6%<LOQ). Geometric means were higher in the adolescent samples with the exception of MEP (108.9ng/mL in males; 114.5ng/mL in females in maternal third trimester; 66ng/mL in males; 97.5ng/ml in females in adolescence), and females had significantly (p=0.03) higher concentrations compared to males. Spearman's partial-rank correlation coefficients comparing SG-corrected BPA and

phthalates metabolites concentrations between the two time periods did not show statistically significant correlations (data not shown).

The associations between sex-stratified continuous measures of maternal third trimester urinary BPA and phthalate metabolites with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfolds are shown in Table 3.4. Mothers of females had adjusted urinary BPA and MBzP concentrations that were significantly (p<0.05) negatively associated with adolescent BMI z-score and were suggestively negatively associated with adolescent waist circumference. Additionally, the high molecular weight phthalate metabolites MEHP, MECPP, MEHHP, and MEOHP were non-significantly positively associated with adolescent waist circumference. Males exposed *in* utero to MBP, MiBP, MBzP, MCPP, MEP, and the high molecular weight phthalates metabolites MECPP, MEHHP, and MEOHP were non-significantly associated with increases in adolescent triceps skinfold.

Figure 3.1 gives evidence for non-monotonic associations between the sexstratified quartiles with adolescent outcomes; test for trend is non-significant for all metabolites except female BPA. All metabolites exhibited similar patterns across all outcome measures except for female BPA, MEP, MCPP and MBzP. Table 3.5 shows the associations between each quartile exposure compared to the reference quartile. Significant associations were observed for second and third quartile concentrations; in males, this occurred with MEHHP (2nd quartile β =3.70; 95%CI: 0.81, 6.59) and MEOHP (2nd quartile β =4.87; 95%CI:1.98, 7.76),with triceps skinfold, and MIBP with waist circumference (3rd quartile β =-6.07; 95%CI:-11.54, -0.60). Females had significant associations between MECPP (2nd quartile β =-1.21; 95%CI:-1.90, -0.51), MEHHP (2nd quartile β =-0.77 95%CI:-1.48, -0.06), and MEOHP (2nd quartile β =- 0.79; 95%CI:-1.49, -0.09) with BMI z-score. MECPP (2nd quartile β =-4.92; 95%CI:-7.96, -1.88), MEHHP (2nd quartile β =-3.99; 95%CI:-7.05, -0.92), and MEOHP (2nd quartile β =-4.22; 95%CI:-7.28, -1.15) were also significantly associated with triceps skinfold. MEHP was negatively associated with triceps skinfold (3rd quartile β =-3.92; 95%CI: -7.01, -0.83) and MECPP with waist circumference (2nd quartile β =-7.66; 95%CI:-13.57, -1.76).

Table 3.6 shows the associations between continuous measures of adolescent urinary BPA and phthalate metabolites stratified by sex with BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfolds at ages 8-14. Significant negative associations of male adolescent urine concentrations were found between adjusted MEHP with waist circumference (β =-1.95; 95%CI:-3.74, -0.15) and triceps skinfold (β =-1.17; 95%CI:-2.21, -0.12). Suggestive adjusted associations (p<0.1) were observed between MEHP with BMI z-score, and MCPP, MEOHP, and MEHHP with waist circumference. For females, significant negative associations between crude MBP with BMI z-score (β =-0.30; 95%CI:-0.54, -0.05) and waist circumference (β =-2.19; 95%CI:-2.19, -0.11) were observed. Suggestive negative associations were seen with MCPP and MiBP with waist circumference and MBP with triceps skinfold.

Comparing across the two time points show that the suggestive and significant findings in one time period was not found in the other. However, across time periods for males, all metabolites but MBP and MEHP were consistently negatively associated with BMI z-score and waist circumference. The positive suggestive associations seen for male MBzP, MCPP, MEP, MECPP, and MEHHP with triceps skinfold in the third trimester urines were reversed in adolescence. Female MBP, MCPP, MiBP, were consistently suggestively negatively associated with all outcomes in both time periods; reversal in direction of association from negative in third trimester to positive in adolescence was observed for BPA and MEP for all outcomes.

Adolescent sex-stratified urinary quartiles of urinary biomarkers and outcome measures are shown in Figure 3.3. Tests for linear trend were non-significant for all metabolites and outcome measures. Similar to quartiles of maternal third trimester biomarker concentrations, adolescent urine concentrations of metabolites exhibit similar non-monotonic patterns across outcome measures with increasing quartiles. Table 3.7 shows the associations between quartiles of exposure with adolescent outcomes, compared to the reference quartile. Significant adjusted associations for males were observed between BPA (2^{nd} quartile β =-0.82; 95%CI:-1.51, -0.13) with BMI z-score, waist circumference (2^{nd} quartile β =-0.45; 95%CI:-1.185, -1.04), and triceps skinfold (2^{nd} quartile β =-3.26; 95%CI:-6.46, -0.06). For females, significant findings were observed for MCPP with BMI z-score (3^{rd} quartile β =-1.17; 95%CI:-1.576, -4.54), and triceps skinfold (3^{rd} quartile β =-3.54; 95%CI:-6.63, -0.44), and MiBP with BMI z-score (2^{nd} quartile β =-0.91; 95%CI:-1.56, -0.24) and waist circumference (2^{nd} quartile β =-0.44; 95%CI:-12.68, -0.20).

Discussion

Principal findings suggest that prenatal and adolescent exposures to BPA and phthalates are differentially associated with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold by sex, which has been observed in other studies (Bhandari et al. 2013; Harley et al. 2013; Hatch et al. 2010, 2008; Teitelbaum et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2012a; Wells et al. 2013). Contrary to our hypothesized positive
association between urinary metabolites and outcome measures, significant results were mostly negative. Suggestive associations between continuous urinary metabolites and outcome measures were different between the two time periods and our findings also showed that, while some BPA and phthalate metabolites may be linear in their associations, division into quartile measures demonstrated that that is not true for all metabolites.

Quartile analyses revealed significant associations that occurred with second or third quartile exposures rather than the highest exposure quartile, compared to the lowest quartile. In the third trimester urinary concentrations, these significant findings were observed in both males and females with the high molecular weight phthalates MEHHP, MECCP, and MEOHP whereas, in adolescence, significant findings were different from those in the third trimester, as well as for males and females. In addition, continuous models of males and females were observed to be influenced by different metabolites in different time periods; the marginal increases in fat mass and distribution for females seen from adolescent urines were not observed from pregnancy urines while males only saw increases in triceps skinfold in relation to third trimester exposures.

Our cross-sectional findings of increases in fat mass and distribution from continuous measures of BPA and MEP exposures in females are consistent with other cross-sectional studies (Bhandari et al. 2013; Carwile and Michels 2011; Eng et al. 2013; Harley et al. 2013; Hatch et al. 2010, 2008; Li et al. 2013; Shankar and Teppala 2011; Stahlhut et al. 2007; Teitelbaum et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2012a, 2012d). For males, contrary to findings from Stahlhut et al. (2007) and Hatch et al. (2008), cross-sectional associations between increasing quartiles of male MBP, MBzP, MEHHP, MEOHP, and MEP in our population were not shown to increase waist circumference and, in fact, increasing quartiles of MBzP were observed to decrease BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfolds (Hatch et al. 2010, 2008; Stahlhut et al. 2007). In addition, our results contrast those found by Trasande et al. (2012) and Harley et al (2013), the latter of whom utilizes a Mexican-American birth cohort with participants now at 9 years of age; in males from that study, increasing tertiles of prenatal BPA exposure were found to non-significantly increase fat mass and distribution measures while we observed a significant decrease in outcome measures with the second exposure quartile, with increasing quartiles attenuating those negative associations (Harley et al. 2013; Trasande et al. 2012). It may be that our results are tempered by study participants entering the pubertal transition; associations may change depending on whether participants are pre- or post-transition, and may account for some differences in our results from other cross-sectional studies.

Prenatal (GM=0.8ng/mL) and adolescent (GM=1.3ng/mL) distributions of BPA in our study population are lower than that reported from the United States National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) for females (GM=2.9ng/mL) and Mexican-Americans (GM=2.9ng/mL) (Calafat et al. 2008). Pregnancy urinary BPA levels are also lower than concentrations found in other American and European populations (Braun et al. 2009; Callan et al. 2012; Harley et al. 2013; Philippat et al. 2012; Ye et al. 2008). Concentrations of MCPP were also lower in our population for the two time periods (GM=1.1ng/mL; 2.2ng/mL, respectively) compared to NHANES data (3.02ng/mL for all ages and sex; 4.54ng/mL for ages 6-11 years; 3.65ng/mL for ages 12-19; 2.31 for MexicanAmericans) (CDC 2013). Higher concentrations of MBP (GM=53.8ng/mL prenatal; 103.5ng/mL adolescent), MEHP (GM=5.1ng/mL prenatal; 6.0ng/mL adolescent), MEHHP (GM=19.2ng/mL prenatal; 46.6ng/mL adolescent), and MEOHP (GM=11.6ng/mL prenatal; 46.6ng/mL adolescent) were higher than concentrations in NHANES for MBP (14.6ng/mL for all ages and sex; 21.7ng/mL for ages 6-11 years; 18.9ng/mL for ages 12-19; 17.2ng/mL for Mexican-Americans), MEHP (1.59ng/mL for all ages and sex; 1.64ng/mL for ages 6-11 years; 1.82ng/mL for ages 12-19; 2.08ng/mL for Mexican-Americans), MEHHP (12.9ng/mL for ages and sex; 15.0ng/mL for ages 6-11 years; 15.3ng/mL for ages 12-19; 15.3ng/mL for Mexican-Americans), and MEOHP (8.02ng/mL for all ages and sex; 9.78ng/mL for ages 6-11 years; 15.3ng/mL for ages 12-19; 9.57ng/mL for Mexican-Americans). Compared to other study populations, phthalates metabolites in our study sample are lower, with the exception of MBP, MCPP, MEP, MEHHP, and MECPP, though these are not consistent across comparisons to all populations (Kasper-Sonnenberg et al. 2012; Philippat et al. 2012; Ye et al. 2008).

One limitation of our study is the use of a single spot-urine during pregnancy and in childhood. BPA and phthalates also have short metabolite half-lives, with <5-6 hours for BPA and <24 hours for phthalates (Koch et al. 2005; Völkel et al. 2002). Studies with repeated measurements find very low reproducibility (Braun et al. 2012a; Teitelbaum et al. 2008; Valvi et al. 2013). The distributions of urine metabolites in the third trimester of pregnancy and adolescence reported here are similar to those reported by our group earlier among a smaller subset of this study population (Lewis et al. 2013). The concentrations of metabolites may vary widely throughout the day and are influenced by a variety of factors. However, previous studies have shown that a single measure may be a relatively good measure of exposure due to the consistency of behaviors (Braun et al. 2012b; Mahalingaiah et al. 2008; Teitelbaum et al. 2008). Another limitation was our relatively small sample size, but this study supplied evidence of significant non-monotonicity of BPA and phthalate urinary metabolites with adolescent anthropometric endpoints and provided a baseline for future work utilizing a larger sample size. As with all crosssectional studies, it is difficult to assess temporality and results should be interpreted with caution. Individuals who are overweight may metabolize BPA and phthalates different than lean individuals, possibly leading to the observed positive associations in many studies. Overweight individuals may also consume more calories, or eat more foods packaged in materials utilizing BPA and phthalates, resulting in a higher exposure to these chemicals. Therefore, confidence in results from longitudinal studies is higher, where the issue of temporality is already established.

However, our study has several strengths. It is a prospective design establishing temporality, and the importance of early life exposures is well-known. The third trimester urine samples allowed us to assess the importance of exposure at a time of rapid development, and we had extensive follow-up of participants, permitting us to estimate associations at time points later than previously reported in the literature. Our findings show no correlations between maternal third trimester and adolescent urines, which may reflect differential sources of BPA and phthalates as well as differences in metabolism. For instance, it has been shown in our population that the use of personal care products by males and females in the previous 48-hours contributes to urinary phthalate metabolite concentrations (Lewis et al. 2013) In conclusion, we found that there are differences in association with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold between exposures to BPA and phthalates metabolites in the third trimester of pregnancy and crosssectionally in adolescence. Increases in fat mass and distribution with continuous measures of BPA and MEP concentrations in adolescent female urines were consistent with other findings, while these associations were reversed with maternal third trimester urines. Many of the metabolites exhibit non-monotonic relationships with the outcome measures and suggest caution in interpretation of linear associations. Our results suggest that fat distribution for males may be influenced by pregnancy exposures. Further work utilizing a larger sample size will allow for more in-depth longitudinal analyses.

Characteristic	Con	nbined Sex		Males		Females	
	Ν	Mean±SD	Ν	Mean±SD	Ν	Mean±SD	<i>p</i> -value
Youth's age (yr)	249	10.3±1.6	117	10.3 ± 1.5	132	10.3±1.7	0.95
weight (kg)	249	38.0±11.0	117	37.2 ± 9.7	132	38.7 ± 12.0	0.30
height (cm)	249	138.4 ± 10.7	117	138.6 ± 10.5	132	138.33±10.9	0.87
waist circumference (cm)	249	70.7±10.6	117	69.5 ±9.7	132	71.7 ± 11.3	0.10
triceps skinfold (mm)	249	16.0 ± 5.7	117	14.4 ± 5.3	132	17.3 ± 5.7	<0.001
BMI z-score	249	0.89 ± 1.2	117	0.91±1.1	132	0.88 ± 1.2	0.85
Mother's BMI 1 month postpartum	240	27.0 ± 3.9	114	26.7±4.2	126	27.2±3.6	0.31
years of education	245	11.0 ± 2.8	115	11.3 ± 2.8	130	10.8 ± 2.8	0.25

Table 3.1. Characteristics of mothers and adolescents in sample population.

						Percentiles							
Analyte	LOQ ^a	Sex	Ν	%>LOQ	GM (SE) ^b	10 th	25^{th}	50 th	75^{th}	90 th	95 th	Max ^c	<i>p</i> -value
BPA	0.4	Male	107	64	0.7 (2.0)	<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td>0.6</td><td>1.1</td><td>1.8</td><td>2.7</td><td>9.0</td><td>0.05^a</td></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""><td>0.6</td><td>1.1</td><td>1.8</td><td>2.7</td><td>9.0</td><td>0.05^a</td></loq<>	0.6	1.1	1.8	2.7	9.0	0.05 ^a
		Female	116	74	0.9(2.1)	<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>1.4</td><td>2.3</td><td>4.1</td><td>18.7</td><td></td></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>1.4</td><td>2.3</td><td>4.1</td><td>18.7</td><td></td></loq<>	0.7	1.4	2.3	4.1	18.7	
MBP	0.5	Male	107	100	53.3 (3.1)	11.8	25.5	58.0	112.0	204.0	318.0	1000.0	1.00
		Female	116	100	54.3 (3.5)	12.7	26.4	54.2	119.0	206.0	606.0	1190.0	
MBzP	0.2	Male	107	99	4.3 (2.5)	1.4	2.6	5.2	7.7	13.4	15.9	32.5	0.18
		Female	116	100	4.1 (2.7)	1.3	2.2	3.7	7.0	12.8	29.6	109.0	
MCPP	0.2	Male	107	94	1.2 (2.5)	0.3	0.6	1.3	2.3	3.4	4.0	12.1	0.36
		Female	116	94	1.1(2.7)	0.2	0.5	1.1	1.9	4.0	6.6	11.1	
MEP	1.0	Male	107	100	108.9 (2.4)	23.2	44.6	111.0	222.0	594.0	1130.0	7950.0	0.80
		Female	116	99	114.5 (2.8)	20.2	40.8	115.5	241.0	762.0	1900.0	9810.0	
MiBP	0.2	Male	107	98	1.8 (2.7)	0.4	0.9	1.7	3.6	6.4	8.4	40.1	0.33
		Female	116	98	2.0 (2.9)	0.5	1.0	2.0	3.6	8.6	12.6	33.9	
MEHP	1.0	Male	107	89	5.0 (3.5)	1.0	2.5	6.1	10.0	16.6	18.8	62.0	1.00
		Female	116	91	5.2 (2.6)	1.0	2.5	5.6	9.5	16.8	30.1	54.7	
MECPP	0.2	Male	107	100	31.9 (2.6)	8.6	19.4	33.7	58.3	107.0	125.0	193.0	0.99
		Female	116	100	30.9 (2.9)	9.7	15.1	35.4	58.1	107.0	138.0	251.0	
MEHHP	0.1	Male	107	100	19.4 (3.6)	4.7	10.6	16.9	42.7	76.4	95.2	167.0	0.83
		Female	116	100	19.1 (4.7)	4.9	9.1	22.7	37.5	67.8	96.7	161.0	
MEOHP	0.1	Male	107	100	11.6 (2.7)	3.1	6.0	11.2	25.2	46.0	49.9	85.8	0.83
		Female	116	100	11.6 (2.9)	3.2	5.8	13.3	24.7	42.7	56.1	133.0	

Table 3.2. Distribution of total (free+glucuronidated) BPA and phthalate metabolites in third trimester maternal urine (ng/mL uncorrected for dilution).

^aLOQ: limit of quantification ^bGM: geometric mean(standard error)

^cMax: maximum

*p-value from Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test for differences between males and females

					Percentiles								
Analyte	LOQa	Sex	Ν	%>LOQ	GM (SE) ^b	10 th	25^{th}	50 th	75 th	90 th	95 th	Max ^c	<i>p</i> -value*
BPA	0.4	Male	113	86	1.2 (2.3)	<loq< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>1.2</td><td>1.8</td><td>3.1</td><td>4.9</td><td>33.2</td><td>0.62</td></loq<>	0.7	1.2	1.8	3.1	4.9	33.2	0.62
		Female	129	85	1.3 (2.4)	<loq< td=""><td>0.6</td><td>1.3</td><td>2.6</td><td>5.0</td><td>5.8</td><td>20.1</td><td></td></loq<>	0.6	1.3	2.6	5.0	5.8	20.1	
MBP	0.5	Male	113	100	98.3 (2.3)	31.9	55.2	97.5	163.0	288.0	398.0	1150.0	0.46
		Female	129	100	108.3 (2.8)	30.9	59.4	109.0	224.0	373.0	615.0	6690.0	
MBzP	0.2	Male	113	100	5.5(2.2)	1.9	3.0	5.5	10.0	15.3	18.4	28.9	0.62
		Female	129	100	5.8 (2.5)	1.7	3.4	5.8	10.8	17.7	23.5	177.0	
MCPP	0.2	Male	113	100	2.1(2.1)	0.8	1.3	2.1	3.1	5.7	8.0	18.5	0.34
		Female	129	98	2.3 (2.8)	0.7	1.1	2.5	3.9	6.6	13.7	140.0	
MECPP	0.2	Male	113	100	65.6 (2.4)	27.0	39.0	62.5	101.0	166.0	219.0	12900.0	0.73
		Female	129	100	61.8 (2.3)	21.0	36.0	67.1	111.0	149.0	213.0	762.0	
MEHHP	0.1	Male	113	100	48.0 (2.6)	18.9	27.7	43.6	78.7	121.0	155.0	13700.0	0.77
		Female	129	100	45.4 (2.4)	15.7	23.9	46.1	86.6	133.0	189.0	543.0	
MEHP	1.0	Male	113	95	6.1 (2.8)	2.2	3.4	5.1	11.1	16.7	24.2	1910.0	0.60
		Female	129	94	5.9 (2.3)	1.9	3.6	5.5	11.4	17.4	19.4	77.3	
MEOHP	0.1	Male	113	100	21.3 (2.5)	8.4	12.5	20.4	34.4	51.9	74.5	6000.0	0.84
		Female	129	100	20.0 (2.4)	6.7	11.6	20.3	39.0	57.1	84.5	186.0	
MEP	1.0	Male	113	100	66.0 (3.5)	16.2	25.8	59.1	134.0	319.0	1120.0	2230.0	0.03
		Female	129	100	97.5 (4.2)	19.4	32.2	82.9	243.0	855.0	1230.0	4970.0	
MIBP	0.2	Male	113	100	9.5 (2.1)	3.4	5.7	10.0	15.6	23.9	36.5	100.0	0.24
		Female	129	100	10.9(2.3)	3.6	5.9	11.7	19.1	34.3	45.0	121.0	

Table 3.3. Distribution of total (free+glucuronidated) BPA and phthalate metabolites in adolescent urine (ng/mL uncorrected for dilution).

^aLOQ: limit of quantification ^bGM: geometric mean(standard error) ^cMax: maximum

*p-value from Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test for differences between males and females

		$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Waist cir	cumference	Tricep	s skinfold
Analyte	Sex	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^ь β(95%CI)	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^ь β(95%CI)	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^ь β(95%CI)
BPA							
	Male	-0.18 (-0.54, 0.18)	-0.19 (-0.58, 0.20)	-1.15 (-3.95, 1.65)	-0.89 (-4.13, 2.35)	-0.88 (-2.51, 0.75)	-0.57 (-2.47, 1.34)
	Female	-0.27 (-0.63, 0.09)	-0.36 (-0.71, -0.01)*	-1.96 (-5.03, 1.11)	-2.54 (-5.68, 0.61)	-0.05 (-1.65, 1.54)	-0.15 (-1.85, 1.55)
MBP							
	Male	0.03 (-0.20, 0.27)	0.02 (-0.22, 0.25)	0.01 (-1.81, 1.83)	-0.31 (-2.28, 1.66)	0.54 (-0.52, 1.60)	0.57(-0.58, 1.73)
	Female	-0.15 (-0.37, 0.07)	-0.1 (-0.32, 0.12)	-1.22 (-3.11, 0.66)	-0.93 (-3.02, 1.15)	-0.14 (-1.12, 0.84)	-0.25 (-1.37, 0.86)
MBzP	_						
	Male	-0.10 (-0.36, 0.16)	-0.17 (-0.43, 0.10)	-0.04 (-2.08, 2.00)	-0.64 (-2.82, 1.54)	0.62 (-0.57, 1.81)	0.41 (-0.87, 1.70)
	Female	-0.28 (-0.54, -0.02)*	-0.25 (-0.53, 0.02)	-1.84 (-4.01, 0.34)	-1.94 (-4.37, 0.50)	-0.01 (-1.15, 1.12)	-0.05 (-1.37, 1.26)
MCPP				<i>,</i> ,		<i>.</i>	
	Male	-0.02 (-0.30, 0.27)	-0.06 (-0.36, 0.23)	-0.13 (-2.35, 2.10)	-0.54 (-2.99, 1.90)	0.47 (-0.82, 1.77)	0.58 (-0.86, 2.01)
	Female	-0.19 (-0.48, 0.10)	-0.10 (-0.39, 0.19)	-1.46 (-3.94, 1.02)	-1.16 (-4.07, 1.75)	-0.35 (-1.64, 0.94)	-0.37 (-1.92, 1.19)
MEP					<i>´</i>		
	Male	-0.04 (-0.23, 0.14)	-0.04 (-0.23, 0.14)	-0.42 (-1.86, 1.01)	-0.45 (-2.01, 1.12)	0.26 (-0.58, 1.10)	0.39 (-0.53, 1.31)
NCDD.	Female	-0.09 (-0.25, 0.07)	-0.12 (-0.28, 0.04)	-0.45 (-1.85, 0.96)	-0.3 (-1.80, 1.21)	-0.03 (-0.76, 0.70)	-0.18 (-0.98, 0.62)
MIBP	Nr.1.						
	Male	-0.09 (-0.34, 0.17)	-0.12(-0.39, 0.15)	-1.11(-3.07, 0.85)	-1.32 (-3.52, 0.87)	-0.19 (-1.34, 0.96)	0.12(-1.18, 1.42)
MEIID	Female	-0.08 (-0.34, 0.19)	-0.09 (-0.36, 0.1/)	-0.55 (-2.85, 1.74)	-0.7 (-3.02, 1.61)	-0.25 (-1.44, 0.93)	-0.51 (-1./4, 0./2)
MEHP	Mala			0.40(0.55.1.59)	0.90(0.15, 1.40)	0.0(1.41.1.00)	0.00(160.104)
	Fomala	0.04(-0.23, 0.31)	0.03(-0.24, 0.30)	-0.49(-2.57, 1.58)	-0.83(-3.15, 1.49)	-0.2(-1.41, 1.02)	-0.32(-1.69, 1.04)
MECDD	remaie	-0.12 (-0.41, 0.10)	-0.08 (-0.30, 0.21)	-0.33 (-2.76, 2.12)	0.20 (-2.2/, 2./9)	-0.8 (-2.00, 0.40)	-0.09 (-2.04, 0.05)
MECFF	Mala	0.14(0.46,0.18)	0.18(0.40,0.14)	1.17(0.65, 1.01)		0.04(110.170)	0.41(110.105)
	Female	-0.14(-0.40, 0.18)	-0.16(-0.49, 0.14)	-1.1/(-3.05, 1.31)	-1.29(-3.90, 1.31)	0.34(-1.12, 1.79)	-0.0(-2.18, 0.28)
мғннр	remaie	-0.04 (-0.31, 0.24)	-0.04 (-0.31, 0.24)	0.30 (-2.00, 2./2)	0.05 (-2.30, 2.40)	-0.50 (-1.//, 0.05)	-0.9 (-2.10, 0.30)
MEIIII	Male	-0.00(-0.27, 0.18)	-0.1 (-0.27, 0.17)	-0.85 (-2.07, 1.27)	-0.60 (-2.06.1.58)	-0.06 (-1.20, 1.18)	0.12(-1.22, 1.46)
	Female	-0.09(-0.37, 0.10)	-0.1(-0.3/, 0.1/) -0.02(-0.27, 0.22)	-0.05(-2.9/, 1.2/) 0.24(-1.84, 2.52)	-0.09(-2.90, 1.90)	-0.22(-1.30, 1.10)	-0.58(-1.77, 0.61)
MEOHP	i cinuie	0.04 (0.29, 0.22)	0.02 (0.2/, 0.23)	0.04 (1.04, 2.02)	0.20 (1.99, 2.49)	0.00 (1.40, 0.00)	0.50 (1.//, 0.01)
	Male	-0.12 (-0.40, 0.16)	-0.12 (-0.39, 0.16)	-0.97 (-3.15, 1.20)	-0.89 (-3.24, 1.45)	0.17(-1.10, 1.45)	0.35 (-1.03, 1.72)
	Female	-0.04 (-0.30, 0.21)	-0.03 (-0.28, 0.23)	0.2 (-2.01, 2.42)	0.04 (-2.26, 2.34)	-0.37 (-1.51, 0.77)	-0.61 (-1.83, 0.61)

Table 3.4. Association of BPA and phthalates metabolites concentrations in maternal third trimester urines with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfolds at ages 8-14.

^aN=107 for males; 116 for females. Adjusted for age, sex, specific gravity ^bN=94 for males; 98 for females. Additionally adjusted for mother's BMI 1 month postpartum, years of education.

*p<0.05

Table 3.5. Multivariable linear regression of associations of adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold with quartiles of maternal third trimester urine metabolites compared to the reference first quartile.

				H	BMI z-score	e	Wais	st circumfe	rence	Tri	ceps skinf	old
Analyte	Model	Sex	Ν	β	95%	CI	β	95%	CI	β	95%	CI
BPA	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.10	-0.56	0.76	1.43	-3.78	6.63	1.63	-1.39	4.65
	Quartile 3			0.21	-0.40	0.83	0.85	-3.98	5.68	1.54	-1.26	4.35
	Quartile 4			-0.52	-1.24	0.20	-2.42	-8.05	3.22	-1.43	-4.70	1.84
	Ouartile 1	Female	110	Ŭ	Reference		•	Reference	Ũ	10	Reference	•
	Ouartile 2			0.40	-0.33	1.13	3.91	-2.23	10.04	-0.81	-4.09	2.47
	Quartile 3			-0.01	-0.71	0.70	2.09	-3.81	7.99	0.12	-3.03	3.27
	Ouartile 4			-0.75	-1.52	0.02	-4.26	-10.72	2.19	-2.12	-5.57	1.33
MBP	Ouartile 1	Male	102	,0	Reference		•	Reference	-		Reference	00
	Quartile 2			0.19	-0.49	0.87	1.71	-3.52	6.94	2.66	-0.41	5.73
	Ouartile 3			-0.15	-0.80	0.50	-2.10	-7.12	2.93	1.67	-1.28	4.62
	Quartile 4			0.05	-0.72	0.83	-1.37	-7.37	4.63	1.31	-2.21	4.83
	Quartile 1	Female	110	0	Reference	0	0,	Reference		0	Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.03	-0.66	0.71	-0.46	-6.16	5.23	-1.43	-4.33	1.48
	Quartile 3			-0.35	-1.10	0.41	-2.83	-9.14	3.48	-2.75	-5.97	0.47
	Quartile 4			-0.35	-1.12	0.41	-2.59	-8.98	3.80	0.05	-3.21	3.31
MBzP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference	0		Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.25	-0.95	0.45	-0.53	-6.02	4.96	-1.33	-4.57	1.91
	Quartile 3			-0.64	-1.35	0.08	-2.37	-7.95	3.20	-0.63	-3.92	2.66
	Quartile 4			-0.44	-1.16	0.28	-2.49	-8.12	3.13	-0.48	-3.80	2.84
	Quartile 1	Female	110		Reference		.,	Reference		-	Reference	•
	Quartile 2			-0.24	-0.88	0.39	-2.60	-7.88	2.69	0.06	-2.67	2.80
	Quartile 3			-0.33	-0.99	0.32	-1.24	-6.68	4.21	-0.27	-3.09	2.55
	Quartile 4			-0.39	-1.13	0.34	-1.79	-7.91	4.33	1.88	-1.29	5.04
MCPP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.03	-0.72	0.67	-0.22	-5.64	5.20	2.14	-1.02	5.31
	Quartile 3			-0.18	-0.92	0.55	-1.06	-6.78	4.66	1.50	-1.84	4.84
	Quartile 4			-0.03	-0.79	0.73	0.37	-5.52	6.25	1.65	-1.79	5.08
	Quartile 1	Female	110		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.11	-0.80	0.59	-2.44	-8.18	3.30	-1.93	-4.89	1.02
	Quartile 3			-0.07	-0.78	0.64	0.30	-5.59	6.20	-1.87	-4.90	1.17
	Quartile 4			-0.21	-1.06	0.63	-1.61	-8.56	5.34	-0.20	-3.78	3.38
MECPP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.23	-0.41	0.86	1.29	-3.65	6.22	2.02	-0.94	4.99
	Quartile 3			0.31	-0.40	1.03	3.00	-2.51	8.52	2.39	-0.92	5.71
	Quartile 4			-0.67	-1.47	0.14	-5.25	-11.48	0.98	-0.76	-4.50	2.98
	Quartile 1	Female	110		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-1.19	-1.89	-0.50	-7.66	-13.57	-1.76	-4.92	-7.96	-1.88
	Quartile 3			-0.15	-0.83	0.54	-0.45	-6.25	5.35	-1.94	-4.93	1.05
	Quartile 4	-		-0.25	-1.01	0.52	-0.02	-6.51	6.47	-1.31	-4.65	2.04
MEHHP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.49	-0.16	1.13	3.06	-1.90	8.03	3.70	0.81	6.59
	Quartile 3			0.21	-0.51	0.93	2.72	-2.80	8.25	1.85	-1.37	5.06
	Quartile 4			-0.32	-1.09	0.44	-3.69	-9.55	2.18	-0.48	-3.89	2.93
	Quartile 1	Female	110		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.75	-1.47	-0.03	-5.29	-11.29	0.70	-3.99	-7.05	-0.92
	Quartile 3			-0.21	-0.88	0.47	-1.08	-6.74	4.58	-2.27	-5.16	0.63
MELLE	Quartile 4			-0.06	-0.94	0.81	0.42	-6.91	7.74	-1.02	-4.77	2.72
MEHP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference	- (-		Reference	- (0		Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.01	-0.65	0.67	-1.42	-6.52	3.68	-0.05	-3.03	2.93
	Quartile 3			0.29	-0.39	0.96	0.83	-4.37	6.03	1.66	-1.38	4.69
	Quartile 4	East -1-		-0.05	-0.77	0.66	-3.01	-8.52	2.51	-1.34	-4.56	1.88
	Quartile 1	Female	110	e	Reference	0 -0	0.10	Reference	- (-	- 0-	Keterence	1.6-
	Quartile 2			-0.17	-0.85	0.52	-0.13	-5.86	5.60	-1.87	-4.81	1.07
	Quartile 3			-0.66	-1.38	0.07	-4.14	-10.10	1.89	-3.92	-7.01	-0.83
MEOUP	Quartile 4	M.1.	100	-0.09	-0.88	0.70	0.71	-5.89	7.31	-1.96	-5.35	1.42
MEOHP	Quartile 1	male	102	0.60	Reierence	1.00	0.6-	Kelerence	0 - 4	4 O=	relerence	
	Quartile 2			0.02	-0.04	1.28	3.05	-1.44	0.74	4.87	1.98	/./0
	Quartile 3			0.19	-0.50	0.87	2.08	-3.23	7.40	2.54	-0.47	5.50

	Quartile 4			-0.29	-1.07	0.49	-3.68	-9.71	2.35	0.00	-3.43	3.42
	Quartile 1	Female	110		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.77	-1.48	-0.06	-5.34	-11.32	0.65	-4.22	-7.28	-1.15
	Quartile 3			0.02	-0.68	0.72	0.00	-5.85	5.86	-1.49	-4.49	1.51
	Quartile 4			-0.39	-1.25	0.46	-1.89	-9.10	5.32	-2.01	-5.70	1.68
MEP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.20	-0.85	0.46	-0.05	-5.11	5.02	0.61	-2.42	3.63
	Quartile 3			-0.50	-1.17	0.17	-3.83	-9.01	1.34	0.39	-2.70	3.48
	Quartile 4			-0.44	-1.20	0.31	-3.19	-8.98	2.60	-0.54	-4.00	2.92
	Quartile 1	Female	110		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.49	-0.19	1.17	3.66	-2.01	9.34	0.47	-2.50	3.45
	Quartile 3			0.18	-0.52	0.88	1.81	-4.04	7.66	0.51	-2.55	3.58
	Quartile 4			-0.06	-0.75	0.62	1.07	-4.68	6.82	0.58	-2.43	3.59
MIBP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.01	-0.65	0.66	-0.61	-5.64	4.42	-0.16	-3.18	2.86
	Quartile 3			-0.61	-0.65	0.66	-6.07	-11.54	-0.60	-2.09	-5.37	1.19
	Quartile 4			-0.26	-1.00	0.49	-2.92	-8.64	2.81	-0.46	-3.90	2.97
	Quartile 1	Female	110		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.44	-1.15	0.27	-3.64	-9.51	2.23	-1.68	-4.76	1.39
	Quartile 3			-0.09	-0.81	0.63	-0.77	-6.71	5.17	-0.42	-3.53	2.69
	Quartile 4			-0.51	-1.31	0.30	-4.64	-11.30	2.01	-1.23	-4.72	2.25

Adjusted for age, specific gravity, mother's BMI 1 month postpartum, years of education

Table 3.6. Association of BPA and phthalates metabolites concentrations adolescent urines with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and sum of triceps skinfolds at ages 8-14.

		BMI z-score Crude ^a β(95%CI) Adjusted ^b β(95% -0.13 (-0.42, 0.16) -0.15 (-0.44, 0.1 0.09 (-0.22, 0.38) 0.12 (-0.17, 0.42 0.04 (-0.25, 0.33) 0.02 (-0.26, 0.3 -0.30 (-0.54, -0.05)* -0.20 (-0.45, 0.0 -0.10 (-0.40, 0.20) -0.07 (-0.38, 0.2 0.05 (-0.23, 0.34) 0.06 (-0.22, 0.3) -0.18 (-0.50, 0.14) -0.21 (-0.53, 0.11) -0.25 (-0.51, 0.01) -0.18 (-0.44, 0.0 -0.06 (-0.23, 0.12) -0.05 (-0.23, 0.11) -0.07 (-0.09, 0.23) 0.06 (-0.37, 0.2 -0.01 (-0.32, 0.29) -0.06 (-0.37, 0.2 -0.01 (-0.32, 0.10) -0.21 (-0.43, 0.0 -0.04 (-0.35, 0.27) -0.09 (-0.41, 0.2 -0.04 (-0.35, 0.27) -0.09 (-0.41, 0.2 -0.06 (-0.31, 0.18) -0.19 (-0.45, 0.0 0.09 (-0.24, 0.41) 0.05 (-0.27, 0.3)		Waist cir	cumference	Tricep	s skinfold
Analyte	Sex	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^b β(95%CI)	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^b β(95%CI)	Crude ^a β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^b β(95%CI)
BPA		• / • • · · ·	• • •	• • •	• · · · ·		
	Male	-0.13 (-0.42, 0.16)	-0.15 (-0.44, 0.14)	-0.34 (-2.65, 1.96)	-0.50 (-2.89, 1.89)	-0.45 (-1.79, 0.90)	-0.59 (-1.98, 0.81)
	Female	0.09 (-0.22, 0.38)	0.12 (-0.17, 0.42)	0.55 (-1.99, 3.10)	1.02 (-1.51, 3.55)	0.40 (-0.98, 1.79)	0.79 (-0.55, 2.14)
MBP							
	Male	0.04 (-0.25, 0.33)	0.02 (-0.26, 0.31)	-0.27 (-2.58, 2.03)	-0.21 (-2.51, 2.09)	0.70 (-0.64, 2.03)	0.74 (-0.60, 2.08)
	Female	-0.30 (-0.54, -0.05)*	-0.20 (-0.45, 0.06)	-2.19 (-4.27, -0.11)*	-1.54 (-3.73, 0.64)	-0.95 (-2.09, 0.19)	-0.30 (-1.48, 0.88)
MBzP							
	Male	-0.10 (-0.40, 0.20)	-0.07 (-0.38, 0.24)	-1.62 (-3.99, 0.76)	-1.20 (-3.67, 1.29)	-0.79 (-2.18, 0.60)	-0.53 (-1.99, 0.92)
	Female	0.05(-0.23, 0.34)	0.06 (-0.22, 0.35)	-0.17 (-2.62, 2.28)	-0.19 (-2.64, 2.26)	0.32 (-1.01, 1.65)	0.36 (-0.95, 1.67)
MCPP	_						
	Male	-0.18 (-0.50, 0.14)	-0.21 (-0.53, 0.12)	-2.05 (-4.64, 0.54)	-1.95 (-4.56, 0.66)	-0.70 (-2.22, 0.82)	-0.65 (-2.19, 0.89)
	Female	-0.25 (-0.51, 0.01)	-0.18 (-0.44, 0.09)	-1.73 (-3.93, 0.47)	-1.27 (-3.56, 1.03)	-0.49 (-1.70, 0.71)	-0.08 (-1.32, 1.15)
MEP							
	Male	-0.06 (-0.23, 0.12)	-0.05 (-0.23, 0.13)	-0.65 (-2.08, 0.78)	-0.55 (-2.02, 0.93)	-0.23 (-1.07, 0.60)	-0.19 (-1.06, 0.67)
MADD	Female	0.07 (-0.09, 0.23)	0.06 (-0.11, 0.22)	0.40 (-1.00, 1.80)	0.22 (-1.21, 1.66)	0.30 (-0.46, 1.06)	0.34 (-0.43, 1.10)
MIBP	14.1						
	Male	-0.01(-0.32, 0.29)	-0.06 (-0.37, 0.24)	-0.02 (-2.42, 2.38)	-0.24 (-2.67, 2.20)	0.24(-1.16, 1.64)	0.18(-1.25, 1.61)
MEIID	Female	-0.17 (-0.48, 0.12)	-0.16 (-0.47, 0.14)	-2.07 (-4.64, 0.50)	-1.94 (-4.56, 0.68)	-0.87 (-2.27, 0.53)	-0.58 (-1.99, 0.83)
MEHP	Mala						
	Formalo	-0.11(-0.32, 0.10)	-0.21(-0.43, 0.01)	-1.24(-2.95, 0.47)	$-1.95(-3.74, -0.15)^{\circ}$	-0.76(-1.75, 0.24)	$-1.17(-2.21, -0.12)^{\circ}$
MECDD	remaie	-0.04 (-0.35, 0.2/)	-0.09 (-0.41, 0.22)	-0.80 (-3.48, 1.87)	-1.14 (-3.03, 1.54)	-0.42 (-1.87, 1.03)	-0.50 (-1.99, 0.88)
MECFF	Mala	-0.06 (-0.21, 0.18)	-0.10 (-0.45, 0.06)	-0.68(-2.64, 1.27)	-1 48 (-2 54 0 57)	-0.26 (-1.40, 0.88)	-0.60 (-1.80, 0.52)
	Fomalo	-0.00(-0.31, 0.10)	-0.19(-0.45, 0.00)	-0.00(-2.04, 1.2/)	-1.40(-3.54, 0.5/)	-0.20(-1.40, 0.00)	-0.09(-1.09, 0.52)
менир	remate	0.09 (-0.24, 0.41)	0.05(-0.2/, 0.3/)	0.17 (-2.04, 2.90)	-0.003 (-2.01, 2.00)	0.05 (-1.4/, 1.5/)	-0.00 (-1.5/, 1.44)
WILLIIII	Male	-0.05 (-0.28, 0.10)	-0.18 (-0.42, 0.06)	-0.68(-2.54, 1.17)	-1 45 (-2 41 0 51)	-0.11 (-1.20, 0.07)	-0.52(-1.68, 0.62)
	Female	-0.05(-0.20, 0.19)	-0.10(-0.43, 0.00)	-0.00(-2.54, 1.1/)	-1.43(-3.41, 0.51) 0.24(-2.27, 2.86)	-0.11(-1.20, 0.9/) 0.17(-1.24, 1.50)	-0.53(-1.00, 0.03) 0.12(-1.28, 1.52)
MEOHP	1 childre	0.10 (0.21, 0.40)	0.07 (0.23, 0.37)	0.32 (2.30, 2.93)	0.24 (2.3/, 2.00)	0.17 (1.24, 1.39)	0.12 (1.20, 1.32)
1.120111	Male	-0.07 (-0.31, 0.17)	-0.21 (-0.46, 0.03)	-0.80 (-2.69, 1.09)	-1.63 (-3.62, 0.37)	-0.21 (-1.31, 0.90)	-0.65 (-1.82, 0.53)
	Female	0.04 (-0.27, 0.34)	0.03 (-0.28, 0.33)	-0.09 (-2.73, 2.55)	-0.03 (-2.68, 2.61)	0.08 (-1.36, 1.51)	0.07 (-1.35, 1.48)

^aN=113for males; 129 for females. Adjusted for age, sex, specific gravity ^bN=108 for males; 121 for females. Additionally adjusted for mother's BMI 1 month postpartum, years of education.

*p<0.05

Table 3.7. Multivariable linear regression of associations of adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold with quartiles of adolescent urine metabolites compared to the reference first quartile.

]	BMI z-sco	ore	Waist	circumfeı	rence	Tri	icep skin	fold
Analyte	Model	Sex	Ν	β	95	% CI	β	95%	CI	β	95%	5 CI
BPA	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference	ee		Reference			Reference	9
	Quartile 2			-0.82	-1.51	-0.13	-6.45	-11.85	-1.04	-3.26	-6.46	-0.06
	Quartile 3			-0.29	-0.95	0.38	-2.15	-7.38	3.08	-1.10	-4.19	2.00
	Quartile 4	Formala	101	-0.34	-1.11 Defense	0.43	-1.98	-8.04	4.08	-2.01	-5.60	1.57
	Quartile 1	Female	121	0.05	Kelerent	e 0.70	0.96	Kelerence	4 75	0.01	Reference	9 70
	Quartile 2			0.05	-0.02	0.72	-0.80	-0.4/	4.75	1.84	-3.21	2./9
	Quartile 3			0.14	-0.02	1.08	2 01	-2.13	7.42	1.04	-1.52	2.19
MBP	Quartile 4 Quartile 1	Male	108	0.34	Reference	1.00 PP	5.01	Reference	9.25	1.59	Reference	4.94
101D1	Quartile 2	inale	100	-0.49	-1.15	0.16	-2.12	-7.34	3.10	-1.05	-4.11	2.01
	Quartile 3			-0.16	-0.83	0.52	-1.35	-6.72	4.03	-0.28	-3.43	2.87
	Quartile 4			-0.20	-0.89	0.50	-2.56	-8.09	2.98	-0.12	-3.37	3.13
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference	e		Reference	-		Reference	9
	Quartile 2			-0.50	-1.15	0.15	-2.07	-7.58	3.44	-1.15	-4.11	1.82
	Quartile 3			-0.68	-1.39	0.03	-5.16	-11.31	0.99	-1.89	-5.20	1.42
	Quartile 4			-0.33	-1.04	0.38	-1.42	-7.46	4.62	-0.02	-3.26	3.23
MBzP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference	e		Reference	_		Reference	e .
	Quartile 2			0.01	-0.61	0.62	-2.10	-6.99	2.80	-0.24	-3.11	2.64
	Quartile 3			-0.31	-0.94	0.33	-3.11	-8.11	1.90	-1.68	-4.61	1.26
	Quartile 4	Formala	101	-0.19	-0.89 Defense	0.50	-3.52	-8.96	1.93	-1.10	-4.29	2.10
	Quartile 1	Female	121	0.05	Reference	e 0.60	0.07	Reference	- 01	1 - 1	Reference	4 6 1
	Quartile 2			-0.05	-0.50	0.09	-1.20	-5.07	5.01	1.71	-1.19	4.01
	Quartile 3			-0.02	-0./2	1.00	-1.39	-6.41	4.50	2.01	-1.01	4.73
MCPP	Quartile 1	Male	108	0.20	Reference	1.00 Pe	0.35	Reference	/.11	2.01	Reference	,
mer i	Quartile 2	intuic	100	-0.20	-0.87	0.46	-1.62	-6.86	3.63	-1.23	-4.30	1.84
	Quartile 3			-0.39	-1.12	0.34	-2.88	-8.63	2.86	-0.78	-4.15	2.59
	Quartile 4			-0.27	-1.02	0.48	-2.95	-8.96	3.06	-1.52	-5.04	2.00
	Quartile 1	Female	121	,	Reference	e .		Reference			Reference	9
	Quartile 2			-0.35	-1.03	0.33	-3.67	-9.40	2.07	0.10	-3.06	3.26
	Quartile 3			-1.17	-1.82	-0.53	-10.15	-15.76	-4.54	-3.54	-6.63	-0.44
	Quartile 4	_		-0.27	-0.96	0.43	-1.85	-7.75	4.05	0.21	-3.04	3.46
MECPP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference	e		Reference			Reference	e _
	Quartile 2			-0.21	-0.87	0.46	-2.97	-8.33	2.39	-0.20	-3.37	2.98
	Quartile 3			0.05	-0.67	0.77	-0.15	-5.95	5.64	0.63	-2.80	4.06
	Quartile 4	Fomalo	101	-0.41	-1.12 Deference	0.30	-3.70	-9.27 Deference	1.87	-0.82	-4.11 Deference	2.48
	Quartile 1	remale	121	0.10	o 96	e 0.49	0.00		165	1 90	A Q A	: 1.17
	Quartile 2 Quartile 2			-0.19	-0.00	0.40	1.87	-9.49	7.51	-1.03	-4.04	2.45
	Quartile 3			0.07	-0.65	0.80	-0.03	-7.02	5.16	-0.32	-3.61	2.06
МЕННР	Quartile 1	Male	108	0.07	Reference	e	0.95	Reference	0.10	0.02	Reference	90
	Quartile 2			-0.57	-1.21	0.07	-4.58	-9.71	0.55	-1.80	-4.81	1.21
	Quartile 3			-0.37	-1.07	0.34	-1.87	-7.47	3.72	0.38	-2.90	3.67
	Quartile 4			-0.21	-0.90	0.49	-2.68	-8.17	2.80	-1.03	-4.25	2.19
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference	e		Reference			Reference	e
	Quartile 2			0.12	-0.55	0.79	-0.44	-6.10	5.22	-0.38	-3.40	2.65
	Quartile 3			0.07	-0.61	0.76	1.18	-4.68	7.05	1.06	-2.07	4.19
	Quartile 4			0.35	-0.37	1.07	2.06	-4.10	8.22	1.39	-1.89	4.68
MEHP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference	e		Reference			Reference	9
	Quartile 2			-0.04	-0.67	0.59	-1.02	-5.99	3.95	-0.13	-3.03	2.76
	Quartile 3			-0.32	-0.98	0.34	-2.49	-/./6	2.79	-1.13	-4.20	1.95
	Quartile 4	Female	101	-0.38	-1.04 Reference	0.27	-3.60	-9.05 Reference	1.45	-2.50	-5.50 Reference	0.50
	Quartile 1 Quartile 2	remate	121	-0.20	-0.02	0.24	-2.00	-7.27	2.27	0.91	-2 57	2 18
	Quartile 2			-0.29	-0.93	0.34	-2.00	-0.24	3·3/ 2/1	-1 20	-4.41	1.82
	Quartile 3			-0.12	-0.87	0.51	-1 7/	-8.02	4 54	0.17	-2 10	2 52
MEOHP	Quartile 1	Male	108	5.13	Reference	e	-•/ 4	Reference	FUT	U.1/	Reference	9.00
	Quartile 2			-0.59	-1.26	0.08	-3.98	-9.34	1.39	-1.26	-4.42	1.90
	Quartile 3			-0.45	-1.11	0.22	-2.24	-7.56	3.07	-0.21	-3.34	2.92
	Quartile 4			-0.37	-1.08	0.34	-3.29	-8.93	2.34	-1.05	-4.37	2.27
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference	e		Reference			Reference	9

	Quartile 2			0.02	-0.64	0.67	-1.54	-7.06	3.97	-0.79	-3.75	2.17
	Quartile 3			-0.11	-0.84	0.62	-1.32	-7.50	4.86	0.57	-2.75	3.90
	Quartile 4			0.28	-0.46	1.01	2.06	-4.23	8.36	1.06	-2.32	4.44
MEP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference	ce]	Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.36	-0.97	0.25	-3.24	-8.05	1.57	-0.78	-3.62	2.06
	Quartile 3			-0.04	-0.65	0.56	-0.20	-4.97	4.57	-0.05	-2.87	2.77
	Quartile 4			-0.25	-0.93	0.44	-3.14	-8.56	2.29	-1.46	-4.66	1.75
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference	e	1	Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.23	-0.92	0.46	-3.04	-8.85	2.77	-0.52	-3.64	2.60
	Quartile 3			-0.31	-1.00	0.39	-2.57	-8.47	3.33	-0.60	-3.77	2.57
	Quartile 4			0.00	-0.68	0.69	-0.69	-6.49	5.10	0.58	-2.54	3.69
MIBP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference	ce	- 1	Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.07	-0.75	0.60	-1.20	-6.61	4.20	0.02	-3.14	3.18
	Quartile 3			-0.05	-0.75	0.64	-0.91	-6.38	4.56	-0.16	-3.36	3.04
	Quartile 4			-0.25	-0.97	0.46	-1.46	-7.12	4.19	-1.05	-4.36	2.26
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference	e]	Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.91	-1.56	-0.25	-7.61	-13.15	-2.08	-2.21	-5.24	0.83
	Quartile 3			-0.44	-1.14	0.26	-3.60	-9.52	2.31	-0.22	-3.46	3.02
	Quartile 4			-0.57	-1.30	0.17	-6.44	-12.68	-0.20	-1.47	-4.89	1.95
Adjusted	for age, specif	ic gravity, r	nother's	BMI 1 m	onth post	partum, ye	ars of educ	ation				



Figure 3.1. Generalized additive model results for the association of maternal third trimester and adolescent urinary concentrations with adolescent outcomes measures.

(A) Maternal third trimester urinary concentrations of MEHHP (ng/mL) in males with adolescent BMI z-score, (B) Maternal third trimester MEP (ng/mL) in males with adolescent triceps skinfold, (C) Adolescent male BPA (ng/mL) with adolescent BMI z-score, and (D) Adolescent female MCPP and adolescent waist circumference. Models are adjusted for specific gravity, child's age, and mother's BMI 1 month postpartum and total years of schooling. Figure 3.2. Sex-stratified associations of maternal third trimester urinary concentrations of quartile BPA and phthalate metabolites with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold measurements at ages 8-14. Point estimates and 95% confidence intervals are adjusted for specific gravity, child's age, and mother's 1 month postpartum BMI and total years of education.



Figure 3.3. Sex-stratified associations of adolescent urinary concentrations of quartile BPA and phthalate metabolites with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfold measurements at ages 8-14.

Point estimates and 95% confidence intervals are adjusted for specific gravity, child's age, and mother's 1 month postpartum BMI and total years of education.



Appendix

]	BMI	Waist cir	cumference	Sum	skinfold
Analyte	Sex	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^ь β(95%CI)	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^ь β(95%CI)	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^b β(95%CI)
BPA							
	Male	-0.55 (-1.50, 0.39)	-0.37 (-1.45, 0.71)	-1.15 (-3.95, 1.65)	-0.89 (-4.13, 2.35)	-2.18 (-5.50, 1.13)	-1.72 (-5.38, 1.95)
	Female	-0.57 (-1.68, 0.55)	-0.80 (-1.95, 0.34)	-1.96 (-5.03, 1.11)	-2.54 (-5.68, 0.61)	-1.96 (-4.45, 2.25)	-1.96 (-5.15,1.24)
MBP							
	Male	0.08 (-0.53, 0.69)	0.01 (-0.65, 0.67)	0.01 (-1.81, 1.83)	-0.31 (-2.28, 1.66)	0.25 (-1.91, 2.41)	0.35 (-1.88, 2.58)
	Female	-0.45 (-1.13, 0.24)	-0.35 (-1.11, 0.41)	-1.22 (-3.11, 0.66)	-0.93 (-3.02, 1.15)	-0.72 (-2.78, 1.33)	-0.21 (-2.20, 1.79)
MBzP							
	Male	-0.08 (-0.77, 0.60)	-0.28 (-1.01, 0.44)	-0.04 (-2.08, 2.00)	-0.64 (-2.82, 1.54)	0.62 (-1.80, 3.05)	0.21(-2.30, 2.73)
	Female	-0.75 (-1.53, 0.04)	-0.75 (-1.63, 0.13)	-1.84 (-4.01, 0.34)	-1.94 (-4.37, 0.50)	-0.97 (-3.35, 1.41)	-0.31 (-2.79, 2.16)
MCPP							
	Male	0.01 (-0.74, 0.76)	-0.05 (-0.87, 0.76)	-0.13 (-2.35, 2.10)	-0.54 (-2.99, 1.90)	0.25(-2.39, 2.90)	0.41 (-2.79, 3.19)
	Female	-0.56 (-1.45, 0.34)	-0.41 (-1.46, 0.65)	-1.46 (-3.94, 1.02)	-1.16 (-4.07, 1.75)	-1.41 (-4.11, 1.29)	-0.46 (-3.10, 2.19)
MEP							
	Male	-0.09 (-0.58, 0.39)	-0.14 (-0.69, 0.39)	-0.42 (-1.86, 1.01)	-0.45 (-2.01, 1.12)	-0.33 (-3.29, 2.62)	-0.53 (-3.51, 2.46)
	Female	-0.23 (-0.74, 0.28)	-0.25 (-0.79, 0.30)	-0.45 (-1.85, 0.96)	-0.3 (-1.80, 1.21)	-0.24 (-2.80, 2.32)	-0.34 (-2.83, 2.14)
MiBP							
	Male	-0.32 (-0.98, 0.34)	-0.29 (-1.03, 0.44)	-1.11 (-3.07, 0.85)	-1.32 (-3.52, 0.87)	-0.73 (-3.26, 1.79)	-0.73 (-3.28, 1.82)
	Female	-0.13 (-0.96, 0.70)	-0.11 (-0.95, 0.73)	-0.55 (-2.85, 1.74)	-0.7 (-3.02, 1.61)	0.02(-2.35, 2.39)	0.08 (-2.21, 2.36)
MEHP							
	Male	0.02 (-0.68, 0.72)	-0.11 (-0.88, 0.67)	-0.49 (-2.57, 1.58)	-0.83 (-3.15, 1.49)	-0.83 (-3.30,1 .63)	-1.03 (-3.55, 1.49)
	Female	-0.26 (-1.15, 0.62)	-0.10 (-1.02, 0.82)	-0.33 (-2.78, 2.12)	0.26 (-2.27, 2.79)	-0.89 (-3.55, 1.77)	-0.33 (-2.92, 2.26)
MECPP	_						
	Male	-0.26 (-1.09, 0.58)	-0.31 (-1.18, 0.56)	-1.17 (-3.65, 1.31)	-1.29 (-3.90, 1.31)	-0.58 (-3.18, 2.01)	-0.53 (-3.16, 2.09)
	Female	-0.004 (-0.86, 0.85)	-0.11 (-0.99, 0.78)	0.36(-2.00, 2.72)	0.05 (-2.38, 2.48)	0.06 (-2.35, 2.46)	0.12 (-2.22, 2.46)
MEHHP	_						
	Male	-0.19 (-0.91, 0.52)	-0.14 (-0.90, 0.62)	-0.85 (-2.97, 1.27)	-0.69 (-2.96, 1.58)	0.03 (-1.69, 1.74)	0.42 (-1.35, 2.20)
	Female	-0.01 (-0.80, 0.78)	-0.02 (-0.84, 0.79)	0.34 (-1.84, 2.52)	0.25 (-1.99, 2.49)	0.04 (-1.48, 1.57)	-0.22 (-1.70, 1.27)
MEOHP	_						
	Male	-0.24 (-0.97, 0.50)	-0.21 (-0.99, 0.57)	-0.97 (-3.15, 1.20)	-0.89 (-3.24, 1.45)	-1.40 (-3.72, 0.93)	-1.14 (-3.69, 1.42)
	Female	-0.02 (-0.82, 0.78)	-0.05 (-0.89, 0.78)	0.2 (-2.01, 2.42)	0.04 (-2.26, 2.34)	-0.44 (-2.93, 2.06)	-0.70 (-3.13, 1.72)

Figure 3.4. Association of BPA and phthalates metabolites concentrations in maternal third trimester urines with adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfolds at ages 8-14.

^aN=107 for males; 116 for females. Adjusted for age, sex, specific gravity ^bN=94 for males; 98 for females. Additionally adjusted for mother's BMI 1 month postpartum, years of education.

*p<0.05

		B	MI	Waist cir	cumference	Sum	skinfold
Analyte	Sex	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^ь β(95%CI)	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^ь β(95%CI)	Crudeª β(95%CI)	Adjusted ^ь β(95%CI)
BPA							
	Male	-0.13 (-0.90, 0.64)	-0.23 (-1.01, 0.56)	-0.34 (-2.65, 1.96)	-0.50 (-2.89, 1.89)	-0.83 (-3.56, 1.90)	-1.11 (-3.94, 1.71)
	Female	0.25 (-0.68, 1.18)	0.39 (-0.52, 1.30)	0.55 (-1.99, 3.10)	1.02 (-1.51, 3.55)	1.09 (-1.76, 3.94)	1.64 (-1.12 4.40)
MBP							
	Male	0.07 (-0.70, 0.83)	0.05 (-0.70, 0.81)	-0.27 (-2.58, 2.03)	-0.21 (-2.51, 2.09)	0.74 (-1.98, 3.47)	0.83 (-1.89, 3.56)
	Female	-0.91 (-1.67, -0.16)*	-0.62 (-1.40, 0.16)	-2.19 (-4.27, -0.11)*	-1.54 (-3.73, 0.64)	-2.57 (-4.90, -0.23)*	-1.40 (-3.80, 0.99)
MBzP							
	Male	-0.30 (-1.09, 0.49)	-0.19 (-1.01, 0.62)	-1.62 (-3.99, 0.76)	-1.20 (-3.67, 1.29)	-1.55 (-4.38, 1.27)	-0.96 (-3.91, 2.00)
	Female	-0.04 (-0.93, 0.85)	0.004 (-0.88, 0.89)	-0.17 (-2.62, 2.28)	-0.19(-2.64, 2.26)	0.52 (-2.22, 3.26)	0.57(-2.12, 3.25)
MCPP							
	Male	-0.55 (-1.42, 0.31)	-0.58 (-1.42, 0.30)	-2.05 (-4.64, 0.54)	-1.95 (-4.56, 0.66)	-1.87 (-4.95, 1.21)	-1.75 (-4.87, 1.37)
	Female	-0.82 (-1.61, -0.02)*	-0.56 (-1.38, 0.26)	-1.73 (-3.93, 0.47)	-1.27 (-3.56, 1.03)	-1.57 (-4.04, 0.90)	-0.76 (-3.28, 1.76)
MEP							
	Male	-0.19 (-0.67, 0.29)	-0.17 (-0.65, 0.31)	-0.65 (-2.08, 0.78)	-0.55 (-2.02, 0.93)	-0.60 (-2.92, 1.71)	-1.46 (-3.91, 0.98)
	Female	0.24 (-0.27, 0.75)	0.14 (-0.37, 0.66)	0.40 (-1.00, 1.80)	0.22 (-1.21, 1.66)	0.03(-3.11, 3.17)	-0.19 (-3.26, 2.88)
MIBP							
	Male	-0.003 (-0.80, 0.80)	-0.12 (-0.92, 0.68)	-0.02 (-2.42, 2.38)	-0.24 (-2.67, 2.20)	-0.40 (-2.60, 1.81)	-1.22 (-3.56, 1.12)
	Female	-0.61 (-1.55, 0.33)	-0.56 (-1.50, 0.39)	-2.07 (-4.64, 0.50)	-1.94 (-4.56, 0.68)	0.29 (-2.64, 3.22)	0.21 (-2.65, 3.07)
MEHP							
	Male	-0.25 (-0.82, 0.32)	-0.56 (-1.15, 0.03)	-1.24 (-2.95, 0.47)	-1.95 (-3.74, -0.15)*	-1.62 (-3.64, 0.40)	-2.46 (-4.58, -0.33)
	Female	-0.22 (-1.19, 0.76)	-0.38 (-1.35, 0.58)	-0.80 (-3.48, 1.87)	-1.14 (-3.83, 1.54)	-0.99 (-3.99, 1.99)	-1.41 (-4.35, 1.62)
MECPP							
	Male	-0.11 (-0.76, 0.54)	-0.44 (-1.11, 0.24)	-0.68 (-2.64, 1.27)	-1.48 (-3.54, 0.57)	-0.57 (-2.82, 1.67)	-1.46 (-3.85, 0.92)
	Female	0.11 (-0.92, 1.13)	0.04 (-0.97, 1.04)	0.17 (-2.64, 2.96)	-0.003 (-2.81, 2.80)	-0.14 (-3.10, 2.82)	-0.09 (-2.99, 2.80)
MEHHP							
	Male	-0.08 (-0.70, 0.54)	-0.41 (-1.06, 0.23)	-0.68 (-2.54, 1.17)	-1.45 (-3.41, 0.51)	-0.87 (-2.57, 0.82)	-0.77 (-2.52, 0.98)
	Female	0.09 (-0.87, 1.04)	0.06 (-0.88, 0.99)	0.32 (-2.30, 2.93)	0.24 (-2.37, 2.86)	0.40 (-1.17, 1.97)	0.19 (-1.38, 1.76)
MEOHP							
	Male	-0.13 (-0.76, 0.51)	-0.47 (-1.13, 0.18)	-0.80 (-2.69, 1.09)	-1.63 (-3.62, 0.37)	0.13 (-2.71, 2.98)	0.04 (-2.85, 2.94)
	Female	-0.10 (-1.06, 0.87)	-0.08 (-1.03, 0.87)	-0.09 (-2.73, 2.55)	-0.03 (-2.68, 2.61)	-2.06 (-4.94, 0.83)	-1.56 (-4.44, 1.31)

Figure 3.5. Association of BPA and phthalates metabolites concentrations in adolescent urines with adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfolds at ages 8-14.

^aN=113for males; 129 for females. Adjusted for age, sex, specific gravity ^bN=108 for males; 121 for females. Additionally adjusted for mother's BMI 1 month postpartum, years of education.

*p<0.05

Figure 3.6. Multivariable linear regression of associations of adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold with quartiles of maternal third trimester urine metabolites compared to the reference first quartile.

					BMI		Wais	t circumfe	rence	Sı	ım skinfo	lda
Analyte	Model	Sex	Ν	β	95%	CI	β	95%	CI	β	95%	CI
BPA	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.55	-1.17	2.26	1.43	-3.78	6.63	3.39	-2.76	9.54
	Quartile 3			0.35	-1.24	1.93	0.85	-3.98	5.68	2.26	-3.46	7.97
	Quartile 4	Fomalo	110	-1.24	-3.09 Poforon <i>c</i> o	0.62	-2.42	-8.05 Poforon <i>o</i> o	3.22	-3.51	-10.17	3.10
	Quartile 2	remate	110	1.35	-0.83	3.54	3.01	-2.23	10.04	0.06	-6.63	6.74
	Quartile 3			0.88	-1.22	2.98	2.09	-3.81	7.99	0.27	-6.16	6.70
	Quartile 4			-1.63	-3.92	2.98	-4.26	-10.72	2.19	-5.36	-12.39	1.68
MBP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	1
	Quartile 2			0.71	-1.03	2.46	1.71	-3.52	6.94	4.16	-2.11	10.44
	Quartile 3			-0.34	-2.02	1.34	-2.10	-7.12	2.93	0.35	-5.68	6.37
	Quartile 4	Female	110	0.03	-1.97 Reference	2.03	-1.3/	-/.3/ Reference	4.03	0.00	-/.13 Reference	7.24
	Quartile 2	remate	110	0.17	-1.86	2.20	-0.46	-6.16	5.23	-1.01	-7.03	5.01
	Quartile 3			-0.61	-2.86	1.64	-2.83	-9.14	3.48	-5.25	-11.92	1.42
	Quartile 4			-1.05	-3.33	1.24	-2.59	-8.98	3.80	-0.60	-7.36	6.15
MBzP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.46	-2.27	1.35	-0.53	-6.02	4.96	-2.51	-9.10	4.09
	Quartile 3			-1.42	-3.26	0.42	-2.37	-7.95	3.20	-2.66	-9.35	4.04
	Quartile 4 Quartile 1	Female	110	-0.84	-2.70 Reference	1.02	-2.49	-0.12 Reference	3.13	-1.91	-0.07 Reference	4.04
	Quartile 2	1 cilluic	110	-0.72	-2.61	1.17	-2.60	-7.88	2.69	-1.79	-7.42	3.84
	Quartile 3			-0.76	-2.70	1.19	-1.24	-6.68	4.21	-1.21	-7.01	4.59
	Quartile 4			-1.01	-3.20	1.18	-1.79	-7.91	4.33	2.23	-4.29	8.75
MCPP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.09	-1.72	1.89	-0.22	-5.64	5.20	2.93	-3.54	9.41
	Quartile 3			0.08	-1.82	1.99	-1.06	-6.78	4.66	1.76	-5.08	8.60
	Quartile 4 Quartile 1	Female	110	0.02	-1.94 Reference	1.90	0.37	-5.52 Reference	0.25	1.05	-5.10 Reference	0.09
	Quartile 2	i cinuic	110	-0.23	-2.30	1.83	-2.44	-8.18	3.30	-4.45	-10.55	1.64
	Quartile 3			0.04	-2.07	2.16	0.30	-5.59	6.20	-2.74	-8.99	3.52
	Quartile 4			-0.45	-2.95	2.05	-1.61	-8.56	5.34	-1.21	-8.59	6.18
MECPP	Quartile 1	Male	102	_	Reference	_		Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			0.84	-0.80	2.48	1.29	-3.65	6.22	3.60	-2.38	9.59
	Quartile 3			1.41	-0.43	3.24	3.00	-2.51	8.52	4.35	-2.34	11.04
	Quartile 4 Quartile 1	Female	110	-1.24	Reference	0.03	-525	Reference	0.90	-3.49	Reference	4.00
	Quartile 2	1 cilluic	110	-3.29	-5.37	-1.20	-7.66	-13.57	-1.76	-9.11	-15.41	-2.81
	Quartile 3			-0.21	-2.25	1.84	-0.45	-6.25	5.35	-1.60	-7.78	4.58
	Quartile 4	_		-0.55	-2.84	1.73	-0.02	-6.51	6.47	-1.53	-8.45	5.38
MEHHP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference	0		Reference	
	Quartile 2			1.62	-0.02	3.26	3.06	-1.90	8.03	6.51	0.64	12.37
	Quartile 3 Quartile 4			-0.72	-0.85	2.01	-2.72	-2.80	0.25 2.18	2.94	-3.50	9.40
	Ouartile 1	Female	110	0./2	Reference	1.23	3.09	Reference	2.10	3.13	Reference	3.//
	Quartile 2			-2.06	-4.20	0.09	-5.29	-11.29	0.70	-7.40	-13.74	-1.05
	Quartile 3			-0.54	-2.56	1.48	-1.08	-6.74	4.58	-2.20	-8.19	3.78
	Quartile 4			-0.20	-2.82	2.41	0.42	-6.91	7.74	-0.91	-8.66	6.84
MEHP	Quartile 1	Male	102	a a 0	Reference			Reference	a (0		Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.38	-2.08	1.32	-1.42	-6.52	3.68	-0.53	-0.59	5.53
	Quartile 3			-0.44	-2.27	2.30	-2 01	-4.3/	2 51	-2.50	-3.02	0./4 2.77
	Quartile 1	Female	110	0.44	Reference	1.40	0.01	Reference		3.70	Reference	-•//
	Quartile 2			-0.27	-2.32	1.79	-0.13	-5.86	5.60	-2.29	-8.36	3.78
	Quartile 3			-1.58	-3.74	0.57	-4.14	-10.16	1.89	-6.78	-13.17	-0.39
	Quartile 4			0.00	-2.36	2.37	0.71	-5.89	7.31	-1.51	-8.50	5.48
меонр	Quartile 1	Male	102	. 0/	Reterence	o	o (-	Reference	0	0.4-	Reference	44-0
	Quartile 2			1.80	0.10	3.54	3.05	-1.44	ð.74 7.40	0.07 2.54	2.75	14.58
	Quartile 3			-0.66	-2.65	2.30 1.22	-2.00	-3.∠3 -0.71	2.25	১·04 -2 21	-2.03	9.70 4.70
	Quartile 1	Female	110	5.00	Reference		0.00	Reference	00		Reference	17.2

	Quartile 2			-1.87	-4.02	0.27	-5.34	-11.32	0.65	-6.78	-13.14	-0.42
	Quartile 3			-0.02	-2.12	2.08	0.00	-5.85	5.86	-0.64	-6.85	5.58
	Quartile 4			-0.88	-3.46	1.70	-1.89	-9.10	5.32	-2.61	-10.27	5.04
MEP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	9
	Quartile 2			-0.36	-2.05	1.34	-0.05	-5.11	5.02	0.25	-5.90	6.40
	Quartile 3			-0.97	-2.70	0.77	-3.83	-9.01	1.34	-0.68	-6.97	5.60
	Quartile 4			-1.07	-3.02	0.87	-3.19	-8.98	2.60	-2.79	-9.83	4.25
	Quartile 1	Female	110		Reference			Reference			Reference	2
	Quartile 2			1.41	-0.61	3.43	3.66	-2.01	9.34	2.59	-3.50	8.69
	Quartile 3			0.73	-1.35	2.81	1.81	-4.04	7.66	2.23	-4.05	8.51
	Quartile 4			-0.19	-2.23	1.86	1.07	-4.68	6.82	1.78	-4.38	7.95
MIBP	Quartile 1	Male	102		Reference			Reference			Reference	2
	Quartile 2			-0.03	-1.72	1.66	-0.61	-5.64	4.42	-1.44	-7.52	4.65
	Quartile 3			-1.53	-3.37	0.30	-6.07	-11.54	-0.60	-6.33	-12.94	0.29
	Quartile 4			-0.90	-2.83	1.02	-2.92	-8.64	2.81	-4.26	-11.18	2.67
	Quartile 1	Female	110	Reference		Reference			Reference			
	Quartile 2			-1.10	-3.20	1.91	-3.64	-9.51	2.23	-2.90	-9.22	3.42
	Quartile 3			0.13	-2.00	2.26	-0.77	-6.71	5.17	-0.32	-6.71	6.08
	Quartile 4			-1.14	-3.53	1.25	-4.64	-11.30	2.01	-3.11	-10.28	4.05

^aSum of triceps and subscapular skinfold measurements Adjusted for age, specific gravity, mother's BMI 1 month postpartum, years of education

Figure 3.7. Multivariable linear regression of associations of adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfold with quartiles of adolescent urine metabolites compared to the reference first quartile.

				BMI			Waist circumference			Sum skinfolds ^a		
Analyte	Model	Sex	Ν	β 95% CI			β 95% CI			β 95% CI		
BPA	Quartile 1	Male 108			Reference		,	Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-2.19	-3.95	-0.43	-6.45	-11.85	-1.04	-7.24	-13.69	-0.77
	Quartile 3			-0.54	-2.25	1.17	-2.15	-7.38	3.08	-1.91	-8.15	4.33
	Quartile 4	Female	101	-0.08	-2.00 Reference	1.30	-1.98	-0.04 Reference	4.08	-3.01	-10.04 Reference	3.03
	Quartile 2	Feiliale	121	0.02	-1 00	2.05	-0.86	-6 47	4 75	-0.80	-7.05	5 27
	Quartile 2			0.03	-2.02	2.05	1 15	-5.12	4./5	1 22	-5.66	3·2/ 8 11
	Quartile 3 Quartile 4			1.14	-1.11	2.38	3.01	-3.23	0.25	3.27	-3.58	10.12
MBP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference	0.00	0.01	Reference	<u>y</u> 5	J.=/	Reference	1011
	Quartile 2			-1.14	-2.84	0.57	-2.12	-7.34	3.10	-3.44	-9.63	2.75
	Quartile 3			-0.47	-2.23	1.28	-1.35	-6.72	4.03	-1.21	-7.59	5.16
	Quartile 4			-0.53	-2.33	1.28	-2.56	-8.09	2.98	-1.85	-8.42	4.72
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-1.04	-3.01	0.93	-2.07	-7.58	3.44	-2.99	-9.03	3.04
	Quartile 3			-2.28	-4.47	-0.08	-5.16	-11.31	0.99	-5.82	-12.55	0.91
	Quartile 4			-0.69	-2.85	1.47	-1.42	-7.46	4.62	-1.45	-8.06	5.16
MBZP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.07	-1.69	1.54	-2.10	-6.99	2.80	-2.34	-8.18	3.51
	Quartile 3			-0.72	-2.37	0.93	-3.11	-8.11	1.90	-3.23	-9.21	2.74
	Quartile 4	Female	101	-0.04	-2.43 Reference	1.10	-3.52	-0.90 Reference	1.93	-2.93	-9.42 Reference	3.57
	Quartile 2	remate	121	0.10	-1 77	9 1E	0.27	-5.07	E 81	1 59	-4.42	7 40
	Quartile 2			-0.21	-2.25	1 02	-1 20	-3.07	2.01 4.56	1.55	-4.43	7.49 8.01
	Quartile 3 Quartile 4			0.56	-1.87	2.00	0.35	-6.41	7.11	3.27	-4.13	10.67
MCPP	Quartile 1	Male	108	0.90	Reference		0.00	Reference	/•11	J.=/	Reference	10.07
	Quartile 2			-0.81	-2.53	0.91	-1.62	-6.86	3.63	-2.45	-8.69	3.79
	Quartile 3			-0.90	-2.79	0.98	-2.88	-8.63	2.86	-2.78	-9.62	4.06
	Quartile 4			-0.91	-2.88	1.06	-2.95	-8.96	3.06	-3.29	-10.44	3.86
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.95	-3.00	1.09	-3.67	-9.40	2.07	-1.24	-7.57	5.10
	Quartile 3			-3.82	-5.82	-1.82	-10.15	-15.76	-4.54	-9.69	-15.89	-3.49
	Quartile 4			-0.71	-2.81	1.40	-1.85	-7.75	4.05	-0.59	-7.10	5.93
MECPP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.79	-2.57	0.98	-2.97	-8.33	2.39	-0.20	-3.37	2.97
	Quartile 3			-0.15	-2.07	1.76	-0.15	-5.95	5.64	0.63	-2.79	4.06
	Quartile 4	Fomalo	101	-0.87	-2.71 Poforonco	0.97	-3.70	-9.27 Poforonao	1.87	-0.82	-4.11 Poforonco	2.48
	Quartile 2	remate	121	-1.02	-2.04	0.00	-2.02	-0.40	1.65	-1 80	-4.84	1 17
	Quartile 2			0.74	-3.04	2.99	1.87	-9.49	7.51	-1.03	-4.04	2.45
	Quartile 3 Quartile 4			-0.12	-2.32	2.00	-0.03	-7.02	5.16	-0.32	-3.61	2.06
MEHHP	Quartile 1	Male	108	•	Reference	,		Reference	0.11	0-	Reference	,,
	Quartile 2			-1.47	-3.15	0.21	-4.58	-9.71	0.55	-3.97	-10.10	2.17
	Quartile 3			-0.92	-2.75	0.91	-1.87	-7.47	3.72	-0.72	-7.41	5.98
	Quartile 4			-0.42	-2.22	1.38	-2.68	-8.17	2.80	-1.69	-8.25	4.87
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.07	-2.11	1.97	-0.44	-6.10	5.22	-2.49	-8.67	3.69
	Quartile 3			0.53	-1.58	2.64	1.18	-4.68	7.05	1.11	-5.29	7.51
	Quartile 4			0.56	-1.66	2.78	2.06	-4.10	8.22	1.65	-5.08	8.37
MEHP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference			Reference			Reference	
	Quartile 2			-0.46	-2.09	1.18	-1.02	-5.99	3.95	-0.59	-6.49	5.31
	Quartile 3			-0.79	-2.53	0.94	-2.49	-7.76	2.79	-2.54	-8.81	3.72
	Quartile 4	Fomalo	101	-0.90	-2.03 Poforonao	0.83	-3.80	-9.05	1.45	-4.53	-10.77	1.70
	Quartile 1	remate	121	-0.44	-2.28	1 40	-2.00	-7.97	2 27	-1 00	-7 19	1 66
	Quartile 2			-0.44	-2.30 -2.01	1.49	-2.00	-/.3/	ひび/ 2 /1	-1.23 -2.22	-/.13 -0.79	2.00
	Quartile 4			-0.40	-2.66	1.87	-1 74	-8 02	4.54	-1 40	-8.20	5.40
MEOHP	Quartile 1	Male	108	5.40	Reference	1.0/	±•/4	Reference	7.04	1.40	Reference	5.42
MEOIIF	Quartile 2		100	-1.45	-3.20	0.31	-3.98	-9.34	1.39	-3.41	-9.82	3.00
	Quartile 3			-0.93	-2.67	0.81	-2.24	-7.56	3.07	-1.27	-7.63	5.08
	Quartile 4			-0.75	-2.60	1.09	-3.29	-8.93	2.34	-2.12	-8.85	4.62
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference	-		Reference	<i>.</i>		Reference	-

	Quartile 2			-0.43	-2.42	1.57	-1.54	-7.06	3.97	-3.13	-9.17	2.91
	Quartile 3			-0.07	-2.31	2.17	-1.32	-7.50	4.86	-0.67	-7.44	6.11
	Quartile 4			0.45	-1.83	2.72	2.06	-4.23	8.36	1.33	-5.57	8.22
MEP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference		I	Reference			Reference	e
	Quartile 2			-0.77	-2.35	0.82	-3.24	-8.05	1.57	-2.38	-8.14	3.37
	Quartile 3			-0.11	-1.68	1.47	-0.20	-4.97	4.57	-1.63	-7.34	4.08
	Quartile 4			-0.83	-2.62	0.96	-3.14	-8.56	2.29	-4.04	-10.53	2.45
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference		I	Reference			Reference	9
	Quartile 2			-0.87	-2.95	1.22	-3.04	-8.85	2.77	-2.46	-8.85	3.92
	Quartile 3			-1.17	-3.29	0.95	-2.57	-8.47	3.33	-3.22	-9.70	3.26
	Quartile 4			0.01	-2.06	2.09	-0.69	-6.49	5.10	-0.88	-7.25	5.48
MIBP	Quartile 1	Male	108		Reference		I	Reference			Reference	e
	Quartile 2			-0.49	-2.26	1.28	-1.20	-6.61	4.20	-0.83	-7.24	5.58
	Quartile 3			-0.36	-2.15	1.43	-0.91	-6.38	4.56	-1.51	-8.00	4.98
	Quartile 4			-0.65	-2.50	1.20	-1.46	-7.12	4.19	-2.67	-9.38	4.04
	Quartile 1	Female	121		Reference		I	Reference			Reference	e
	Quartile 2			-2.54	-4.55	-0.54	-7.61	-13.15	-2.08	-6.48	-12.65	-0.30
	Quartile 3			-1.38	-3.53	0.76	-3.60	-9.52	2.31	-3.18	-9.77	3.42
	Quartile 4			-1.87	-4.13	0.39	-6.44	-12.68	-0.20	-4.71	-11.67	2.24

^aSum of triceps and subscapular skinfold measurements Adjusted for age, specific gravity, mother's BMI 1 month postpartum, years of education

Figure 3.8. Sex-stratified associations of maternal third trimester urinary concentrations of quartile BPA and phthalate metabolites with adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfold measurements at ages 8-14.

Point estimates and 95% confidence intervals are adjusted for specific gravity, child's age, and mother's 1 month postpartum BMI and total years of education.



Figure 3.9. Sex-stratified associations of adolescent urinary concentrations of quartile BPA and phthalate metabolites with adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and sum of triceps and subscapular skinfold measurements at ages 8-14. Point estimates and 95% confidence intervals are adjusted for specific gravity, child's age, and mother's 1 month postpartum BMI and total years of education.



CHAPTER 4

Differences in BMI and Height Trajectories of Males and Females Associated with *in utero* Urinary Concentrations of Bisphenol A and Phthalate Metabolites

Abstract

Background: Exposures to the environmental endocrine-disrupting compounds Bisphenol A and phthalates have been linked to a variety of adverse health effects including greater weight status and waist circumference. Cross-sectional studies have demonstrated non-monotonic relationships between exposure and outcomes, as well as sex differences in metabolites of interest and direction of association. However, associations from cross-sectional analyses have not been supported by the limited number of longitudinal studies. As children and adolescents do not grow with constant velocity, assessing outcomes at a single point in time may lead to inaccurate estimates of how these exposures may affect growth.

Objective: To assess the BMI and height trajectories of children from birth to 14 years of age using tertiles of third trimester maternal urinary concentrations of BPA and phthalate metabolites.

Methods: Fractional age polynomials and mixed effects models were fit separately for males and females for BMI and height trajectory models. Likelihood ratio tests were used to determine which models were better fit with the inclusion of tertiles of each metabolite, covariates, and interaction terms. Models were plotted with covariates centered at average values for each tertile. Ages where salient differences between tertiles of predicted BMI and height were determined.

Results: Highest predicted BMI and height trajectories for females were observed for third tertiles of phthalate metabolites, while males with first and second tertiles of phthalate metabolites had highest predicted trajectories. The phthalate metabolites associated with trajectories for females (MECPP) were different than those for males (MiBP, MBzP, MEP, MCPP, MEHP, MEHHP, MEOHP). Findings for Bisphenol A and height trajectory were inverted compared to phthalate metabolites, with the highest predicted height trajectory occurring with first tertile for females and third tertile for males.

Discussion: Utilizing growth modeling of exposures to environmental endocrinedisrupting compounds, our results suggest that males and females are associated with different phthalate metabolites, suggesting differential sensitivity to exposures. Additionally, the BPA tertiles associated with height trajectory for males and females were reversed compared to their associations with phthalate metabolites and BMI trajectory.

Background

Childhood obesity is a globally persistent disease with multifactorial sources and a wide range of complications (Ebbeling et al. 2002). The balance between energy intake and expenditure cannot explain the increases in obesity prevalence observed in the past few decades; many contributing factors have been suggested, including exposures to environmental endocrine-disrupting compounds (Baillie-Hamilton 2002; Grün and Blumberg 2009; Institute of Medicine 2012; Zinn 2010).

Two compounds implicated with the rapid increase in childhood obesity are Bisphenol A (BPA) and phthalates. These multi-functional materials are used in everyday products; their prolific use has resulted in ubiquitous exposure to these compounds and their metabolites in humans of both genders and all age groups (Adibi et al. 2003; Calafat et al. 2008; Callan et al. 2012; Frederiksen et al. 2011; Pirard et al. 2012; Silva et al. 2004; Taskeen et al. 2012). BPA is used in the production of polycarbonate plastics and epoxy resins and is commonly found in food and beverage containers, medical equipment, toys, the linings of canned foods, thermal receipt paper, and dental sealants (Mendum et al. 2011; Shelby 2008; Vandenberg et al. 2007a). Phthalates are used as plasticizers in many consumer and industrialized products and as a stabilizing and solubilizing material (David et al. 2012; Hauser and Calafat 2005; Meeker 2012). High molecular weight phthalates are used in manufacturing flexible vinyl plastics and are commonly found in food and beverage containers, medical equipment, and vinyl flooring while low molecular weight phthalates are often found in solvents, paint thinners, medications and personal care products such as lotions, creams, and nail polish (David et al. 2012; Hernández-Díaz et al. 2009; Lewis et al. 2013).

Exposure is widespread, with >92% of the U.S. population six years and older with detectable metabolites in their urine; metabolites have also been detected during pregnancy, with evidence of these metabolites in the amniotic sac and cord blood (Calafat et al. 2008; Callan et al. 2012; Cantonwine et al. 2010; Chou et al. 2011; Meeker 2012; Silva et al. 2004; Vandenberg et al. 2007a). Exposures occur primarily from ingestion of food and beverages in contact with containers utilizing these plasticizers, but are also known to occur through inhalation and dermal contact (Adibi et al. 2003; Clark et al. 2011; Rudel et al. 2003; Wilson et al. 2003, 2007; Wormuth et al. 2006).

Exposures to these compounds have been implicated in obesity and increased waist circumference and fat mass and may be due to alterations in adipogenesis, lipogenesis, and metabolic imbalance such as impaired glucose and insulin response (Alonso-Magdalena et al. 2005a; Carwile and Michels 2011; Hao et al. 2012; Harley et al. 2013; Hatch et al. 2008; Hauser and Calafat 2005; Hugo et al. 2008; Lang et al. 2008; Lind et al. 2012a, 2012b; Masuno et al. 2002; Newbold 2010; Ropero et al. 2008; Ryan et al. 2010; Sakurai et al. 2004; Shankar and Teppala 2011; Stahlhut et al. 2007; Teitelbaum et al. 2012; Trasande et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2012a, 2012b, 2012c; Wei et al. 2011). Other health effects from exposures to BPA and phthalate metabolites have been noted: asthma, male reproductive development, timing of puberty, neurodevelopment, and shortened gestational length (Braun et al. 2011; Cantonwine et al. 2010; Colón et al. 2009; Suzuki et al. 2012; Swan et al. 2011; Kerkhof et al. 2012; Meeker et al. 2009a; Suzuki et al. 2012; Swan et al. 2005; Whyatt et al. 2012). Many cell and animal studies show effects at concentrations relevant to those encountered by humans, making current environmental levels a

cause for concern (Alonso-Magdalena et al. 2005a; Hao et al. 2012; Marmugi et al. 2012; Vandenberg et al. 2007b).

Few human studies examine the associations between exposures to BPA and phthalate metabolites with weight status; of these, most are cross-sectional and longitudinal studies are limited in age range. Cross-sectional data in youth and adult populations suggest a positive association between exposures to BPA and phthalates with BMI, waist circumference, fat mass, insulin resistance, and diabetes; many find differences in associations by sex as well as evidence of non-monotonic relations between exposure and outcomes (Bhandari et al. 2013; Carwile and Michels 2011; Eng et al. 2013; Hatch et al. 2010, 2008; Li et al. 2013; Shankar and Teppala 2011; Stahlhut et al. 2007; Trasande et al. 2013a, 2012, 2013b; Wang et al. 2012d; Wells et al. 2013).

Of human studies examining associations between prenatal exposures on weight status or adiposity, only BPA has been assessed and with inconsistent results. Among a primarily Latina community in the United States, a cross-sectional analysis at 9 years of age found positive associations with higher BPA concentrations and BMI, overweight and obesity, fat mass, and waist circumference (Harley et al. 2013). Prenatal urinary BPA concentrations from this population were found to be associated with lower odds of overweight and obesity, and lower BMI and percent body fat among girls at 9 years of age in the highest tertile of BPA concentrations. In contrast, Valvi et al (2013) observed that prenatal BPA exposure was weakly associated with waist circumference Z-score and BMI z-score in children at 4 years of age, though the latter was non-significant (Valvi et al. 2013). Most epidemiological research on exposures to endocrine-disrupting compounds and their associated health effects have focused on assessing the impact of exposure on outcomes at one or several static points in time. This approach only allows a glimpse into the potential consequences of these exposures, particularly when the exposures occur at sensitive or critical periods of development where lifelong altered trajectories could be initiated (Inadera 2013; La Merrill and Birnbaum 2011). As many studies of BPA and phthalate metabolites find contradictory results, these may be due to the use of cross-sectional data as well as range of ages where outcomes are assessed. Therefore, assessing a conclusion at one point in time may not be optimal when determining the projected outcomes from these exposures, particularly as parameters of growth are influenced by the perinatal environment.

Growth patterns are often assessed by comparing how children grow with a standard or reference (de Onis et al. 2007). These patterns indicate the course of development for children and adolescents and can be used to assess an individual's growth through time as well as how they compare to peers of their age and sex. These trajectories allow estimation of milestones, such as infancy peak or the adiposity rebound, and could be used to link childhood growth with adult diseases like obesity (Dietz 1997; Rolland-Cachera et al. 1984). Derivation of velocity and acceleration of growth can also be used as early measures of later adverse outcomes (van Lenthe et al. 1996; Tzoulaki et al. 2010). One trait that growth patterns assess is adiposity; although BMI and other measures such as waist circumference and skinfolds are commonly used, height is also associated with adiposity in early life (Boeke et al. 2013; Freedman et al. 2002; Gibson 2005; WHO 1995).

Given the advantages of growth trajectories over singular measurements of gauges of adiposity, we utilized a birth cohort with children currently aged 8-14 years. We examined the possibility that exposures to endocrine-disrupting compounds in a sensitive period of development such as pregnancy may alter subsequent growth trajectories which could have implications for later health. By utilizing growth modeling, we fit and assessed the trajectories of BMI and height for males and females by tertiles of BPA and phthalate metabolites in a cohort of children from 0.25 years to their current ages of 8 to 14 years.

Methods

Study Population

This investigation utilized data from the Early Life in Mexico to ENvironmental Toxicants (ELEMENT) research collaboration with Mexico's *Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública* (INSP) that consists of three sequentiallyenrolled birth cohorts from Mexico City. The recruitments started in 1994 at family clinics serving low-to-moderate income populations. Similar exclusion criteria were applied to all three cohorts including living outside of Mexico City, gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, or pregnancy-related hypertensive disorder, as well as other criteria described elsewhere (Ettinger et al. 2009; Gonzalez-Cossio et al. 1997; Téllez-Rojo et al. 2004). Common recruitment methods allow for pooling of the birth cohorts for analysis. Follow-up of the three cohorts were continuously maintained, with study visits at 3, 6, and 12 months of age and then every six months until 60 months; these children were then maintained in follow-up with 1-3 additional observations after the age of 5 years. Ages of the analytic sample range from 8-14 years. Trained personnel obtained biological samples, anthropometry, and administered surveys to mothers to gather information on sociodemographic characteristics.

Anthropometric Measures

At one-month postpartum, maternal height was obtained using professional scales (BAME Mod 420; Catálogo Médico) read to the nearest 0.1 centimeter (cm) and maternal weight was recorded to the nearest 0.1 kilogram (kg). Children's anthropometry were taken by study personnel using established research protocol (Lohman et al. 1988). Weight (BAME Mod 420; Catálogo Médico) was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg; height (BAME Mod 420; Catálogo Médico) was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg; height (BAME Mod 420; Catálogo Médico) was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm. Duplicate measures were taken of weight and height; the observed values were averaged. An additional measurement was taken if intra-personal variability exceeded the measurement tolerance of 0.5 cm. Body Mass Index (BMI) was calculated as weight divided by height squared (kg/m²).

Urinary BPA and Phthalate Metabolites

A spot (second morning void) urine sample was collected from each woman during her third-trimester visit to the project's research center and frozen at – 80 °C; these were coordinated with urines from adolescents at follow-up. Samples were analyzed for total (free + glucuronidated) BPA and nine phthalate metabolites by NSF International (Ann Arbor, MI, USA) using validated modification of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) methods described elsewhere (Calafat et al. 2008; Lewis et al. 2013; Silva et al. 2007). The nine phthalate metabolites included: monoethyl phthalate (MEP), metabolite of diethyl phthalate (DEP); mono-*n*-butyl phthalate (MBP), metabolite of di-*n*-butyl phthalate (DBP); monoisobutyl phthalate (MiBP), metabolite of di-isobutyl-phthalate (DiBP); mono(3carboxypropyl) phthalate (MCPP), metabolite of DBP and di-*n*-octyl phthalate (DOP); monobenzyl phthalate (MBzP), metabolite of butylbenzyl phthalate (BBzP); and mono(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (MEHP), mono(2-ethyl-5-hydroxyhexyl) phthalate (MEHHP), mono(2-ethyl-5-oxohexyl) phthalate (MEOHP), and mono(2-ethyl-5-carboxypentyl) phthalate (MECPP), metabolites of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP). Specific gravity (SG) of the urine samples was measured using a handheld digital refractometer (ATAGO Company Ltd., Tokyo, Japan).

BPA and phthalate metabolite concentrations below the limit of quantitation (LOQ) were assigned a value of LOQ/sqrt(2). Values were then corrected for SG using:

$$P_c = P\left[\frac{SG_p - 1}{SG_i - 1}\right]$$

where P_c is the *SG*-corrected BPA or phthalate metabolite concentration (ng/mL), P is the measured urinary BPA or phthalate metabolite concentration, SG_p is the median of the urinary specific gravities for the sample (SG_p for mothers = 1.013), and SG_i is the urinary specific gravity for the individual (Mahalingaiah et al. 2008). Specific gravity instead of creatinine was used because creatinine concentrations may be confounded by physical activity, time of day, diet, morbidity, and muscularity (Boeniger et al. 1993).

Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was completed using SAS (version 9.3; SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) for Windows. Descriptive statistics and distributions for all variables were assessed. Each child had 5 to 12 observations for BMI and height. BMI and height

values were checked for biological implausibility by visually assessing their growth trajectory. Three participants had one BMI observation that was atypical of their individual growth trajectory and three non-overlapping participants had heights that did not follow their trajectory; the questionable BMI and height value for each participant was removed from statistical analysis while retaining the other values.

Following an approach similar to published methods, BMI trajectories were constructed using a fractional polynomial age approach (Royston and Altman 1994; Wen et al. 2012). Whereas Wen et al. (2012) modeled BMI trajectories of individual children and used the fitted trajectory to determine the age and BMI at infancy and adiposity rebound, we fit sex-stratified models to assess the BMI and height trajectories resulting from exposures to tertiles of individual BPA and phthalate metabolites from the third trimester of pregnancy. The construction of the expected value of BMI was:

$$E(BMI) = b_0 + \sum_{j=1}^m b_j Age^{p_j}$$

where *m* is the model degree and the exponential p_j is selected from a set of 8 chosen values, including -2, -1, -0.5, log, 0.5, 1, 2, and 3. The minimum model degree was set at m = 3, since all children had 3 or more observations and the maximum degree was set at m = 8. Therefore, 219 candidate models were considered, with 1 model of the 8th degree, 8 models of the 7th degree, etc., and 56 models of the 3rd degree. The optimal number of fractional polynomial age terms from the 219 candidate models to include in the final models for males and females was selected based on smallest Akaike information criterion (AIC) and Bayesian information criterion (BIC). A
smaller AIC signifies a model that is thought be closer to the truth whereas a smaller BIC signifies that a model is thought to be more likely to be the truth. BIC more heavily penalizes model complexity, so both AIC and BIC are used in the model selection. The models were estimated separately by sex for the inclusion terms of each degree and assessed by goodness of fit tests. Models for each sex are shown in Table 4.1.

Mixed effects models using *proc mixed* were used to fit BMI trajectories within sex strata, with fixed effects for each fractional polynomial age term, which reflects the trend for the population-average, and random effects for intercept and linear age for each child, which reflects how each child deviates from the populationaverage. For each BPA and phthalate metabolite, tertiles of the metabolites and their interaction terms with the age variables were entered as fixed effects along with covariates centered at their mean. For example, the unadjusted model for BMI trajectory in females with the third tertile as the reference is:

$$\begin{split} BMI_{ti} &= \beta_0 + \beta_1 Age_{ti}^{-1} + \beta_2 Age_{ti}^{-0.5} + \beta_3 Age_{ti}^{0.5} + \beta_4 Age_{ti} + \beta_5 Age_{ti}^3 + \beta_6 Tertile1_i \\ &+ \beta_7 Tertile2_i + \beta_8 Tertile1_i \times Age_{ti}^{-1} + \beta_9 Tertile1_i \times Age_{ti}^{-0.5} \\ &+ \beta_{10} Tertile1_i \times Age_{ti}^{0.5} + \beta_{11} Tertile1_i \times Age_{ti} + \beta_{12} Tertile1_i \times Age_{ti}^3 \\ &+ \beta_{13} Tertile2_i \times Age_{ti}^{-1} + \beta_{14} Tertile2_i \times Age_{ti}^{-0.5} + \beta_{15} Tertile2_i \\ &\times Age_{ti}^{0.5} + \beta_{16} Tertile2_i \times Age_{ti} + \beta_{17} Tertile2_i \times Age_{ti}^3 + b_0 + b_1 Age_{ti} \\ &+ \varepsilon_{ti} \end{split}$$

For each BPA and phthalate metabolite for males and females, the likelihood ratio test was conducted with the null model containing the age polynomials compared to the partially-adjusted model containing the age polynomials, the SG- corrected metabolite, and their interaction terms. Predicted BMI trajectories for each tertile of EDC metabolite were plotted for the partially-adjusted models with significance at p≤0.1 (results not shown). Likelihood ratio tests were then conducted with the null model containing the age polynomials and the *a priori* identified covariates mother's years of schooling and BMI at 1 month postpartum centered at their means, against the fully-adjusted model additionally containing the SGcorrected metabolites and their interaction terms with the age polynomials. Plots of fully-adjusted predicted BMI trajectories for each tertile with covariate values that were centered at their means were plotted for models with significance at $p \le 0.05$ from the likelihood ratio test. Accordingly, these plots demonstrate the estimated BMI trajectories for each tertile of the phthalate metabolite or BPA exposure for an individual with average characteristics. Estimated differences between tertiles were assessed using *estimate* statements in *proc mixed*. Results indicating ages at which significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) between predicted tertiles occurred were plotted. As the likelihood ratio test takes all three tertiles into consideration and tests whether at least one group differs from another, the significance detected from the estimated differences between tertiles is used as a descriptor of which ages those differences occurred.

BMI velocity was plotted by taking the first derivative of the age polynomials. Estimates between tertiles of exposure were conducted using *estimate* statements in *proc mixed* to assess ages when significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) between tertiles occurred (results not shown).

Height trajectory models were fitted using the same approach with BMI trajectory analysis. The optimum age terms were selected for males and females

94

from the 219 candidate models using smallest AIC and BIC. Selected age polynomials were different for males and females. The models, inclusion terms for each degree, goodness of fit tests, and chosen models for each sex are shown in Table 4.2. Likelihood ratio tests were conducted for partially- and fully-adjusted height trajectory models with the same approach using the same covariates, mother's years of schooling and BMI at 1 month postpartum centered at their means. Plots of fully-adjusted estimated height trajectories for each tertile were plotted for models with significance at $p \le 0.05$ using covariate values centered at their means. Estimated differences between tertiles using the *estimate* statements in *proc mixed* were used to determine ages where significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) between predicted tertiles occurred. Height velocity analysis was conducted using the same approach as for BMI velocity (results not shown).

Results

Table 4.3 shows the characteristics of the sample population. Among 249 children, 47% were male. Current mean age was 10.3 years for males and females, current height was 138.cm 6 for males and 138.3 cm for females, current BMI was 19.1 for males and 19.8 for females. Mothers at 1 month postpartum had an average BMI of 26.7 for male children and 27.2 for females, and mothers of male children averaged 11.3 years of education and 10.8 years for females. Among 2,162 total visits, 78% occurred at or under the age of 5 years old.

Distributions of BPA and phthalate metabolites in maternal third trimester urine are shown in Table 4.4. The majority of all pregnancy samples had detectable concentrations of BPA (26-36%<LOQ) and phthalates metabolites (0-11%<LOQ). Wilcoxon rank-sum tests comparing differences in concentrations between mothers of males and females showed no significant differences except for BPA (GM=0.9ng/mL females; 0.7ng/ml males; *p*=0.05).

The results from the likelihood ratio test for BMI trajectory comparing the fully-adjusted model with SG-corrected metabolites, covariates, and age polynomial terms and their interactions with metabolites with the null model containing the age polynomials and covariates are shown in Table 4.5. Fully-adjusted models for female MECPP and male MiBP, MBzP, MCPP, MEHP, MEHHP, and MEOHP were a significantly better fit ($p \le 0.05$) than the null models.

Figures 4.1-7 show the predicted BMI trajectories and the estimated differences between tertiles for an individual with average covariate values in each tertile of exposure. For female MECPP, the third tertile of exposure has the highest predicted BMI trajectory by the children's current age though, for most of the trajectory time period, the third tertile of exposure had the lowest predicted BMI trajectory (Figure 4.1).

For males, the first and second tertiles of exposure had the highest predicted BMI trajectory. The first and second tertiles for the low molecular weight phthalate metabolites MiBP (Figure 4.2), MBzP (Figure 4.3), and MCPP (Figure 4.4) were observed to decline in early childhood before crossing the trajectories of the second and third tertiles of exposure and become the highest predicted BMI trajectory. The first and second tertiles for the high molecular weight phthalates MEHP (Figure 4.5), MEHHP (Figure 4.6), and MEOHP (Figure 4.7) were consistently high throughout childhood. Figure 4.8 graphically shows where the ages and estimated significant BMI differences by tertiles of phthalate metabolites were observed. Figure 4.9 shows the ages where significant estimated BMI differences between tertiles occurred and the color coding indicates whether those differences are positive (red) or negative (blue). For example, significant estimated differences between BMI trajectories were observed for female MECPP between tertiles 1 and 3 for the ages of 0.3 to 1.1 years and between tertiles 2 and 3 for ages 0.6 to 2.5 years (Figure 4.8 and 4.9). While fully-adjusted MCPP was significant in the likelihood ratio test, there were no significantly observed differences between tertiles (Figure 4.8 and 4.9).

For BMI trajectories, ages of significant differences between tertiles of metabolites followed different patterns for high and low molecular weight phthalates and between males and females (Figure 4.9). Male low molecular weight phthalate metabolites MiBP and MBzP had significant differences in the first few years of life, whereas the high molecular weight phthalate metabolites MEHHP and MEOHP were found to have significant differences in the mid-childhood years. This was in contrast to the female high molecular weight phthalate metabolite MECPP, where ages of significant estimated differences between tertiles occurred in early life.

Results from the likelihood ratio test for height trajectory comparing the fullyadjusted model with SG-corrected metabolites, covariates, and age polynomial terms and their interactions with the metabolites with the null model containing the age polynomials and covariates are shown in Table 4.6. Fully-adjusted models were significant ($p \le 0.05$) for female MECPP and male MCPP, MEP, and MEOHP.

Figures 4.10-13 show the predicted height trajectories and the estimated differences between tertiles for an average individual in each tertile of exposure. For female MECPP, the third tertile of exposure had the highest predicted height trajectory (Figure 4.10).

97

For males, the first or second tertiles of exposure for MCPP (Figure 4.11), MEP (Figure 4.12), and MEOHP (Figure 4.13) had the highest predicted height trajectory. Figure 4.14 graphically shows where the ages and estimated significant height differences in growth by tertiles of phthalate metabolites were observed. Figure 4.15 shows the ages where significant estimated height differences between tertiles occurred and the color coding indicates whether those differences are positive or negative. For example, estimates between tertiles of female MECPP showed significant differences in height between tertiles 1 and 2 for ages 0.3 to 0.9 years. While the fully-adjusted model for MEP was significant with the likelihood ratio test, there were no significantly observed differences between tertiles of the metabolite (Figures 4.14 and 4.15).

Significant estimated differences between tertiles of metabolites for height trajectories occurred in early life for the high molecular weight phthalate metabolite MECPP in females in contrast to the high molecular weight phthalate MEOHP in males, where significant differences occurred in the peripubertal years. In males, the low molecular weight phthalate metabolite MCPP showed significant differences between tertiles for most of the study period.

Female (Figure 4.16) and male (Figure 4.17) BPA, while non-significant (p=0.10; p=0.07, respectively), had opposite findings than those for phthalate metabolites. For example, though the third tertile of the phthalate metabolite MECPP for females were found to have the highest trajectory, the first tertile of BPA had the highest trajectory.

98

Discussion

We observed that females with the highest tertile of phthalate metabolites had the highest predicted BMI and height trajectories whereas males with the first and second tertiles of phthalate metabolites were predicted to have the highest attained BMI and height trajectories. Additionally, females and males were influenced by different phthalate metabolites, which have been observed previously (Hatch et al. 2008). Ages of significant estimated differences between tertiles of phthalate metabolites differed between males and females, and between low and high molecular weight phthalate metabolites in males. Further exploration is needed to investigate the pattern behind this finding.

Harley et al. (2013) observed that prenatal exposure to the highest tertile of BPA was associated with a decrease in BMI z-score in females at 9 years of age, but an increase in males. As higher BMI values are correlated with increased height, our findings that the highest tertile of BPA is associated with the lowest predicted height trajectories for females while, in males, the highest tertile had the highest predicted height trajectory, suggestively mirror the observations by Harley et al. (2013). Together, these results are compatible within the context of overall growth, where height and weight are associated.

It has been recognized that tall males and females, compared to their shorter contemporaries, have a higher prevalence of overweight and obesity (van Dommelen et al. 2014). Taller children also tend to have higher skinfold thicknesses and BMI levels; additionally, they may experience an earlier adiposity rebound and some studies find that they have higher attained BMI as adults, independent of BMI in childhood (Freedman et al. 2002). It is hypothesized that excess gain in weight and fat during childhood may be a driver in linear growth and additional energy remaining after the promotion of height would be stored as fat (Freedman et al. 2004; McCarthy 2014).

Numerous mechanisms for this relationship between height and weight have been proposed, including alterations in growth hormone, ghrelin, insulin-like growth factor, androgens, and the complex interplay among these hormonal systems (Fennoy 2013; Marcovecchio and Chiarelli 2013). Similar biological processes may control linear growth and the deposition of adipose, so infants who are heavy for their age may grow into tall adolescents, possibly because increased adiposity in childhood frequently occurs in before, or in tandem with, height (Garn et al. 1974; Johnston and Mack 1980). In addition, sexual maturation and height may be biologically linked. Maturation occurs in taller children at a younger age and adolescents who mature at younger ages tend to be heavier as adults (van Lenthe et al. 1996; Parsons et al. 1999).

Leptin is hypothesized to be a factor involved in skeletal growth by acting as a skeletal growth factor or via other regulatory systems (Maor et al. 2002). Overweight and obese children tend to have higher leptin levels and, as fat content and leptin levels are correlated and timing of sexual maturation is closely associated with body weight and, particularly, fat, leptin may potentially play a role in initiating an earlier onset of puberty (Frisch et al. 1973; Shalitin and Phillip 2003). Leptin may also influence the activity levels of enzymes necessary for adrenal androgen synthesis; obese children have an increase in adrenal androgen levels, which may impact rate of growth in the pubertal period (Genazzani et al. 1978; Shalitin and Phillip 2003). In addition, central leptin resistance, such as in the hypothalamus, is common among

obese individuals, and the differential sensitivity to leptin between these central sites and the skeletal growth sites in the periphery may account for the increase in height in overweight and obese children (Shalitin and Phillip 2003).

Thyroid function is another proposed mechanism which could alter growth; thyroid hormone is required for skeletal development and may act through the stimulation of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), growth hormone, or activation of target genes (Bassett and Williams 2003; Yakar and Adamo 2012; Yen 2001). It also plays a role in determining function and development of adipose tissue; similar to PPARy, thyroid hormone can induce adipose differentiation and proliferation (Flores-Delgado et al. 1987; Tontonoz et al. 1994). Cross-sectional studies have found alterations in levels of thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and the thyroid hormones T3 and T4 associated with BPA and phthalates exposure (Boas et al. 2010; Meeker and Ferguson 2011; Meeker et al. 2007; Wu et al. 2013). Variation in thyroid hormones may be a mechanism by which these exposures influence waist circumference and metabolic imbalance in adults; reductions in thyroid hormones have been associated with increases in BMI and in utero concentrations of thyroid hormones are known to be involved in programming body weight (Grün and Blumberg 2009; Hatch et al. 2010; Knudsen et al. 2005; Lang et al. 2008; Zoeller 2007). BPA is known to bind to the thyroid hormone receptor, acting as an antagonist and resulting in reduced T₃ (Ibhazehiebo and Koibuchi 2011; Moriyama et al. 2002; Wetherill et al. 2007; Zoeller 2007).

Limitations of this study include the relatively small sample size and the relatively fewer number of observations of BMI and height measures after the age of five, as follow-up was not systematic after that point in time. Extrapolations of estimated values were conducted statistically and may not reflect actual trajectories of BMI and/or height. Another limitation is the use of a single spot urine. Concentrations of metabolites are known to vary widely throughout the course of a day and are influenced by a variety of factors such as diet, physical activity, and use of personal care products. However, previous studies have indicated that a single measure may be a moderately good measure of exposure due to the consistency of behaviors within an individual (Braun et al. 2012b; Mahalingaiah et al. 2008; Teitelbaum et al. 2008).

However, the extensive follow-up within this prospective study design allows temporality of events and is a strong component towards establishing causality. The use of an exposure sample from pregnancy, when development is occurring rapidly, also adds to the strength of this study. The Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD) framework considers these early life events to be crucial towards the possible programming of later health indices (Hanson and Gluckman 2008; Heindel and vom Saal 2009). There is accumulating evidence that exposures to these chemicals play a role in altered physiology from the perinatal period and animal studies have found effects at doses relevant to those encountered by human populations on weight gain, adiposity, and numerous metabolic imbalances (Marmugi et al. 2012; Wei et al. 2011).

Some studies find that the association between tallness in overweight and obese children disappear after puberty. Pre puberty, obese children have a height advantage over their lean peers but they experience a reduced growth spurt in comparison, resulting in no difference in attained height (Denzer et al. 2007; He and

102

Karlberg 2001). Future work in disentangling the order of adiposity and linear growth as driving forces by modeling weight trajectory would be beneficial.

In conclusion, this study explored whether exposure to environmental endocrine-disrupting compounds differentially alters growth trajectories of BMI and height. We found that different metabolites were associated with growth trajectories for males and females. MECPP in females was the only metabolite that was associated with BMI and height trajectories while MEOHP and MCPP were both significantly associated with males in our study population. The third tertile of the phthalate metabolite MECPP was associated with the highest trajectory of BMI and height in females. For males, the first and second tertiles of the phthalate metabolites MiBP, MBzP, MCPP, MEHP, MEHHP, and MEOHP were associated with highest attained BMI trajectory and the first and second tertiles of MEP, MCPP, and MEOHP were associated with the highest attained height trajectories. The tertiles associated with the highest trajectory for females was observed with the lowest tertile, but the highest tertile in males.

Model degree			Terms inclu	uded in best f	it model for e	each degree			Goodness of Fit ^a	
	Age ⁽⁻²⁾	Age ⁽⁻¹⁾	Age(-0.5)	log(Age)	Age ^(0.5)	Age	Age ⁽²⁾	Age ⁽³⁾	AIC	BIC
Males (N=108)										
3rd				Х	Х	Х			3484.8	3514.3
4th	Х		Х		Х	Х			3482.5	3525.4
5th	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х			2920.6	2074.3
6th			Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	3478.9	3554.0
7th	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		3478.9	3554.0
8th	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	3495.9	3592.4
Females (N=115)										
3rd				Х	Х	Х			3982.6	4012.8
4th					Х	Х	Х	Х	3979.1	4020.3
5th		Х	Х		Х	Х		Х	1411.1	1463.2
6th	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х	3973.9	4050.8
7th	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		3981.6	4058.5
8th	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	3982.5	4081.3

Table 4.1. Best fit fractional polynomial function for each model degree for BMI trajectory.

^aFinal model selection based on smallest AIC and BIC are indicated in bold

Model degree			Terms inc	luded in best f	it model for ea	ach degree			Goodne	ess of Fit ^a
	Age ⁽⁻²⁾	Age(-1)	Age(-0.5)	log(Age)	Age ^(0.5)	Age	Age ⁽²⁾	Age ⁽³⁾	AIC	BIC
Males (N=108)										
3rd				Х		Х		Х	4513.0	4543.0
4th				Х	Х	Х		Х	4514.1	4554.3
5th		XX	XX	XX		Х	Х	XX	4526.5	4582.8
6th		Х	Х	XX	XX	XX	XX	XX	4523.4	4598.5
7th	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		4523.4	4598.5
8th	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	4531.8	4652.5
Females (N=115)										
3rd					Х		Х	Х	5073.4	5103.6
4th	XX	XX			XX	Х	Х		3507.0	3546.0
5th	Х	Х	X	Х	X				5073.3	5114.5
6th	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х			5077.4	5135
7th	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		5080.4	5157.3
8th	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	5080.4	5157.3

Table 4.2. Best fit fractional polynomial function for each model degree for height trajectory.

^aFinal model selection based on smallest AIC and BIC are indicated in bold X = model terms selected with equal AIC and BIC values as X; not selected for final model

Characteristic		Males		Females
	Ν	Mean±SD/%	Ν	Mean±SD/%
Youth's age (yr)	117	10.3±1.5	132	10.3±1.7
height (cm)	117	138.6±10.5	132	138.33±10.9
BMI (kg/m ²)	117	19.1±3.08	132	19.8±3.98
Total number of visits	1033		1129	
age ≤1 years old	243	25	263	24
age>1 and ≤ 3 years old	381	36	424	37
age>3 and \leq 5 years old	182	17	201	18
age >5 years old	227	22	241	21
Mother's BMI 1 month	11/	26 7+4 2	126	27 2+2 6
postpartum	114	201/1412	120	2/.213.0
years of education	115	11.3±2.8	130	10.8 ± 2.8

Table 4.3. Characteristics of mothers and children in sample population.

									Perc	entiles			
Analyte	LOQ ^a	Sex	Ν	%>LOQ	GM (SE) ^b	10 th	25^{th}	50 th	75^{th}	90 th	95 th	Max ^c	<i>p-</i> value*
BPA	0.4	Male	107	64	0.7(2.0)	<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td>0.6</td><td>1.1</td><td>1.8</td><td>2.7</td><td>9.0</td><td>0.05</td></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""><td>0.6</td><td>1.1</td><td>1.8</td><td>2.7</td><td>9.0</td><td>0.05</td></loq<>	0.6	1.1	1.8	2.7	9.0	0.05
		Female	116	74	0.9 (2.1)	<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>1.4</td><td>2.3</td><td>4.1</td><td>18.7</td><td></td></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""><td>0.7</td><td>1.4</td><td>2.3</td><td>4.1</td><td>18.7</td><td></td></loq<>	0.7	1.4	2.3	4.1	18.7	
MBP	0.5	Male	107	100	53.3 (3.1)	11.8	25.5	58	112	204	318	1000	1.00
		Female	116	100	54.3 (3.5)	12.7	26.4	54.2	119	206	606	1190	
MBzP	0.2	Male	107	99	4.3(2.5)	1.4	2.6	5.2	7.7	13.4	15.9	32.5	0.18
		Female	116	100	4.1 (2.7)	1.3	2.2	3.7	7.0	12.8	29.6	109	
MCPP	0.2	Male	107	94	1.2 (2.5)	0.3	0.6	1.3	2.3	3.4	4.0	12.1	0.36
		Female	116	94	1.1(2.7)	0.2	0.5	1.1	1.9	4.0	6.6	11.1	
MEP	1	Male	107	100	108.9 (2.4)	23.2	44.6	111	222	594	1130	7950	0.80
		Female	116	99	114.5 (2.8)	20.2	40.8	115.5	241	762	1900	9810	
MiBP	0.2	Male	107	98	1.8 (2.7)	0.4	0.9	1.7	3.6	6.4	8.4	40.1	0.33
		Female	116	98	2.0 (2.9)	0.5	1.0	2.0	3.6	8.6	12.6	33.9	
MEHP	1	Male	107	89	5.0 (3.5)	1.0	2.5	6.1	10	16.6	18.8	62	1.00
		Female	116	91	5.2 (2.6)	1.0	2.5	5.6	9.5	16.8	30.1	54.7	
MECPP	0.2	Male	107	100	31.9 (2.6)	8.6	19.4	33.7	58.3	107	125	193	0.99
		Female	116	100	30.9 (2.9)	9.7	15.1	35.4	58.1	107	138	251	
MEHHP	0.1	Male	107	100	19.4 (3.6)	4.7	10.6	16.9	42.7	76.4	95.2	167	0.83
		Female	116	100	19.1 (4.7)	4.9	9.1	22.7	37.5	67.8	96.7	161	
MEOHP	0.1	Male	107	100	11.6 (2.7)	3.1	6.0	11.2	25.2	46.0	49.9	85.8	0.83
		Female	116	100	11.6 (2.9)	3.2	5.8	13.3	24.7	42.7	56.1	133	

Table 4.4. . Distribution of total (free+glucuronidated) BPA and phthalate metabolites in third trimester maternal urine (ng/mL uncorrected for dilution).

^aLOQ: limit of quantification ^bGM: geometric mean(standard error)

^cMax: maximum

*p-value from Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test for differences between males and females

Table 4.5. Likelihood ratio test for BMI trajectory with best fit models for females and males.

		Female		Male							
	-2LL null	-2LL full	DF	<i>p</i> -value	-2LL null	-2LL full	DF	<i>p</i> -value			
BPA	3777.8	3767.3	12	0.57	3402.1	3394.8	12	0.84			
MBP	3777.8	3762.6	12	0.23	3402.1	3383.9	12	0.11			
MiBP	3777.8	3763.9	12	0.31	3402.1	3373.3	12	<0.01			
MBzP	3777.8	3764.7	12	0.36	3402.1	3372.6	12	<0.01			
MCPP	3777.8	3768.6	12	0.69	3402.1	3381.3	12	0.05			
MEP	3777.8	3761.0	12	0.16	3402.1	3385.7	12	0.17			
MEHP	3777.8	3766.4	12	0.49	3402.1	3370.5	12	<0.01			
MEHHP	3777.8	3768.5	12	0.68	3402.1	3372.8	12	<0.01			
MEOHP	3777.8	3769.0	12	0.72	3402.1	3381.3	12	0.05			
MECPP	3777.8	3749.6	12	0.01	3402.1	3386.6	12	0.22			

^anull model contains age polynomials and covariates

^bfull model contains SG-corrected metabolites, covariates, age polynomials, and their interactions ^cDF=degrees of freedom between null and full models ^{*}*p*-value comparing null to full model; significance indicates full model has better fit.

Table 4.6. Likelihood ratio test for height trajectory with best fit models for females and males.

		Female			Male							
	-2LL null	-2LL full	DF	p-value	-2LL null	-2LL full	DF	<i>p</i> -value				
BPA	4943.4	4927.3	10	0.10	4460.5	4446.2	8	0.07				
MBP	4943.4	4927.5	10	0.10	4460.5	4451.1	8	0.31				
MiBP	4943.4	4934.8	10	0.57	4460.5	4447.2	8	0.10				
MBzP	4943.4	4935.5	10	0.64	4460.5	4456.6	8	0.87				
MCPP	4943.4	4935.3	10	0.62	4460.5	4420.2	8	<0.01				
MEP	4943.4	4929.9	10	0.20	4460.5	4444.6	8	0.04				
MEHP	4943.4	4926.5	10	0.08	4460.5	4452.8	8	0.46				
MEHHP	4943.4	4936.8	10	0.76	4460.5	4447.2	8	0.10				
MEOHP	4943.4	4936.4	10	0.73	4460.5	4443.9	8	0.03				
MECPP	4943.4	4925.2	10	0.05	4460.5	4446.3	8	0.08				

anull model contains age polynomials and covariates bfull model contains SG-corrected metabolites, covariates, age polynomials, and their interactions cDF=degrees of freedom between null and full models **p*-value comparing null to full model; significance indicates full model has better fit

Figure 4.1. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MECPP for a female with mean covariate values.



Figure 4.2. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MiBP for a male with mean covariate values.



Figure 4.3. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MBzP for a male with mean covariate values.



Figure 4.4. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MCPP for a male with mean covariate values.



Figure 4.5. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MEHP for a male with mean covariate values.



Figure 4.6. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MEHHP for a male with mean covariate values.



Figure 4.7. Predicted BMI trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MEOHP for a male with mean covariate values.



Figure 4.8. Ages and estimates of significant estimated BMI differences between tertiles of phthalate metabolites for males and females.



Figure 4.9. Ages of significant ($p \le 0.05$) estimated differences between tertiles of phthalate metabolites that were significant from the likelihood ratio test for BMI trajectory. Red indicates positive estimated differences, blue indicates negative.

Sex	Metabolite	Tertile							1	Age							
			0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
Female	MECPP	1 vs 3	-														
		1 vs 2				•											
		2 vs 3															
Male	MiBP	1 vs 3															
		1 vs 2															
		2 vs 3			_		•										
Male	MBzP	1 vs 3	-	•													
		1 VS 2	-	•													
		2 vs 3															
Male	MCPP	1 vs 3															
		1 VS 2															
		2 vs 3															
Male	MEHP	1 vs 3															
		1 vs 2															
		2 vs 3				-											
Male	MEHHP	1 VS 2															
		2 vs 3				-						•					
		1 vs 3										_					
Male	MEOHP	1 VS 2															
		2 vs 3															
		1 vs 3															



Figure 4.10. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MECPP for an average female.



Figure 4.11. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MCPP for an average male.



Figure 4.12. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MEP for an average male.



Figure 4.13. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of MEOHP for an average male.

Figure 4.14. Ages and estimates of significant estimated height differences between tertiles of phthalate metabolites for males and females.



Figure 4.15. Ages of significant ($p \le 0.05$) estimated differences between tertiles of phthalate metabolites that were significant from the likelihood ratio test for height trajectory. Red indicates positive estimated differences, blue indicates negative.

Sex	Metabolite	Tertile							1	Age							
			0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
Female	MECPP	1 vs 3															
		1 vs 2															
		2 vs 3															
Male	MCPP	1 vs 3															
		1 vs 2															
		2 vs 3															
Male	MEP	1 vs 3															
		1 vs 2															
		2 vs 3															
Male	MEOHP	1 vs 3															
		1 vs 2															
		2 vs 3												-			



Figure 4.16. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of BPA for an average female.



Figure 4.17. Predicted height trajectories and estimated differences between tertiles of BPA for an average male.

CHAPTER 5

Conclusions

This dissertation research sought to investigate potential contributing factors in the globally pervasive increases of overweight and obesity. Utilizing the frameworks of sensitive and critical periods for development and the Developmental Origin of Health and Disease, disruptions during these periods were hypothesized to be more detrimental than those occurring outside these periods. This research used a study population in Mexico, a country undergoing the nutrition transition, where shifting dietary and physical activity behaviors may increase the risks for later increased weight status, as fetuses may be exposed to environments that they are not physiologically adapted for (Hanson and Gluckman 2008; Popkin et al. 2012). This study population was rich resource, having recruited mothers from pregnancy and continuously following them and their children, who are now in adolescence. This provides an opportunity to temporality establish risk factors and their consequences and, given that childhood and adolescent obesity have been shown to track into adulthood, to suggest possible reasons for the increase in global obesity burden (Guo et al. 1994).

Chapter 2 focused on preterm birth as a stimulus for adverse catch-up growth and the relation with adolescent BMI, waist circumference, and obesity. Chapters 3 and 4 involved assessment of exposures to the endocrine-disrupting compounds Bisphenol A and phthalate metabolites during pregnancy and adolescence. The objectives in chapter 3 were to assess the distributions of urinary metabolites in pregnancy and adolescent urines and to examine the continuous and quartile exposures in both time periods with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold. Chapter 4 focused on the novel application of growth trajectory methods to examine whether tertiles of exposure to metabolites during pregnancy would differentially affect BMI and height trajectories

In chapter 2, we found no association between preterm birth and later odds of obesity or increases in BMI or waist circumference in either males or females. This study would greatly benefit from a larger sample size, as well as additional information regarding the type of preterm birth that occurred, such as spontaneous or medically indicated. However, our findings that maternal obesity was a significant risk factor for later child and adolescent obesity mirrored findings from other studies (Rooney and Ozanne 2011; Symonds et al. 2013). Possible future work could include the use of repeated measures to assess whether catch-up growth occurs for children born preterm, as well as whether the velocity of growth.

Preterm birth research would be greatly enhanced by improved quality and systematic reporting of all births in a globally-regulated format. Attaining consensus over definition and categories (spontaneous vs. medically-indicated vs. voluntary) of preterm birth would help monitor the changes in rates of preterm births reported. These practices would be informative to assess differences between low- and highincome countries particularly with voluntary induction of preterm birth, medical technologies, and structure of reporting stillbirths, where the interpretation of viability may be prone to misclassification. In developed countries, 5-10% of all
preterm births are stillbirths, with antepartum origins but occurring during the intrapartum period, which could lead to misclassification (Flenady et al. 2011). Availability of advanced early life medical care and technologies could facilitate early delivery of fetuses not growing optimally, reducing the number of stillbirths, but increasing the number of preterm births.

Implementation of various intervention strategies such as reducing the number of non-indicated caesarean deliveries and induction of labor, decreasing multiple embryo transfers during assisted reproductive technologies such as in-vitro fertilization, smoking cessation programs, and progesterone supplementation have only a projected conservative effect of decreasing the number of preterm birth rates by approximately 5% (Chang et al. 2013). However, the risk factors for preterm birth are diverse and elusive so it may be that focusing on modifiable behaviors, such as maternal over-nutrition, may be a realistic and positive modifier of a child's risk for later adverse weight status.

In chapter 3, we found that BPA and phthalate metabolites had primarily nonmonotonic associations with adolescent BMI z-score, waist circumference, and triceps skinfold, and that direction and magnitude of association differed for males and females, similar to other studies (Bhandari et al. 2013; Harley et al. 2013; Hatch et al. 2010, 2008; Teitelbaum et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2012a; Wells et al. 2013). Additionally, significant findings were observed in lower levels of exposure (e.g. second quartile rather than fourth quartile, compared to the first, reference, quartile), which was observed in other studies; the non-monotonic relationship between these endocrine-disrupting compounds and outcomes may be an exception to the oft-quoted notion that, for toxins, "the dose makes the poison" (Marmugi et al. 2012; Vandenberg 2014; Welshons et al. 2006). Suggestive associations for continuous urinary metabolites and outcome measures were different between the two time periods and our adolescent cross-sectional findings of higher fat mass and distribution from continuous measures of BPA and MEP exposures in females are consistent with other cross-sectional studies (Bhandari et al. 2013; Carwile and Michels 2011; Eng et al. 2013; Harley et al. 2013; Hatch et al. 2010, 2008; Li et al. 2013; Shankar and Teppala 2011; Stahlhut et al. 2007; Teitelbaum et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2012a, 2012d).

Chapter 4 examined BPA and phthalate metabolite tertile exposures *in utero* and the resulting BMI and height trajectories and velocities for each tertile. The objective of this chapter was to use growth curve modeling for individuals with the novel approach of applying it to tertile levels of exposure during a sensitive period of development. Using mixed models and fractional polynomial age terms, models were created separately for males and females. The resulting trajectories indicated that males and females were influenced by different metabolites and that the highest trajectories for females by age 14 were due to the third tertile of exposure, whereas the lowest tertile of exposure produced the highest trajectories for males. These findings were reversed for males and females with BPA and height trajectories, where the lowest tertile in females and highest tertile in males were associated with the highest height trajectory.

Chapters 3 and 4 take advantage of repeated measures available in the study cohorts, as well as the archived biological samples from pregnancy, allowing us to examine a period of time where rapid development is occurring. The extensive follow-up time has also allowed us to examine outcome measures from biomarkers in pregnancy at later ages than those previously reported in the literature. One limitation of this study is the use of a single spot urine during pregnancy and in adolescence, as BPA and phthalates are known to have short half-lives (Koch et al. 2005; Völkel et al. 2002). However, other studies have shown that a single measure may be a relatively good measure due to the consistency of everyday behaviors leading to exposure (Braun et al. 2012b; Mahalingaiah et al. 2008; Teitelbaum et al. 2008). Additionally, our confidence is stronger in the longitudinal results as reverse causality is not an issue. With cross-sectional studies, it is difficulty to establish temporality and results may be confounded by reverse causality; overweight individuals may consume more calories, or eat more foods packaged in materials with BPA and phthalates, resulting in a higher load of these chemicals.

Future research directions for chapters 3 and 4 would be to assess whether associations persist later into adolescence, beyond the pubertal stage, with additional follow-up of participants. Additionally, it would be interesting to investigate the "double hit" hypothesis, where exposures to EDCs during the perinatal period followed by exposures during the peripubertal period are thought to induce outcomes that were more severe than if exposures had only occurred at one point in time. Furthermore, assessing mixtures of EDCs, rather than individual metabolites, would be more representative of how individuals are commonly exposed.

Eliminating exposures to these compounds is likely impossible, given the pervasive nature of their use and multiple routes of exposure. However, several preventative strategies could be implemented by individuals to reduce their exposures, particularly during vulnerable periods of life such as pregnancy and early childhood. Limiting handling of thermal receipt paper, many of which contain BPA, or choosing personal care products that do not contain phthalates could potentially reduce dermal exposure (Biedermann et al. 2010; Lewis et al. 2013). And, as oral contact is thought to be a major source of exposure, using glass or metal storage containers could decrease exposure; a dietary intervention involving the substitution of canned and packaged foods for "fresh foods" also found an average decrease of 66% for BPA and 53-56% for DEHP metabolites, showing a possibility for reduction in ingestion exposure (Rudel and Gray 2011; Wormuth et al. 2006).

Broadly, the results of this dissertation highlight that there may be factors outside an individual's control that may influence weight status and adiposity. Finding and understanding these potential factors are beneficial to public health and health care practitioners as they may contribute towards the design and implementation of more effective prevention or intervention strategies on child obesity.

REFERENCES

- Adibi JJ, Perera FP, Jedrychowski W, Camann DE, Barr D, Jacek R, et al. 2003. Prenatal Exposures to Phthalates among Women in New York City and Krakow, Poland. Environ. Health Perspect. 111:1719–1722; doi:10.1289/ehp.6235.
- Alberga AS, Sigal RJ, Goldfield G, Prud'homme D, Kenny GP. 2012. Overweight and obese teenagers: why is adolescence a critical period? Pediatr. Obes. 7:261–73; doi:10.1111/j.2047-6310.2011.00046.x.
- Alonso-Magdalena P, Laribi O, Ropero AB, Fuentes E, Ripoll C, Soria B, et al. 2005a. Low Doses of Bisphenol A and Diethylstilbestrol Impair Ca2+ Signals in Pancreatic α-Cells through a Nonclassical Membrane Estrogen Receptor within Intact Islets of Langerhans. Environ. Health Perspect. 113:969–977; doi:10.1289/ehp.8002.
- Alonso-Magdalena P, Morimoto S, Ripoll C, Fuentes E, Nadal A. 2005b. The Estrogenic Effect of Bisphenol A Disrupts Pancreatic β-Cell Function In Vivo and Induces Insulin Resistance. Environ. Health Perspect. 114:106–112; doi:10.1289/ehp.8451.
- Ananth C V, Joseph KS, Oyelese Y, Demissie K, Vintzileos AM. 2005. Trends in preterm birth and perinatal mortality among singletons: United States, 1989 through 2000. Obstet. Gynecol. 105:1084–91; doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000158124.96300.c7.
- Andres RL, Day MC. 2000. Perinatal complications associated with maternal tobacco use. Semin. Neonatol. 5:231–41; doi:10.1053/siny.2000.0025.
- Angle BM, Do RP, Ponzi D, Stahlhut RW, Drury BE, Nagel SC, et al. 2013. Metabolic disruption in male mice due to fetal exposure to low but not high doses of bisphenol A (BPA): Evidence for effects on body weight, food intake, adipocytes, leptin, adiponectin, insulin and glucose regulation. Reprod. Toxicol. 1–13; doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2013.07.017.
- Aylward GP. 2005. Neurodevelopmental outcomes of infants born prematurely. J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr. 26: 427–40.
- Baillie-Hamilton PF. 2002. Chemical toxins: a hypothesis to explain the global obesity epidemic. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 8:185–92; doi:10.1089/107555302317371479.

- Barker DJ. 1998. In utero programming of chronic disease. Clin. Sci. (Lond). 95: 115–28.
- Barquera S, Hernández-Barrera L, Campos-Nonato I, Espinosa J, Flores M, J AB, et al. 2009. Energy and nutrient consumption in adults: analysis of the Mexican National Health and Nutrition Survey 2006. Salud Publica Mex. 51 Suppl 4: S562-73.
- Bassett JHD, Williams GR. 2003. The molecular actions of thyroid hormone in bone. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 14:356–64; doi:10.1016/S1043-2760(03)00144-9.
- Bays H, Mandarino L, DeFronzo R a. 2004. Role of the Adipocyte, Free Fatty Acids, and Ectopic Fat in Pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Peroxisomal Proliferator-Activated Receptor Agonists Provide a Rational Therapeutic Approach. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89:463–478; doi:10.1210/jc.2003-030723.
- Behrman RE, Butler AS. 2007. *Preterm Birth: Causes, Consequences, and Prevention*. R.E. Behrman and A.S. Butlereds. National Academies Press (US).
- Belfort MB, Gillman MW, Buka SL, Casey PH, McCormick MC. 2013. Preterm infant linear growth and adiposity gain: trade-offs for later weight status and intelligence quotient. J. Pediatr. 163:1564–1569.e2; doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.06.032.
- Berger JP, Akiyama TE, Meinke PT. 2005. PPARs: therapeutic targets for metabolic disease. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 26:244–51; doi:10.1016/j.tips.2005.03.003.
- Bermudez EA, Rifai N, Buring JE, Manson JE, Ridker PM. 2002. Relation between markers of systemic vascular inflammation and smoking in women. Am. J. Cardiol. 89: 1117–9.
- Bhandari R, Xiao J, Shankar A. 2013. Urinary Bisphenol A and Obesity in US Children. Am. J. Epidemiol. 1–8; doi:10.1093/aje/kws391.
- Biedermann S, Tschudin P, Grob K. 2010. Transfer of bisphenol A from thermal printer paper to the skin. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 398:571–6; doi:10.1007/s00216-010-3936-9.
- Blencowe H, Cousens S, Oestergaard MZ, Chou D, Moller A-B, Narwal R, et al. 2012. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of preterm birth rates in the year 2010 with time trends since 1990 for selected countries: a systematic analysis and implications. Lancet 379:2162–72; doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60820-4.
- Blondel B, Morin I, Platt RW, Kramer MS, Usher R, Bréart G. 2002. Algorithms for combining menstrual and ultrasound estimates of gestational age: consequences for rates of preterm and postterm birth. BJOG 109: 718–20.

- Boas M, Frederiksen H, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Skakkebæk NE, Hegedüs L, Hilsted L, et al. 2010. Childhood exposure to phthalates: associations with thyroid function, insulin-like growth factor I, and growth. Environ. Health Perspect. 118:1458–64; doi:10.1289/ehp.0901331.
- Boeke CE, Oken E, Kleinman KP, Rifas-Shiman SL, Taveras EM, Gillman MW. 2013. Correlations among adiposity measures in school-aged children. BMC Pediatr. 13:99; doi:10.1186/1471-2431-13-99.
- Boeniger MF, Lowry LK, Rosenberg J. 1993. Interpretation of urine results used to assess chemical exposure with emphasis on creatinine adjustments: a review. Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 54:615–627; doi:10.1080/15298669391355134.
- Bonner-Weir S. 2000. Life and death of the pancreatic beta cells. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 11: 375–8.
- Boucher JG, Boudreau a, Atlas E. 2014. Bisphenol A induces differentiation of human preadipocytes in the absence of glucocorticoid and is inhibited by an estrogen-receptor antagonist. Nutr. Diabetes 4:e102; doi:10.1038/nutd.2013.43.
- Boyle EM, Poulsen G, Field DJ, Kurinczuk JJ, Wolke D, Alfirevic Z, et al. 2012. Effects of gestational age at birth on health outcomes at 3 and 5 years of age: population based cohort study. Bmj 344:e896–e896; doi:10.1136/bmj.e896.
- Braun JM, Kalkbrenner AE, Calafat AM, Yolton K, Ye X, Dietrich KN, et al. 2011. Impact of early-life bisphenol A exposure on behavior and executive function in children. Pediatrics 128:873–82; doi:10.1542/peds.2011-1335.
- Braun JM, Smith KW, Williams PL, Calafat AM, Berry K, Ehrlich S, et al. 2012a. Variability of urinary phthalate metabolite and bisphenol A concentrations before and during pregnancy. Environ. Health Perspect. 120:739–45; doi:10.1289/ehp.1104139.
- Braun JM, Smith KW, Williams PL, Calafat AM, Berry K, Ehrlich S, et al. 2012b. Variability of urinary phthalate metabolite and bisphenol A concentrations before and during pregnancy. Environ. Health Perspect. 120:739–45; doi:10.1289/ehp.1104139.
- Braun JM, Yolton K, Dietrich KN, Hornung R, Ye X, Calafat AM, et al. 2009. Prenatal bisphenol A exposure and early childhood behavior. Environ. Health Perspect. 117:1945–52; doi:10.1289/ehp.0900979.
- Brede C, Fjeldal P, Skjevrak I, Herikstad H. 2003. Increased migration levels of bisphenol A from polycarbonate baby bottles after dishwashing, boiling and brushing. Food Addit. Contam. 20:684–9; doi:10.1080/0265203031000119061.

- Brown HK, Speechley KN, Macnab J, Natale R, Campbell MK. 2013. Neonatal morbidity associated with late preterm and early term birth: the roles of gestational age and biological determinants of preterm birth. Int. J. Epidemiol.; doi:10.1093/ije/dyt251.
- Buckler J. 1997. *A reference manual of growth and development*. 2nd ed. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford; Cambridge, Mass.
- Calafat AM, Ye X, Wong L-Y, Reidy J a, Needham LL. 2008. Exposure of the U.S. population to bisphenol A and 4-tertiary-octylphenol: 2003-2004. Environ. Health Perspect. 116:39–44; doi:10.1289/ehp.10753.
- Callan AC, Hinwood AL, Heffernan A, Eaglesham G, Mueller J, Odland JØ. 2012. Urinary bisphenol A concentrations in pregnant women. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 2–5; doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2012.10.002.
- Cameron N, Demerath EW. 2002. Critical periods in human growth and their relationship to diseases of aging. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. Suppl 35:159–84; doi:10.1002/ajpa.10183.
- Campbell MW-C, Williams J, Carlin JB, Wake M. 2011. Is the adiposity rebound a rebound in adiposity? Int. J. Pediatr. Obes. 6:e207–15; doi:10.3109/17477166.2010.526613.
- Cantonwine D, Meeker JD, Hu H, Sánchez BN, Lamadrid-Figueroa H, Mercado-García A, et al. 2010. Bisphenol a exposure in Mexico City and risk of prematurity: a pilot nested case control study. Environ. Health 9:62; doi:10.1186/1476-069X-9-62.
- Carwile JL, Michels KB. 2011. Urinary bisphenol A and obesity: NHANES 2003-2006. Environ. Res. 111:825–30; doi:10.1016/j.envres.2011.05.014.
- CDC. 2013. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Fourth Report on Human Exposure to Environmental Chemicals, Updated Tables. Centers Dis. Control Prev.
- Chang HH, Larson J, Blencowe H, Spong CY, Howson CP, Cairns-Smith S, et al. 2013. Preventing preterm births: analysis of trends and potential reductions with interventions in 39 countries with very high human development index. Lancet 381:223–34; doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61856-X.
- Chevrier J, Gunier RB, Bradman A, Holland NT, Calafat AM, Eskenazi B, et al. 2013. Maternal urinary bisphenol a during pregnancy and maternal and neonatal thyroid function in the CHAMACOS study. Environ. Health Perspect. 121:138– 44; doi:10.1289/ehp.1205092.

- Chou W-C, Chen J-L, Lin C-F, Chen Y-C, Shih F-C, Chuang C-Y. 2011. Biomonitoring of bisphenol A concentrations in maternal and umbilical cord blood in regard to birth outcomes and adipokine expression: a birth cohort study in Taiwan. Environ. Health 10:94; doi:10.1186/1476-069X-10-94.
- Chyi LJ, Lee HC, Hintz SR, Gould JB, Sutcliffe TL. 2008. School outcomes of late preterm infants: special needs and challenges for infants born at 32 to 36 weeks gestation. J. Pediatr. 153:25–31; doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2008.01.027.
- Clark KE, David RM, Guinn R, Kramarz KW, Lampi M a, Staples C a. 2011. Modeling Human Exposure to Phthalate Esters: A Comparison of Indirect and Biomonitoring Estimation Methods. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. 17:923–965; doi:10.1080/10807039.2011.588157.
- Clark SL, Fleischman AR. 2011. Term pregnancy: time for a redefinition. Clin. Perinatol. 38:557–64; doi:10.1016/j.clp.2011.06.014.
- Cnattingius S. 2004. The epidemiology of smoking during pregnancy: smoking prevalence, maternal characteristics, and pregnancy outcomes. Nicotine Tob. Res. 6 Suppl 2:S125–40; doi:10.1080/14622200410001669187.
- Cnattingius S, Bergström R, Lipworth L, Kramer MS. 1998. Prepregnancy weight and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes. N. Engl. J. Med. 338:147–52; doi:10.1056/NEJM199801153380302.
- Cnattingius S, Villamor E, Johansson S, Edstedt Bonamy A-K, Persson M, Wikström A-K, et al. 2013. Maternal obesity and risk of preterm delivery. JAMA 309:2362–70; doi:10.1001/jama.2013.6295.
- Cole T. 2009. Growth and organ development. Breast-Feeding Early Influ. Later Heal. 639:1–13; doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-8749-3_1.
- Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. 2000. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ 320: 1240–3.
- Colón I, Caro D, Bourdony CJ, Rosario O. 2000. Identification of phthalate esters in the serum of young Puerto Rican girls with premature breast development. Environ. Health Perspect. 108: 895–900.
- Conde-Agudelo A, Rosas-Bermúdez A, Kafury-Goeta AC. 2006. Birth spacing and risk of adverse perinatal outcomes: a meta-analysis. JAMA 295:1809–23; doi:10.1001/jama.295.15.1809.
- Cooke PS, Naaz A. 2004. Role of estrogens in adipocyte development and function. Exp. Biol. Med. (Maywood). 229: 1127–35.

- Cooke RJ, Rawlings DJ, McCormick K, Griffin IJ, Faulkner K, Wells JC, et al. 1999. Body composition of preterm infants during infancy. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 80: F188–91.
- Cooper C, Kuh D, Egger P, Wadsworth M, Barker D. 1996. Childhood growth and age at menarche. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 103: 814–7.
- Copper RL, Goldenberg RL, Das A, Elder N, Swain M, Norman G, et al. 1996. The preterm prediction study: maternal stress is associated with spontaneous preterm birth at less than thirty-five weeks' gestation. National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Maternal-Fetal Medicine Units Network. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 175: 1286–92.
- Coster S De, Larebeke N van. 2012. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: associated disorders and mechanisms of action. J. Environ. Public Health 2012:713696; doi:10.1155/2012/713696.
- Cruz M, García-Macedo R, García-Valerio Y, Gutiérrez M, Medina-Navarro R, Duran G, et al. 2004. Low adiponectin levels predict type 2 diabetes in Mexican children. Diabetes Care 27: 1451–3.
- Dang Z-C, Audinot V, Papapoulos SE, Boutin J a, Löwik CWGM. 2003. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) as a molecular target for the soy phytoestrogen genistein. J. Biol. Chem. 278:962–7; doi:10.1074/jbc.M209483200.
- David R, Bachman A, Butala J, Piper J, Shelp C. 2012. Esters of Mono-, Di-, and Tricarboxylic Acids. In *Patty's Toxicology*, pp. 147–352.
- Denzer C, Weibel a, Muche R, Karges B, Sorgo W, Wabitsch M. 2007. Pubertal development in obese children and adolescents. Int. J. Obes. (Lond). 31:1509–19; doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803691.
- Dietz WH. 1994. Critical periods in childhood for the development of obesity. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 59: 955–9.
- Dietz WH. 1997. Periods of risk in childhood for the development of adult obesity-what do we need to learn? J. Nutr. 127: 1884S–1886S.
- Dodson RE, Nishioka M, Standley LJ, Perovich LJ, Brody JG, Rudel RA. 2012. Endocrine disruptors and asthma-associated chemicals in consumer products. Environ. Health Perspect. 120:935–43; doi:10.1289/ehp.1104052.
- Dommelen P van, Kroon ML a de, Cameron N, Schönbeck Y, Buuren S van. 2014. The Impact of Height during Childhood on the National Prevalence Rates of Overweight. PLoS One 9:e85769; doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085769.

- Doyle LW. 2004. Extremely low birth weight and body size in early adulthood. Arch. Dis. Child. 89:347–350; doi:10.1136/adc.2002.025924.
- Dulloo a G, Jacquet J, Seydoux J, Montani J-P. 2006. The thrifty "catch-up fat" phenotype: its impact on insulin sensitivity during growth trajectories to obesity and metabolic syndrome. Int. J. Obes. (Lond). 30 Suppl 4:S23–35; doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803516.
- Ebbeling CB, Pawlak DB, Ludwig DS. 2002. Childhood obesity: public-health crisis, common sense cure. Lancet 360:473–82; doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)09678-2.
- Efrat M, Tepper S, Birk RZ. 2013. From fat cell biology to public health preventive strategies pinpointing the critical period for obesity prevention. J. Pediatr. Endocrinol. Metab. 26:197–209; doi:10.1515/jpem-2012-0379.
- Elobeid MA, Allison DB. 2008. Putative environmental-endocrine disruptors and obesity: a review. Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes. Obes. 15:403–8; doi:10.1097/MED.ob013e32830ce95c.
- Eng DS, Gebremariam A, Meeker JD, Peterson K, Padmanabhan V, Lee JM. 2013. Bisphenol A and Chronic Disease Risk Factors in US Children. Pediatrics 132:e637–45; doi:10.1542/peds.2013-0106.
- Ettinger AS, Lamadrid-Figueroa H, Téllez-Rojo MM, Mercado-García A, Peterson KE, Schwartz J, et al. 2009. Effect of calcium supplementation on blood lead levels in pregnancy: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Environ. Health Perspect. 117:26–31; doi:10.1289/ehp.11868.
- Euser AM, Finken MJJ, Keijzer-Veen MG, Hille ETM, Wit JM, Dekker FW. 2005. Associations between prenatal and infancy weight gain and BMI, fat mass, and fat distribution in young adulthood: a prospective cohort study in males and females born very preterm. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 81: 480–7.
- Euser AM, Wit CC de, Finken MJJ, Rijken M, Wit JM. 2008. Growth of preterm born children. Horm. Res. 70:319–28; doi:10.1159/000161862.
- Evans RM, Barish GD, Wang Y-X. 2004. PPARs and the complex journey to obesity. Nat. Med. 10:355–61; doi:10.1038/nm1025.
- Fall CH, Pandit a N, Law CM, Yajnik CS, Clark PM, Breier B, et al. 1995. Size at birth and plasma insulin-like growth factor-1 concentrations. Arch. Dis. Child. 73: 287–93.
- Farley TA. 2012. The role of government in preventing excess calorie consumption: the example of New York City. JAMA 308:1093-4; doi:10.1001/2012.jama.11623.

- Farooqi A, Hägglöf B, Sedin G, Gothefors L, Serenius F. 2006. Growth in 10- to 12year-old children born at 23 to 25 weeks' gestation in the 1990s: a Swedish national prospective follow-up study. Pediatrics 118:e1452–65; doi:10.1542/peds.2006-1069.
- Feige JN, Gelman L, Rossi D, Zoete V, Métivier R, Tudor C, et al. 2007. The endocrine disruptor monoethyl-hexyl-phthalate is a selective peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma modulator that promotes adipogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 282:19152–66; doi:10.1074/jbc.M702724200.
- Fennoy I. 2013. Effect of obesity on linear growth. Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes. Obes. 20:44–9; doi:10.1097/MED.ob013e32835b7f15.
- Finken MJJ, Keijzer-Veen MG, Dekker FW, Frölich M, Hille ETM, Romijn J a, et al. 2006. Preterm birth and later insulin resistance: effects of birth weight and postnatal growth in a population based longitudinal study from birth into adult life. Diabetologia 49:478–85; doi:10.1007/s00125-005-0118-y.
- Flegal KM, Ogden CL, Yanovski JA, Freedman DS, Shepherd JA, Graubard BI, et al. 2010. High adiposity and high body mass index-for-age in US children and adolescents overall and by race-ethnic group. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 91:1020–6; doi:10.3945/ajcn.2009.28589.
- Flenady V, Middleton P, Smith GC, Duke W, Erwich JJ, Khong TY, et al. 2011. Stillbirths: the way forward in high-income countries. Lancet 377:1703–17; doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60064-0.
- Flores-Delgado G, Marsch-Moreno M, Kuri-Harcuch W. 1987. Thyroid hormone stimulates adipocyte differentiation of 3T3 cells. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 76: 35–43.
- Ford GW, Doyle LW, Davis NM, Callanan C. 2000. Very low birth weight and growth into adolescence. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 154: 778–84.
- Frederiksen H, Aksglaede L, Sorensen K, Skakkebaek NE, Juul A, Andersson A-M. 2011. Urinary excretion of phthalate metabolites in 129 healthy Danish children and adolescents: estimation of daily phthalate intake. Environ. Res. 111:656–63; doi:10.1016/j.envres.2011.03.005.
- Frederiksen H, Sørensen K, Mouritsen a, Aksglaede L, Hagen CP, Petersen JH, et al. 2012. High urinary phthalate concentration associated with delayed pubarche in girls. Int. J. Androl. 35:216–26; doi:10.1111/j.1365-2605.2012.01260.x.
- Freedman DS, Khan LK, Mei Z, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. 2002. Relation of childhood height to obesity among adults: the Bogalusa Heart Study . Pediatrics 109: E23.

- Freedman DS, Sherry B. 2009. The validity of BMI as an indicator of body fatness and risk among children. Pediatrics 124 Suppl :S23–34; doi:10.1542/peds.2008-3586E.
- Freedman DS, Thornton JC, Mei Z, Wang J, Dietz WH, Pierson RN, et al. 2004. Height and adiposity among children. Obes. Res. 12:846–53; doi:10.1038/oby.2004.102.
- Friedrich L, Pitrez PMC, Stein RT, Goldani M, Tepper R, Jones MH. 2007. Growth rate of lung function in healthy preterm infants. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 176:1269–73; doi:10.1164/rccm.200703-4760C.
- Frisch RE, Revelle R, Cook S. 1973. Components of weight at menarche and the initiation of the adolescent growth spurt in girls: estimated total water, llean body weight and fat. Hum. Biol. 45: 469–83.
- Fu P, Kawamura K. 2010. Ubiquity of bisphenol A in the atmosphere. Environ. Pollut. 158:3138–43; doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2010.06.040.
- Gapstur SM, Gann PH, Kopp P, Colangelo L, Longcope C, Liu K. 2002. Serum androgen concentrations in young men: a longitudinal analysis of associations with age, obesity, and race. The CARDIA male hormone study. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 11: 1041–7.
- Garn SM, Clark DC, Guire KE. 1974. Levels of fatness and size attainment. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 40:447–9; doi:10.1002/ajpa.1330400316.
- Garza C, Onis M de. 2004. Rationale for developing a new international growth reference. Food Nutr. Bull. 25: S5–14.
- Genazzani AR, Pintor C, Corda R. 1978. Plasma levels of gonadotropins, prolactin, thyroxine, and adrenal and gonadal steroids in obese prepubertal girls. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 47:974–9; doi:10.1210/jcem-47-5-974.
- Giannì ML, Roggero P, Liotto N, Amato O, Piemontese P, Morniroli D, et al. 2012. Postnatal catch-up fat after late preterm birth. Pediatr. Res. 72:637–40; doi:10.1038/pr.2012.128.
- Gibson RS. 2005. *Principles of Nutritional Assessment*. 2nd ed. Oxford University Press.
- Gillman MW. 2008. The first months of life: a critical period for development of obesity. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 87: 1587–9.
- Gluckman PD, Hanson M a. 2008. Developmental and epigenetic pathways to obesity: an evolutionary-developmental perspective. Int. J. Obes. (Lond). 32 Suppl 7:S62–71; doi:10.1038/ijo.2008.240.

- Gluckman PD, Hanson M a. 2004. Maternal constraint of fetal growth and its consequences. Semin. Fetal Neonatal Med. 9:419–25; doi:10.1016/j.siny.2004.03.001.
- Gluckman PD, Hanson M a, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. 2008. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 359:61–73; doi:10.1056/NEJMra0708473.
- Gluckman PD, Hanson M a, Spencer HG. 2005. Predictive adaptive responses and human evolution. Trends Ecol. Evol. 20:527–33; doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.08.001.
- Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Beedle AS. 2007. Early life events and their consequences for later disease: a life history and evolutionary perspective. Am. J. Hum. Biol. 19:1–19; doi:10.1002/ajhb.20590.
- Godfrey KM, Sheppard A, Gluckman PD, Lillycrop K a, Burdge GC, McLean C, et al. 2011. Epigenetic gene promoter methylation at birth is associated with child's later adiposity. Diabetes 60:1528–34; doi:10.2337/db10-0979.
- Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, Romero R. 2008. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. Lancet 371:75–84; doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60074-4.
- Gonzalez-Cossio T, Peterson KE, Sanin L-H, Fishbein E, Palazuelos E, Aro a., et al. 1997. Decrease in Birth Weight in Relation to Maternal Bone-Lead Burden. Pediatrics 100:856–862; doi:10.1542/peds.100.5.856.
- Gould JC, Leonard LS, Maness SC, Wagner BL, Conner K, Zacharewski T, et al. 1998. Bisphenol A interacts with the estrogen receptor alpha in a distinct manner from estradiol. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 142: 203–14.
- Gray RF, Indurkhya A, McCormick MC. 2004. Prevalence, stability, and predictors of clinically significant behavior problems in low birth weight children at 3, 5, and 8 years of age. Pediatrics 114:736–43; doi:10.1542/peds.2003-1150-L.
- Greer IA, Lyall F, Perera T, Boswell F, Macara LM. 1994. Increased concentrations of cytokines interleukin-6 and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in plasma of women with preeclampsia: a mechanism for endothelial dysfunction? Obstet. Gynecol. 84: 937–940.
- Grün F, Blumberg B. 2009. Endocrine disrupters as obesogens. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 304:19–29; doi:10.1016/j.mce.2009.02.018.
- Guo SS, Roche AF, Chumlea WC, Gardner JD, Siervogel RM. 1994. The predictive value of childhood body mass index values for overweight at age 35 y. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 59: 810–9.

- Gupta N, Shah P, Nayyar S, Misra A. 2013. Childhood obesity and the metabolic syndrome in developing countries. Indian J. Pediatr. 80 Suppl 1:S28–37; doi:10.1007/s12098-012-0923-5.
- Hales CN, Barker DJ. 1992. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. Diabetologia 35: 595–601.
- Hales CN, Barker DJ, Clark PM, Cox LJ, Fall C, Osmond C, et al. 1991. Fetal and infant growth and impaired glucose tolerance at age 64. BMJ 303: 1019–22.
- Hanson MA, Gluckman PD. 2008. Developmental origins of health and disease: new insights. Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 102:90–3; doi:10.1111/j.1742-7843.2007.00186.x.
- Hao C, Cheng X, Xia H, Ma X. 2012. The endocrine disruptor mono-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate promotes adipocyte differentiation and induces obesity in mice. Biosci. Rep. 32:619–29; doi:10.1042/BSR20120042.
- Harley KG, Aguilar Schall R, Chevrier J, Tyler K, Aguirre H, Bradman A, et al. 2013. Prenatal and postnatal bisphenol A exposure and body mass index in childhood in the CHAMACOS cohort. Environ. Health Perspect. 121:514–20, 520e1–6; doi:10.1289/ehp.1205548.
- Hatch EE, Nelson JW, Qureshi MM, Weinberg J, Moore LL, Singer M, et al. 2008. Association of urinary phthalate metabolite concentrations with body mass index and waist circumference: a cross-sectional study of NHANES data, 1999-2002. Environ. Health 7:27; doi:10.1186/1476-069X-7-27.
- Hatch EE, Nelson JW, Stahlhut RW, Webster TF. 2010. Association of endocrine disruptors and obesity: perspectives from epidemiological studies. Int. J. Androl. 33:324–32; doi:10.1111/j.1365-2605.2009.01035.x.
- Hauser R, Calafat AM. 2005. Phthalates and human health. Occup. Environ. Med. 62:806–18; doi:10.1136/oem.2004.017590.
- He Q, Karlberg J. 2001. BMI in childhood and its association with height gain, timing of puberty, and final height. Pediatr. Res. 49:244–51; doi:10.1203/00006450-200102000-00019.
- Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD, Putter H, Blauw GJ, Susser ES, et al. 2008. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105:17046–9; doi:10.1073/pnas.0806560105.
- Heindel JJ. 2003. Endocrine Disruptors and the Obesity Epidemic. Toxicol. Sci. 76:247–249; doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfg255.

- Heindel JJ, Saal FS vom. 2009. Role of nutrition and environmental endocrine disrupting chemicals during the perinatal period on the aetiology of obesity. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 304:90–6; doi:10.1016/j.mce.2009.02.025.
- Hendler I, Goldenberg RL, Mercer BM, Iams JD, Meis PJ, Moawad AH, et al. 2005. The Preterm Prediction Study: association between maternal body mass index and spontaneous and indicated preterm birth. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 192:882– 6; doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2004.09.021.
- Hernandez-Avila M, Gonzalez-Cossio T, Hernandez-Avila JE, Romieu I, Peterson KE, Aro A, et al. 2003. Dietary calcium supplements to lower blood lead levels in lactating women: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Epidemiology 14:206–12; doi:10.1097/01.EDE.0000038520.66094.34.
- Hernández-Díaz S, Mitchell A a, Kelley KE, Calafat AM, Hauser R. 2009. Medications as a potential source of exposure to phthalates in the U.S. population. Environ. Health Perspect. 117:185–9; doi:10.1289/ehp.11766.
- Hintz SR, Kendrick DE, Vohr BR, Kenneth Poole W, Higgins RD. 2006. Gender differences in neurodevelopmental outcomes among extremely preterm, extremely-low-birthweight infants. Acta Paediatr. 95:1239–48; doi:10.1080/08035250600599727.
- Hofman PL, Regan F, Jackson WE, Jefferies C, Knight DB, Robinson EM, et al. 2004. Premature birth and later insulin resistance. N. Engl. J. Med. 351:2179–86; doi:10.1056/NEJM0a042275.
- Hsu N-Y, Lee C-C, Wang J-Y, Li Y-C, Chang H-W, Chen C-Y, et al. 2011. Predicted risk of childhood allergy, asthma and reported symptoms using measured phthalate exposure in dust and urine. Indoor Air; doi:10.1111/j.1600-0668.2011.00753.x.
- Hu H, Téllez-Rojo MM, Bellinger D, Smith D, Ettinger AS, Lamadrid-Figueroa H, et al. 2006. Fetal Lead Exposure at Each Stage of Pregnancy as a Predictor of Infant Mental Development. Environ. Health Perspect. 1730–1735; doi:10.1289/ehp.9067.
- Huang Y, Li J, Garcia JM, Lin H, Wang Y, Yan P, et al. 2014. Phthalate levels in cord blood are associated with preterm delivery and fetal growth parameters in chinese women. PLoS One 9:e87430; doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087430.
- Huddy CL, Johnson A, Hope PL. 2001. Educational and behavioural problems in babies of 32-35 weeks gestation. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 85: F23–8.
- Hugo ER, Brandebourg TD, Woo JG, Loftus J, Alexander JW, Ben-Jonathan N. 2008. Bisphenol A at environmentally relevant doses inhibits adiponectin

release from human adipose tissue explants and adipocytes. Environ. Health Perspect. 116:1642–7; doi:10.1289/ehp.11537.

- Hurst CH, Waxman DJ. 2003. Activation of PPARalpha and PPARgamma by environmental phthalate monoesters. Toxicol. Sci. 74:297–308; doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfg145.
- Ibáñez L, Ong K, Zegher F de, Marcos MV, Rio L del, Dunger DB. 2003. Fat distribution in non-obese girls with and without precocious pubarche: central adiposity related to insulinaemia and androgenaemia from prepuberty to postmenarche. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 58: 372–9.
- Ibhazehiebo K, Koibuchi N. 2011. Thyroid hormone receptor-mediated transcription is suppressed by low dose phthalate. Niger. J. Physiol. Sci. 26: 143–9.
- Inadera H. 2013. Developmental origins of obesity and type 2 diabetes: molecular aspects and role of chemicals. Environ. Health Prev. Med. 18:185–97; doi:10.1007/s12199-013-0328-8.
- Institute of Medicine. 2012. Accelerating Progress in Obesity Prevention4 : Solving the Weight of the Nation.
- Jackson RA, Gibson KA, Wu YW, Croughan MS. 2004. Perinatal outcomes in singletons following in vitro fertilization: a meta-analysis. Obstet. Gynecol. 103:551–63; doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000114989.84822.51.
- Jobe AH, Bancalari E. 2001. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 163:1723–9; doi:10.1164/ajrccm.163.7.2011060.
- Johnson MJ, Wootton S, Leaf A, Jackson A. 2012. Preterm birth and body composition at term equivalent age: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pediatrics 130:e640–9; doi:10.1542/peds.2011-3379.
- Johnston FE, Mack RW. 1980. Obesity, stature, and one year relative weight of 15year old youths. Hum. Biol. 52: 35–41.
- Kadowaki T, Yamauchi T. 2005. Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors. Endocr. Rev. 26:439–51; doi:10.1210/er.2005-0005.
- Kang J-H, Kito K, Kondo F. 2003. Factors influencing the migration of bisphenol A from cans. J. Food Prot. 66: 1444–7.
- Kasper NM, Herrán OF, Villamor E. 2014. Obesity prevalence in Colombian adults is increasing fastest in lower socio-economic status groups and urban residents: results from two nationally representative surveys. Public Health Nutr. 1–9; doi:10.1017/S1368980013003418.

- Kasper-Sonnenberg M, Koch HM, Wittsiepe J, Wilhelm M. 2012. Levels of phthalate metabolites in urine among mother-child-pairs - results from the Duisburg birth cohort study, Germany. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 215:373–82; doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2011.09.004.
- Kawada T. 2013. Adiponectin and metabolic syndrome: pathway on the relationship. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 67:896; doi:10.1038/ejcn.2013.104.
- Keats S, Wiggins S. 2014. Future diets: Implications for agriculture and food prices. 1-133.
- Kent AL, Wright IMR, Abdel-Latif ME. 2012. Mortality and adverse neurologic outcomes are greater in preterm male infants. Pediatrics 129:124–31; doi:10.1542/peds.2011-1578.
- Kerkhof GF, Willemsen RH, Leunissen RWJ, Breukhoven PE, Hokken-Koelega ACS. 2012. Health profile of young adults born preterm: negative effects of rapid weight gain in early life. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 97:4498–506; doi:10.1210/jc.2012-1716.
- Knittle JL, Timmers K, Ginsberg-Fellner F, Brown RE, Katz DP. 1979. The growth of adipose tissue in children and adolescents. Cross-sectional and longitudinal studies of adipose cell number and size. J. Clin. Invest. 63:239–46; doi:10.1172/JCI109295.
- Knudsen N, Laurberg P, Rasmussen LB, Bülow I, Perrild H, Ovesen L, et al. 2005. Small differences in thyroid function may be important for body mass index and the occurrence of obesity in the population. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90:4019–24; doi:10.1210/jc.2004-2225.
- Koch HM, Bolt HM, Preuss R, Angerer J. 2005. New metabolites of di(2ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP) in human urine and serum after single oral doses of deuterium-labelled DEHP. Arch. Toxicol. 79:367–76; doi:10.1007/s00204-004-0642-4.
- Koch HM, Calafat AM. 2009. Human body burdens of chemicals used in plastic manufacture. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 364:2063–78; doi:10.1098/rstb.2008.0208.
- Kramer M. 1987. Intrauterine growth and gestational duration determinants. Pediatrics 80: 502–11.
- Kramer MS, McLean FH, Boyd ME, Usher RH. 1988. The validity of gestational age estimation by menstrual dating in term, preterm, and postterm gestations. JAMA 260: 3306–8.

- Kries R von. 2002. Maternal Smoking during Pregnancy and Childhood Obesity. Am. J. Epidemiol. 156:954–961; doi:10.1093/aje/kwf128.
- Kugelman A, Colin A a. 2013. Late preterm infants: near term but still in a critical developmental time period. Pediatrics 132:741–51; doi:10.1542/peds.2013-1131.
- Kuiper GG, Lemmen JG, Carlsson B, Corton JC, Safe SH, Saag PT van der, et al. 1998. Interaction of estrogenic chemicals and phytoestrogens with estrogen receptor beta. Endocrinology 139:4252–63; doi:10.1210/endo.139.10.6216.
- Lang I, Galloway TS, Scarlett A, Henley WE, Depledge M, Wallace RB, et al. 2008. Association of urinary bisphenol A concentration with medical disorders and laboratory abnormalities in adults. JAMA 300:1303–10; doi:10.1001/jama.300.11.1303.
- Launer LJ, Villar J, Kestler E, Onis M de. 1990. The effect of maternal work on fetal growth and duration of pregnancy: a prospective study. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 97: 62–70.
- Lawlor D, Chaturvedi N. 2006. Treatment and prevention of obesity--are there critical periods for intervention? Int. J. Epidemiol. 35:3-9; doi:10.1093/ije/dyi309.
- Lee JM, Lim S, Zoellner J, Burt B a, Sandretto AM, Sohn W, et al. 2010. Don't children grow out of their obesity? Weight transitions in early childhood. Clin. Pediatr. (Phila). 49:466–9; doi:10.1177/0009922809356466.
- Lehrke M, Lazar MA. 2005. The many faces of PPARgamma. Cell 123:993–9; doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.11.026.
- Leimar O, Hammerstein P, Dooren TJM Van. 2006. A new perspective on developmental plasticity and the principles of adaptive morph determination. Am. Nat. 167:367–76; doi:10.1086/499566.
- Lemmen JG, Arends RJ, Saag PT van der, Burg B van der. 2004. In Vivo Imaging of Activated Estrogen Receptors in Utero by Estrogens and Bisphenol A. Environ. Health Perspect. 112:1544–1549; doi:10.1289/ehp.7155.
- Lenthe FJ van, Kemper CG, Mechelen W van. 1996. Rapid maturation in adolescence results in greater obesity in adulthood: the Amsterdam Growth and Health Study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 64: 18–24.
- Lewis RC, Meeker JD, Peterson KE, Lee JM, Pace GG, Cantoral A, et al. 2013. Predictors of urinary bisphenol A and phthalate metabolite concentrations in Mexican children. Chemosphere; doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.08.038.

- Li D-K, Miao M, Zhou Z, Wu C, Shi H, Liu X, et al. 2013. Urine Bisphenol-A Level in Relation to Obesity and Overweight in School-Age Children. S.B. Votrubaed. PLoS One 8:e65399; doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065399.
- Lind PM, Roos V, Rönn M, Johansson L, Ahlström H, Kullberg J, et al. 2012a. Serum concentrations of phthalate metabolites are related to abdominal fat distribution two years later in elderly women. Environ. Health 11:21; doi:10.1186/1476-069X-11-21.
- Lind PM, Zethelius B, Lind L. 2012b. Circulating levels of phthalate metabolites are associated with prevalent diabetes in the elderly. Diabetes Care 35:1519–24; doi:10.2337/dc11-2396.
- Liu L, Johnson HL, Cousens S, Perin J, Scott S, Lawn JE, et al. 2012. Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality: an updated systematic analysis for 2010 with time trends since 2000. Lancet 379:2151–61; doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60560-1.
- Lobel M, Dunkel-Schetter C, Scrimshaw SC. 1992. Prenatal maternal stress and prematurity: a prospective study of socioeconomically disadvantaged women. Health Psychol. 11:32–40; doi:10.1037/0278-6133.11.1.32.
- Lohman TG, Roche AF, Martorell R. 1988. *Anthropometric standardization reference manual*. Human Kinetics Books, Champaign, IL.
- Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, Jonge L de, Xie H, Smith SR. 2008. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. Int. J. Obes. (Lond). 32:949–58; doi:10.1038/ijo.2008.25.
- Lucas A. 1991. Programming by early nutrition in man. Ciba Found. Symp. 156: 38– 50; discussion 50–5.
- Mahalingaiah S, Meeker JD, Pearson KR, Calafat AM, Ye X, Petrozza J, et al. 2008. Temporal variability and predictors of urinary bisphenol A concentrations in men and women. Environ. Health Perspect. 116:173–8; doi:10.1289/ehp.10605.
- Malik VS, Willett WC, Hu FB. 2012. Global obesity: trends, risk factors and policy implications. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 9:13–27; doi:10.1038/nrendo.2012.199.
- Maor G, Rochwerger M, Segev Y, Phillip M. 2002. Leptin acts as a growth factor on the chondrocytes of skeletal growth centers. J. Bone Miner. Res. 17:1034–43; doi:10.1359/jbmr.2002.17.6.1034.
- Marcovecchio ML, Chiarelli F. 2013. Obesity and growth during childhood and puberty. World Rev. Nutr. Diet. 106:135–41; doi:10.1159/000342545.

- Marmugi A, Ducheix S, Lasserre F, Polizzi A, Paris A, Priymenko N, et al. 2012. Low doses of bisphenol A induce gene expression related to lipid synthesis and trigger triglyceride accumulation in adult mouse liver. Hepatology 55:395–407; doi:10.1002/hep.24685.
- Masuno H, Kidani T, Sekiya K, Sakayama K, Shiosaka T, Yamamoto H, et al. 2002. Bisphenol A in combination with insulin can accelerate the conversion of 3T3-L1 fibroblasts to adipocytes. J. Lipid Res. 43: 676–84.
- Mayerson a. B, Hundal RS, Dufour S, Lebon V, Befroy D, Cline GW, et al. 2002. The Effects of Rosiglitazone on Insulin Sensitivity, Lipolysis, and Hepatic and Skeletal Muscle Triglyceride Content in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes 51:797–802; doi:10.2337/diabetes.51.3.797.
- McCarthy HD. 2014. Measuring growth and obesity across childhood and adolescence. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 1–8; doi:10.1017/S0029665113003868.
- McCormick M. 1985. The contribution of low birth weight to infant mortality and childhood morbidity. N. Engl. J. Med. 312:82–90; doi:10.1056/NEJM198501103120204.
- McCormick MC, Litt JS, Smith VC, Zupancic J a F. 2011. Prematurity: an overview and public health implications. Annu. Rev. Public Health 32:367–79; doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-090810-182459.
- McLaren L. 2007. Socioeconomic status and obesity. Epidemiol. Rev. 29:29–48; doi:10.1093/epirev/mxm001.
- Meeker JD. 2012. Exposure to environmental endocrine disruptors and child development. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 166:E1-7; doi:10.1001/archpediatrics.2012.241.
- Meeker JD, Calafat AM, Hauser R. 2007. Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate metabolites may alter thyroid hormone levels in men. Environ. Health Perspect. 115:1029–34; doi:10.1289/ehp.9852.
- Meeker JD, Ferguson KK. 2011. Relationship between urinary phthalate and bisphenol A concentrations and serum thyroid measures in U.S. adults and adolescents from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2007-2008. Environ. Health Perspect. 119:1396–402; doi:10.1289/ehp.1103582.
- Meeker JD, Hu H, Cantonwine DE, Lamadrid-Figueroa H, Calafat AM, Ettinger AS, et al. 2009a. Urinary phthalate metabolites in relation to preterm birth in Mexico city. Environ. Health Perspect. 117:1587–92; doi:10.1289/ehp.0800522.

- Meeker JD, Sathyanarayana S, Swan SH. 2009b. Phthalates and other additives in plastics: human exposure and associated health outcomes. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 364:2097–113; doi:10.1098/rstb.2008.0268.
- Mendum T, Stoler E, VanBenschoten H, Warner JC. 2011. Concentration of bisphenol A in thermal paper. Green Chem. Lett. Rev. 4:81–86; doi:10.1080/17518253.2010.502908.
- Mercer BM, Goldenberg RL, Meis PJ, Moawad AH, Shellhaas C, Das A, et al. 2000. The Preterm Prediction Study: Prediction of preterm premature rupture of membranes through clinical findings and ancillary testing. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 183:738–745; doi:10.1067/mob.2000.106766.
- Mercer BM, Goldenberg RL, Moawad AH, Meis PJ, Iams JD, Das AF, et al. 1999. The Preterm Prediction Study: Effect of gestational age and cause of preterm birth on subsequent obstetric outcome. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 181:1216–1221; doi:10.1016/S0002-9378(99)70111-0.
- Mericq V. 2006. Prematurity and insulin sensitivity. Horm. Res. 65 Suppl 3:131–6; doi:10.1159/000091518.
- Merrill M La, Birnbaum LS. 2011. Childhood obesity and environmental chemicals. Mt. Sinai J. Med. 78:22–48; doi:10.1002/msj.20229.
- Miyawaki J, Sakayama K, Kato H, Yamamoto H, Masuno H. 2007. Perinatal and postnatal exposure to bisphenol a increases adipose tissue mass and serum cholesterol level in mice. J. Atheroscler. Thromb. 14: 245–52.
- Mohangoo AD, Buitendijk SE, Szamotulska K, Chalmers J, Irgens LM, Bolumar F, et al. 2011. Gestational age patterns of fetal and neonatal mortality in Europe: results from the Euro-Peristat project. PLoS One 6:e24727; doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024727.
- Monteiro CA, Conde WL, Popkin BM. 2002. Is obesity replacing or adding to undernutrition? Evidence from different social classes in Brazil. Public Health Nutr. 5:105–12; doi:10.1079/PHN2001281.
- Moriyama K, Tagami T, Akamizu T, Usui T, Saijo M, Kanamoto N, et al. 2002. Thyroid hormone action is disrupted by bisphenol A as an antagonist. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87:5185–90; doi:10.1210/jc.2002-020209.
- Moss A, Klenk J, Simon K, Thaiss H, Reinehr T, Wabitsch M. 2012. Declining prevalence rates for overweight and obesity in German children starting school. Eur. J. Pediatr. 171:289–99; doi:10.1007/s00431-011-1531-5.
- Mueller WH. 1982. The changes with age of the anatomical distribution of fat. Soc. Sci. Med. 16: 191–6.

- Must A, Jacques PF, Dallal GE, Bajema CJ, Dietz WH. 1992. Long-term morbidity and mortality of overweight adolescents. A follow-up of the Harvard Growth Study of 1922 to 1935. N. Engl. J. Med. 327:1350–5; doi:10.1056/NEJM199211053271904.
- Myers JP, Zoeller RT, Saal FS vom. 2009. A clash of old and new scientific concepts in toxicity, with important implications for public health. Environ. Health Perspect. 117:1652–5; doi:10.1289/ehp.0900887.
- Neggers Y, Goldenberg RL. 2003. Some thoughts on body mass index, micronutrient intakes and pregnancy outcome. J. Nutr. 133: 1737S–1740S.
- Newbold RR. 2010. Impact of environmental endocrine disrupting chemicals on the development of obesity. Hormones (Athens). 9: 206–17.
- Newbold RR, Padilla-Banks E, Jefferson WN. 2009. Environmental estrogens and obesity. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 304:84–9; doi:10.1016/j.mce.2009.02.024.
- Nilsson S, Mäkelä S, Treuter E, Tujague M, Thomsen J, Andersson G, et al. 2001. Mechanisms of estrogen action. Physiol. Rev. 81: 1535–65.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. 2014. Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. JAMA 311:806–14; doi:10.1001/jama.2014.732.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. 2012. Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999-2010. JAMA 307:483–90; doi:10.1001/jama.2012.40.
- Onis M de. 2007. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. Bull. World Health Organ. 85:660–667; doi:10.2471/BLT.07.043497.
- Onis M de, Blössner M, Borghi E. 2010. Global prevalence and trends of overweight and obesity among preschool children. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 92:1257–64; doi:10.3945/ajcn.2010.29786.
- Onis M de, Garza C, Onyango AW, Borghi E. 2007. Comparison of the WHO child growth standards and the CDC 2000 growth charts. J. Nutr. 137: 144–8.
- Onis M de, Martínez-Costa C, Núñez F, Nguefack-Tsague G, Montal A, Brines J. 2013. Association between WHO cut-offs for childhood overweight and obesity and cardiometabolic risk. Public Health Nutr. 16:625–30; doi:10.1017/S1368980012004776.
- Onis M de, Yip R. 1996. The WHO growth chart: historical considerations and current scientific issues. Bibl. Nutr. Dieta 74–89.

- Painter RC, Roseboom TJ, Bleker OP. 2005. Prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine and disease in later life: an overview. Reprod. Toxicol. 20:345–52; doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2005.04.005.
- Paliy O, Piyathilake CJ, Kozyrskyj A, Celep G, Marotta F, Rastmanesh R. 2014. Excess body weight during pregnancy and offspring obesity: Potential mechanisms. Nutrition 30:245–251; doi:10.1016/j.nut.2013.05.011.
- Parsons TJ, Power C, Logan S, Summerbell CD. 1999. Childhood predictors of adult obesity: a systematic review. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 23 Suppl 8: S1–107.
- Pearson MA, Lu C, Schmotzer BJ, Waller LA, Riederer AM. 2009. Evaluation of physiological measures for correcting variation in urinary output: Implications for assessing environmental chemical exposure in children. J. Expo. Sci. Environ. Epidemiol. 19:336–42; doi:10.1038/jes.2008.48.
- Philippat C, Mortamais M, Chevrier C, Petit C, Calafat AM, Ye X, et al. 2012. Exposure to phthalates and phenols during pregnancy and offspring size at birth. Environ. Health Perspect. 120:464–70; doi:10.1289/ehp.1103634.
- Pike K, Jane Pillow J, Lucas JS. 2012. Long term respiratory consequences of intrauterine growth restriction. Semin. Fetal Neonatal Med. 17:92–8; doi:10.1016/j.siny.2012.01.003.
- Pilgaard K, Færch K, Carstensen B, Poulsen P, Pisinger C, Pedersen O, et al. 2010. Low birthweight and premature birth are both associated with type 2 diabetes in a random sample of middle-aged Danes. Diabetologia 53:2526–30; doi:10.1007/s00125-010-1917-3.
- Pirard C, Sagot C, Deville M, Dubois N, Charlier C. 2012. Urinary levels of bisphenol A, triclosan and 4-nonylphenol in a general Belgian population. Environ. Int. 48:78–83; doi:10.1016/j.envint.2012.07.003.
- Poissonnet CM, Burdi AR, Garn SM. 1984. The chronology of adipose tissue appearance and distribution in the human fetus. Early Hum. Dev. 10: 1–11.
- Popkin BM. 2011. Contemporary nutritional transition: determinants of diet and its impact on body composition. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 70:82–91; doi:10.1017/S0029665110003903.
- Popkin BM. 2006. Global nutrition dynamics: the world is shifting rapidly toward a diet linked with noncommunicable diseases. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 84: 289–98.
- Popkin BM. 1999. Urbanization, Lifestyle Changes and the Nutrition Transition. World Dev. 27:1905–1916; doi:10.1016/S0305-750X(99)00094-7.

- Popkin BM, Adair LS, Ng SW. 2012. Global nutrition transition and the pandemic of obesity in developing countries. Nutr. Rev. 70:3–21; doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2011.00456.x.
- Popkin BM, Gordon-Larsen P. 2004. The nutrition transition: worldwide obesity dynamics and their determinants. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 28 Suppl 3:S2–9; doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0802804.
- Powls A, Botting N, Cooke RW, Pilling D, Marlow N. 1996. Growth impairment in very low birthweight children at 12 years: correlation with perinatal and outcome variables. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 75: F152–7.
- Ramakrishnan U, Manjrekar R, Rivera J, Gonzáles-Cossío T, Martorell R. 1999. Micronutrients and pregnancy outcome: A review of the literature. Nutr. Res. 19:103–159; doi:10.1016/S0271-5317(98)00178-X.
- Ramsay JE, Ferrell WR, Crawford L, Wallace a M, Greer IA, Sattar N. 2002. Maternal obesity is associated with dysregulation of metabolic, vascular, and inflammatory pathways. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87:4231–7; doi:10.1210/jc.2002-020311.
- Ravelli AC, Meulen JH van der, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Bleker OP. 2000. Infant feeding and adult glucose tolerance, lipid profile, blood pressure, and obesity. Arch. Dis. Child. 82: 248–52.
- Ravelli GP, Stein ZA, Susser MW. 1976. Obesity in young men after famine exposure in utero and early infancy. N. Engl. J. Med. 295:349–53; doi:10.1056/NEJM197608122950701.
- Rees S, Inder T. 2005. Fetal and neonatal origins of altered brain development. Early Hum. Dev. 81:753–61; doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2005.07.004.
- Rivera JA, Barquera S, González-Cossío T, Olaiz G, Sepúlveda J. 2004. Nutrition transition in Mexico and in other Latin American countries. Nutr. Rev. 62:S149–57; doi:10.1301/nr.2004.jul.S149.
- Rivera JA, Irizarry LM, González-de Cossío T. 2009. Encuesta Nacional de Salud y Nutrición. Salud Publica Mex. 51 Suppl 4: S645–56.
- Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Bellisle F, Sempé M, Guilloud-Bataille M, Patois E. 1984. Adiposity rebound in children: a simple indicator for predicting obesity. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 39: 129–35.
- Romero R, Espinoza J, Kusanovic JP, Gotsch F, Hassan S, Erez O, et al. 2006. The preterm parturition syndrome. BJOG 113 Suppl :17–42; doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.01120.x.

- Rooney K, Ozanne SE. 2011. Maternal over-nutrition and offspring obesity predisposition: targets for preventative interventions. Int. J. Obes. (Lond). 35:883–90; doi:10.1038/ijo.2011.96.
- Ropero A, Alonso-Magdalena P, García-García E, Ripoll C, Fuentes E, Nadal A. 2008. Bisphenol-A disruption of the endocrine pancreas and blood glucose homeostasis. Int. J. Androl. 31:194–200; doi:10.1111/j.1365-2605.2007.00832.x.
- Rosner B. 1983. Percentage points for a generalized ESD many-outlier procedure. Technometrics 25: 165–172.
- Ross MG, Desai M. 2013. Developmental programming of offspring obesity, adipogenesis, and appetite. Clin. Obstet. Gynecol. 56:529–36; doi:10.1097/GRF.ob013e318299c39d.
- Rowe DL, Derraik JGB, Robinson E, Cutfield WS, Hofman PL. 2011. Preterm birth and the endocrine regulation of growth in childhood and adolescence. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 75:661–5; doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04116.x.
- Royston P, Altman DG. 1994. Regression using Fractional Polynomials of Continuous Covariates: Parsimonious Parametric Modelling. Appl. Stat. 43: 429–467.
- Rudel R, Gray J. 2011. Food packaging and bisphenol A and bis (2-ethyhexyl) phthalate exposure: findings from a dietary intervention. Environ. Heal. ... 119:914–20; doi:10.1289/ehp.1003170.
- Rudel RA, Camann DE, Spengler JD, Korn LR, Brody JG. 2003. Phthalates, alkylphenols, pesticides, polybrominated diphenyl ethers, and other endocrinedisrupting compounds in indoor air and dust. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37: 4543– 53.
- Ryan KK, Haller AM, Sorrell JE, Woods SC, Jandacek RJ, Seeley RJ. 2010. Perinatal exposure to bisphenol-a and the development of metabolic syndrome in CD-1 mice. Endocrinology 151:2603–12; doi:10.1210/en.2009-1218.
- Saal FS Vom, Vandevoort CA, Taylor JA, Welshons W V, Toutain P-L, Hunt PA. 2014. Bisphenol A (BPA) pharmacokinetics with daily oral bolus or continuous exposure via silastic capsules in pregnant rhesus monkeys: Relevance for human exposures. Reprod. Toxicol. 1–12; doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.01.007.
- Saigal S, Doyle LW. 2008. An overview of mortality and sequelae of preterm birth from infancy to adulthood. Lancet 371:261–9; doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60136-1.

- Saigal S, Stoskopf B, Streiner D, Paneth N, Pinelli J, Boyle M. 2006. Growth trajectories of extremely low birth weight infants from birth to young adulthood: a longitudinal, population-based study. Pediatr. Res. 60:751–8; doi:10.1203/01.pdr.0000246201.93662.8e.
- Sakurai K, Kawazuma M, Adachi T, Harigaya T, Saito Y, Hashimoto N, et al. 2004. Bisphenol A affects glucose transport in mouse 3T3-F442A adipocytes. Br. J. Pharmacol. 141:209–14; doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0705520.
- Saurel-Cubizolles MJ. 2004. Employment, working conditions, and preterm birth: results from the Europop case-control survey. J. Epidemiol. Community Heal. 58:395–401; doi:10.1136/jech.2003.008029.
- Schneider JE, Brozek JM, Keen-Rhinehart E. 2014. Our Stolen Figures: The Interface of Sexual Differentiation, Endocrine Disruptors, Maternal Programming, and Energy Balance. Horm. Behav.; doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2014.03.011.
- Scholl TO. 2005. Iron status during pregnancy: setting the stage for mother and infant. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 81: 1218S–1222S.
- Shaibi GQ, Cruz ML, Weigensberg MJ, Toledo-Corral CM, Lane CJ, Kelly L a, et al. 2007. Adiponectin independently predicts metabolic syndrome in overweight Latino youth. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92:1809–13; doi:10.1210/jc.2006-2294.
- Shalitin S, Phillip M. 2003. Role of obesity and leptin in the pubertal process and pubertal growth--a review. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 27:869–74; doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0802328.
- Shankar A, Teppala S. 2011. Relationship between urinary bisphenol A levels and diabetes mellitus. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96:3822–6; doi:10.1210/jc.2011-1682.
- Shelby MD. 2008. NTP-CERHR monograph on the potential human reproductive and developmental effects of bisphenol A. C.F.T.E.O.R.T.H. Reproductioned. . NTP CERHR MON 08–599: v, vii–ix, 1–64 passim.
- Shetty P. 2013. Nutrition transition and its health outcomes. Indian J. Pediatr. 80 Suppl 1:S21–7; doi:10.1007/s12098-013-0971-5.
- Silva MJ, Barr DB, Reidy JA, Malek NA, Hodge CC, Caudill SP, et al. 2004. Urinary levels of seven phthalate metabolites in the U.S. population from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999-2000. Environ. Health Perspect. 112:331–8; doi:10.1289/ehp.6723.

- Silva MJ, Samandar E, Preau JL, Reidy JA, Needham LL, Calafat AM. 2007. Quantification of 22 phthalate metabolites in human urine. J. Chromatogr. B. Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci. 860:106–12; doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2007.10.023.
- Singhal A. 2010. Does weight gain in infancy influence the later risk of obesity? J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 51 Suppl 3:S119–20; doi:10.1097/MPG.ob013e3181efd077.
- Singhal A, Fewtrell M, Cole TJ, Lucas A. 2003. Low nutrient intake and early growth for later insulin resistance in adolescents born preterm. Lancet 361:1089–97; doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12895-4.
- Skinner AC, Skelton JA. 2014. Prevalence and Trends in Obesity and Severe Obesity Among Children in the United States, 1999-2012. JAMA Pediatr. 0–5; doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.21.
- Smith CP, Archibald HR, Thomas JM, Tarn a C, Williams a J, Gale E a, et al. 1988. Basal and stimulated insulin levels rise with advancing puberty. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 28: 7–14.
- Smith GC. 2001. Life-table analysis of the risk of perinatal death at term and post term in singleton pregnancies. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 184:489–96; doi:10.1067/mob.2001.109735.
- Smith GCS, Pell JP, Dobbie R. 2003. Interpregnancy interval and risk of preterm birth and neonatal death: retrospective cohort study. BMJ 327:313; doi:10.1136/bmj.327.7410.313.
- Smith LK, Draper ES, Manktelow BN, Dorling JS, Field DJ. 2007. Socioeconomic inequalities in very preterm birth rates. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 92:F11–4; doi:10.1136/adc.2005.090308.
- Sriphrapradang C, Chailurkit L, Aekplakorn W, Ongphiphadhanakul B. 2013. Association between bisphenol A and abnormal free thyroxine level in men. Endocrine 44:441–7; doi:10.1007/s12020-013-9889-y.
- Stahlhut RW, Wijngaarden E van, Dye TD, Cook S, Swan SH. 2007. Concentrations of urinary phthalate metabolites are associated with increased waist circumference and insulin resistance in adult U.S. males. Environ. Health Perspect. 115:876–82; doi:10.1289/ehp.9882.
- Stevens G, Dias RH, Thomas KJA, Rivera JA, Carvalho N, Barquera S, et al. 2008. Characterizing the epidemiological transition in Mexico: national and subnational burden of diseases, injuries, and risk factors. PLoS Med. 5:e125; doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0050125.

- Stevens GA, Singh GM, Lu Y, Danaei G, Lin JK, Finucane MM, et al. 2012. National, regional, and global trends in adult overweight and obesity prevalences. Popul. Health Metr. 10:22; doi:10.1186/1478-7954-10-22.
- Stevenson DK, Verter J, Fanaroff AA, Oh W, Ehrenkranz RA, Shankaran S, et al. 2000. Sex differences in outcomes of very low birthweight infants: the newborn male disadvantage. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 83: F182–5.
- Sun SS, Deng X, Sabo R, Carrico R, Schubert CM, Wan W, et al. 2012. Secular trends in body composition for children and young adults: the Fels Longitudinal Study. Am. J. Hum. Biol. 24:506–14; doi:10.1002/ajhb.22256.
- Suzuki Y, Yoshinaga J, Mizumoto Y, Serizawa S, Shiraishi H. 2012. Foetal exposure to phthalate esters and anogenital distance in male newborns. Int. J. Androl. 35:236–44; doi:10.1111/j.1365-2605.2011.01190.x.
- Swan SH, Main KM, Liu F, Stewart SL, Kruse RL, Calafat AM, et al. 2005. Decrease in anogenital distance among male infants with prenatal phthalate exposure. Environ. Health Perspect. 113:1056–61; doi:10.1289/ehp.8100.
- Syddall HE, Sayer AA, Simmonds SJ, Osmond C, Cox V, Dennison EM, et al. 2005. Birth weight, infant weight gain, and cause-specific mortality: the Hertfordshire Cohort Study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 161:1074–80; doi:10.1093/aje/kwi137.
- Symonds ME, Mendez MA, Meltzer HM, Koletzko B, Godfrey K, Forsyth S, et al. 2013. Early life nutritional programming of obesity: mother-child cohort studies. Ann. Nutr. Metab. 62:137–45; doi:10.1159/000345598.
- Taskeen A, Naeem I, Atif M. 2012. Evaluation of blood bisphenol A contents: a case study. West Indian Med. J. 61: 564–8.
- Taylor RW, Grant AM, Goulding A, Williams SM. 2005. Early adiposity rebound: review of papers linking this to subsequent obesity in children and adults. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 8: 607–12.
- Tchernof A, Després J-P. 2013. Pathophysiology of human visceral obesity: an update. Physiol. Rev. 93:359–404; doi:10.1152/physrev.00033.2011.
- Teitelbaum SL, Britton JA, Calafat a M, Ye X, Silva MJ, Reidy J a, et al. 2008. Temporal variability in urinary concentrations of phthalate metabolites, phytoestrogens and phenols among minority children in the United States. Environ. Res. 106:257–69; doi:10.1016/j.envres.2007.09.010.
- Teitelbaum SL, Mervish N, Moshier EL, Vangeepuram N, Galvez MP, Calafat AM, et al. 2012. Associations between phthalate metabolite urinary concentrations and body size measures in New York City children. Environ. Res. 112:186–93; doi:10.1016/j.envres.2011.12.006.

- Téllez-Rojo MM, Hernández-Avila M, González-Cossío T, Romieu I, Aro A, Palazuelos E, et al. 2002. Impact of breastfeeding on the mobilization of lead from bone. Am. J. Epidemiol. 155: 420–8.
- Téllez-Rojo MM, Hernández-Avila M, Lamadrid-Figueroa H, Smith D, Hernández-Cadena L, Mercado A, et al. 2004. Impact of bone lead and bone resorption on plasma and whole blood lead levels during pregnancy. Am. J. Epidemiol. 160:668–78; doi:10.1093/aje/kwh271.
- Teune MJ, Bakhuizen S, Gyamfi Bannerman C, Opmeer BC, Kaam AH van, Wassenaer AG van, et al. 2011. A systematic review of severe morbidity in infants born late preterm. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 205:374.e1–9; doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2011.07.015.
- Thompson AL. 2012. Developmental origins of obesity: early feeding environments, infant growth, and the intestinal microbiome. Am. J. Hum. Biol. 24:350–60; doi:10.1002/ajhb.22254.
- Thompson JMD, Irgens LM, Rasmussen S, Daltveit AK. 2006. Secular trends in socio-economic status and the implications for preterm birth. Paediatr. Perinat. Epidemiol. 20:182–7; doi:10.1111/j.1365-3016.2006.00711.x.
- Tinnion R, Gillone J, Cheetham T, Embleton N. 2013. Preterm birth and subsequent insulin sensitivity: a systematic review. Arch. Dis. Child. 1–7; doi:10.1136/archdischild-2013-304615.
- Tontonoz P, Hu E, Spiegelman BM. 1994. Stimulation of adipogenesis in fibroblasts by PPAR gamma 2, a lipid-activated transcription factor. Cell 79: 1147–56.
- Trasande L, Attina TM, Blustein J. 2012. Association between urinary bisphenol A concentration and obesity prevalence in children and adolescents. JAMA 308:1113–21; doi:10.1001/2012.jama.11461.
- Trasande L, Sathyanarayana S, Jo Messito M, S Gross R, Attina TM, Mendelsohn AL. 2013a. Phthalates and the diets of US children and adolescents. Environ. Res. 1–7; doi:10.1016/j.envres.2013.07.007.
- Trasande L, Sathyanarayana S, Spanier AJ, Trachtman H, Attina TM, Urbina EM. 2013b. Urinary Phthalates Are Associated with Higher Blood Pressure in Childhood. J. Pediatr. 1–8; doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.03.072.
- Trasande L, Spanier AJ, Sathyanarayana S, Attina TM, Blustein J. 2013c. Urinary phthalates and increased insulin resistance in adolescents. Pediatrics 132:e646–55; doi:10.1542/peds.2012-4022.
- Tzoulaki I, Sovio U, Pillas D, Hartikainen A-L, Pouta A, Laitinen J, et al. 2010. Relation of immediate postnatal growth with obesity and related metabolic risk

factors in adulthood: the northern Finland birth cohort 1966 study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 171:989–98; doi:10.1093/aje/kwq027.

- Uthaya S, Thomas EL, Hamilton G, Doré CJ, Bell J, Modi N. 2005. Altered adiposity after extremely preterm birth. Pediatr. Res. 57:211–5; doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000148284.58934.1C.
- Valdez R, Athens MA, Thompson GH, Bradshaw BS, Stern MP. 1994. Birthweight and adult health outcomes in a biethnic population in the USA. Diabetologia 37: 624–31.
- Valvi D, Casas M, Mendez M a, Ballesteros-Gómez A, Luque N, Rubio S, et al. 2013. Prenatal bisphenol a urine concentrations and early rapid growth and overweight risk in the offspring. Epidemiology 24:791–9; doi:10.1097/EDE.ob013e3182a67822.
- Vandenberg LN. 2014. *Low-dose effects of hormones and endocrine disruptors*. 1st ed. Elsevier Inc.
- Vandenberg LN, Chahoud I, Heindel JJ, Padmanabhan V, Paumgartten FJR, Schoenfelder G. 2010. Urinary, circulating, and tissue biomonitoring studies indicate widespread exposure to bisphenol A. Environ. Health Perspect. 118:1055–70; doi:10.1289/ehp.0901716.
- Vandenberg LN, Colborn T, Hayes TB, Heindel JJ, Jacobs DR, Lee D-H, et al. 2012. Hormones and endocrine-disrupting chemicals: low-dose effects and nonmonotonic dose responses. Endocr. Rev. 33:378–455; doi:10.1210/er.2011-1050.
- Vandenberg LN, Hauser R, Marcus M, Olea N, Welshons W V. 2007a. Human exposure to bisphenol A (BPA). Reprod. Toxicol. 24:139–77; doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.07.010.
- Vandenberg LN, Hunt PA, Myers JP, Saal FS Vom. 2013. Human exposures to bisphenol A: mismatches between data and assumptions. Rev. Environ. Health 28:37–58; doi:10.1515/reveh-2012-0034.
- Vandenberg LN, Maffini M V, Wadia PR, Sonnenschein C, Rubin BS, Soto AM. 2007b. Exposure to environmentally relevant doses of the xenoestrogen bisphenol-A alters development of the fetal mouse mammary gland. Endocrinology 148:116–27; doi:10.1210/en.2006-0561.
- Volberg V, Harley K, Calafat AM, Davé V, McFadden J, Eskenazi B, et al. 2013. Maternal bisphenol a exposure during pregnancy and its association with adipokines in Mexican-American children. Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 00; doi:10.1002/em.21803.

- Völkel W, Colnot T, Csanády GA, Filser JG, Dekant W. 2002. Metabolism and kinetics of bisphenol a in humans at low doses following oral administration. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 15: 1281–7.
- Wadhwa PD, Culhane JF, Rauh V, Barve SS. 2001. Stress and preterm birth: neuroendocrine, immune/inflammatory, and vascular mechanisms. Matern. Child Health J. 5: 119–25.
- Wang H-X, Zhou Y, Tang C-X, Wu J-G, Chen Y, Jiang Q-W. 2012a. Association between bisphenol a exposure and body mass index in Chinese school children: a cross-sectional study. Environ. Health 11:79; doi:10.1186/1476-069X-11-79.
- Wang J, Sun B, Hou M, Pan X, Li X. 2012b. The environmental obesogen bisphenol A promotes adipogenesis by increasing the amount of 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 in the adipose tissue of children. Int. J. Obes. (Lond). 1–7; doi:10.1038/ij0.2012.173.
- Wang T, Li M, Chen B, Xu M, Xu Y, Huang Y, et al. 2012c. Urinary bisphenol A (BPA) concentration associates with obesity and insulin resistance. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 97:E223-7; doi:10.1210/jc.2011-1989.
- Wang T, Li M, Chen B, Xu M, Xu Y, Huang Y, et al. 2012d. Urinary bisphenol A (BPA) concentration associates with obesity and insulin resistance. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 97:E223-7; doi:10.1210/jc.2011-1989.
- Watson CS, Jeng Y-J, Kochukov MY. 2010. Nongenomic signaling pathways of estrogen toxicity. Toxicol. Sci. 115:1–11; doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfp288.
- Wei J, Lin Y, Li Y, Ying C, Chen J, Song L, et al. 2011. Perinatal exposure to bisphenol A at reference dose predisposes offspring to metabolic syndrome in adult rats on a high-fat diet. Endocrinology 152:3049–61; doi:10.1210/en.2011-0045.
- Wells EM, Jackson LW, Koontz MB. 2013. Association between bisphenol A and waist-to-height ratio among children: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2003-2010. Ann. Epidemiol. 6–8; doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2013.06.002.
- Welshons WV, Nagel SC, Saal FS vom. 2006. Large effects from small exposures. III. Endocrine mechanisms mediating effects of bisphenol A at levels of human exposure. Endocrinology 147:S56–69; doi:10.1210/en.2005-1159.
- Wen X, Kleinman K, Gillman MW, Rifas-Shiman SL, Taveras EM. 2012. Childhood body mass index trajectories: modeling, characterizing, pairwise correlations and socio-demographic predictors of trajectory characteristics. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 12:38; doi:10.1186/1471-2288-12-38.

- Wetherill YB, Akingbemi BT, Kanno J, McLachlan JA, Nadal A, Sonnenschein C, et al. 2007. In vitro molecular mechanisms of bisphenol A action. Reprod. Toxicol. 24:178–98; doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.05.010.
- Whitaker RC, Dietz WH. 1998. Role of the prenatal environment in the development of obesity. J. Pediatr. 132: 768–76.
- WHO. 1995. Physical Status: the Use and Interpretation of Anthropometry. Report of a WHO Expert Committee. Technical Report Series No. 854. Phys. status use Interpret. Anthr. Rep. a WHO Expert Committee. Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 854. 1– 452.
- Whyatt RM, Liu X, Rauh VA, Calafat AM, Just AC, Hoepner L, et al. 2012. Maternal prenatal urinary phthalate metabolite concentrations and child mental, psychomotor, and behavioral development at 3 years of age. Environ. Health Perspect. 120:290–5; doi:10.1289/ehp.1103705.
- Williams J. 1903. *Williams obstetrics*. 1st ed. New York: D. Appleton and Company, London.
- Williams S, Dickson N. 2002. Early growth, menarche, and adiposity rebound. Lancet 359:580–1; doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07715-2.
- Williams SM, Goulding A. 2009. Patterns of growth associated with the timing of adiposity rebound. Obesity (Silver Spring). 17:335–41; doi:10.1038/oby.2008.547.
- Wilson NK, Chuang JC, Lyu C, Menton R, Morgan MK. 2003. Aggregate exposures of nine preschool children to persistent organic pollutants at day care and at home. J. Expo. Anal. Environ. Epidemiol. 13:187–202; doi:10.1038/sj.jea.7500270.
- Wilson NK, Chuang JC, Morgan MK, Lordo RA, Sheldon LS. 2007. An observational study of the potential exposures of preschool children to pentachlorophenol, bisphenol-A, and nonylphenol at home and daycare. Environ. Res. 103:9–20; doi:10.1016/j.envres.2006.04.006.
- Wingate MS, Alexander GR, Buekens P, Vahratian A. 2007. Comparison of gestational age classifications: date of last menstrual period vs. clinical estimate. Ann. Epidemiol. 17:425–30; doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2007.01.035.
- World Health Organization. 2012. Born too soon: the global action report on preterm birth. C. Howson and M. Kinneyeds. New Dir. Youth Dev. 2013:112; doi:10.1002/yd.20044.

- Wormuth M, Scheringer M, Vollenweider M, Hungerbühler K. 2006. What are the sources of exposure to eight frequently used phthalic acid esters in Europeans? Risk Anal. 26:803–24; doi:10.1111/j.1539-6924.2006.00770.x.
- Wu M-T, Wu C-F, Chen B-H, Chen EK, Chen Y-L, Shiea J, et al. 2013. Intake of phthalate-tainted foods alters thyroid functions in Taiwanese children. PLoS One 8:e55005; doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055005.
- Xu X, Tan L, Himi T, Sadamatsu M, Tsutsumi S, Akaike M, et al. 2011. Changed preference for sweet taste in adulthood induced by perinatal exposure to bisphenol A-A probable link to overweight and obesity. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 33:458–63; doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2011.06.002.
- Yakar S, Adamo ML. 2012. Insulin-like growth factor 1 physiology: lessons from mouse models. Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. North Am. 41:231–47, v; doi:10.1016/j.ecl.2012.04.008.
- Ye X, Pierik FH, Hauser R, Duty S, Angerer J, Park MM, et al. 2008. Urinary metabolite concentrations of organophosphorous pesticides, bisphenol A, and phthalates among pregnant women in Rotterdam, the Netherlands: the Generation R study. Environ. Res. 108:260–7; doi:10.1016/j.envres.2008.07.014.
- Yen PM. 2001. Physiological and molecular basis of thyroid hormone action. Physiol. Rev. 81: 1097–142.
- Zeitlin J, Saurel-Cubizolles M-J, Mouzon J De, Rivera L, Ancel P-Y, Blondel B, et al. 2002. Fetal sex and preterm birth: are males at greater risk? Hum. Reprod. 17: 2762–8.
- Zinn AR. 2010. Unconventional wisdom about the obesity epidemic. Am. J. Med. Sci. 340:481–91; doi:10.1097/MAJ.ob013e3181ccb980.
- Zoeller RT. 2007. Environmental chemicals impacting the thyroid: targets and consequences. Thyroid 17:811–7; doi:10.1089/thy.2007.0107.